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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements set forth in or incorporatedréference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K cdosti “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securietsof 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934. These statements
include, without limitation, our expectations redarg the adequacy of anticipated sources of calstmned capital expenditures, the effect of
interest rate increases, and trends or expectatiegarding our operations. Words such as “may,” tWi“should,” “believes,”

“anticipates,” “expects,” “i

intends,” "plans,” “estimates” and similar expressions are intended to ifgforward-looking statements, but are
not the exclusive means of identifying such statésn&uch statements are based on currently availaperating, financial and competitive
information and are subject to various risks andenainties. Readers are cautioned that the formaaking statements reflect management’s
estimates only as of the date hereof, and we assombligation to update these statements, evieevifinformation becomes available or of
events occur in the future. Actual future reswdignts and trends may differ materially from thesgressed in or implied by such statements
depending on a variety of factors, including, bat iimited to those set forth under “Item 1A Riskckors” and elsewhere in this Annual Reg.
on Form 10-K.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We are providing optical touchscreen sohgifor handheld devices. The cornerstone of owtisois is our innovative optical infrared
touchscreen technology, zForce™. We believe thabd@rds and keypads with moving parts will becorngotete for handheld devices and
that our touchscreen solutions will be at the fiametf of a new wave of finger-based input technaeghat will enable the user to interact and
operate everything from small mobile devices tgéaindustrial applications using a combinationaefahes, swipes, and hand gestures.

Our History and Restructuring
Neonode Inc., formerly known as SBE, Inc., was ipogated in the state of Delaware on Septembe®97.1

On January 11, 2007, SBE, Inc. entered into an é&gent for the Purchase and Sale of Assets withSdoge Systems, Inc., a manufacturer
of industrial-grade computing systems and compan@he Stop), pursuant to which SBE Inc sold athefassets associated with its
embedded hardware business (excluding cash, accmogivable and other excluded assets specifigtinsset purchase agreement) to One
Stop for approximately $2.2 million in cash pluseCBtop’s assumption of the lease of SBE, Inc.’pa@te headquarters building and certain
equipment leases.

On August 10, 2007, Cold Winter Acquisition Corgara (Cold Winter Acquisition Sub), a Delaware corgation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of SBE, Inc., consummated a merger aarhanization where Cold Winter Acquisition Sub weaerged with and into Neonode Inc.
a Delaware Corporation (Old Neonode), with Old N continuing after the merger as the survivingpemtion and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SBE, Inc. (Merger). SBE, Inc.’s nawes subsequently changed to “Neonode Inc.” in cotiore with the completion of the
Merger.

Old Neonode was incorporated in the State of Delawa2006 and was the parent of Neonode AB, a emypfiounded in February 2004
and incorporated in Sweden.

After the Merger with Cold Winter Acquisition SubJd Neonode changed its name to Cold Winter, I6old Winter). Following the
closing of the Merger, the business and operatdi@old Winter prior to the Merger became the priyrausiness and operations of the newly-
combined company. The newly-combined company’s tyeaders was located in Stockholm, Sweden.




Through our wholly owned subsidiary, Neonode AB,de&eloped our touchscreen technology and an opticehscreen mobile phone
product, the Neonode N2, which provided a compjateique user experience that did not require ayphds, buttons, or other moving
parts. We began shipping the N2 to our first austis in July 2007 but faced difficult circumstangefinding a viable market for our N2
mobile phone. . We faced a competitive landscapehich our major competitors were much better pasétd and capitalized. Over time, we
found that we lacked the requisite marketing andhemketing funding to enter the mainstream moblilerg handset markets and as a result
were forced to focus our sales efforts on web baaégs and smaller less efficient markets. Iritaoh] as a result of some technology issues
that impacted the N2 phone reception in certairgggghical regions (reception in certain geograghiegions had more static, but the N2
phones still functioned). Beginning March 2008, vegan to initiate a voluntary recall of our N2 pbstio provide a solution to eliminate the
static reception issues of our phones. The votymtecall slowed our ability to market our phoneghie certain geographical regions until the
voluntary recall process was completed in May 2008.

Neonode AB filed for liquidation under the Swedismkruptcy laws on December 9, 2008 and as ofdhi@t ceased to be owned and
operated by Neonode Inc. Effective with Neonode f\Bankruptcy filing on December 9, 2008, Neonode isno longer in the mobile phone
business and there are no known financial obligatielated to the accounts payable or other déiNeanode AB that Neonode Inc has
responsibility. The operations of Neonode AB amduded in the consolidated accounts of Neonode Dettember 9, 2008. As of December
31, 2008, the Swedish bankruptcy court continugsitsue sales opportunities for Neonode AB’s reimgiinventory of N2 mobile phones.
Although we may be the beneficiary of a portioran¥ sales proceeds from such sales, the majorippfuture sales proceeds from the sa
the N2s in Neonode AB'’s inventory will be distriledtto the creditors of Neonode AB by the Swedistkhaptcy court.

AB Cypressen nr 9683 (Cypressen), a compaegyrporated in Sweden, was acquired by Neonodeom®ecember 29, 2008 and
became a wholly owned subsidiary on that date. Ndeissued shares of our Series A Preferred stottletstockholders of Cypressen in
exchange for all of the outstanding stock of Cypesas . The Cypressen Stockholders are or were gagsomf the Company and/or Neonode
AB, and as such are related parties. Cypressenalidave any operations in 2008. The Consolidatddri®e Sheet of the Company as of
December 31, 2008 includes the accounts of Cypmeskéech is comprised of cash totaling approxima&l2,000. The acquisition of
Cypressen by Neonode Inc. does not qualify as méss combination, and accordingly the fair valfithe Preferred Stock Series A shares
issued to the sellers of Cypressen shares are @tecbfor as compensation. As there is an 18 msantvice requirement, the value of the Se
A Preferred Stock is amortized over the 18 montiiodebeginning from December 31, 2008.

We have not generated sufficient dasim the sale of our products or licensing of aahnology to support our operations and have
incurred significant losses. During the twelve nisnénded December 31, 2008, we raised approxim&@edymillion net cash proceeds though
the sale of our securities, most recently $1.liomlbn December 31, 2008. Unless we are able te@se our revenues and/or decrease
expenses substantially in addition to securingtaafdil sources of financing, we will not have scifint cash to support our operations through
the end of 2009.

As a result of our inability to sell a sufficienimber of mobile phones in 2008 to support our djpmrs, we took the following actio
to restructure and refinance the Company:

« On October 22, 2008, Neonode 's Swedish subsidiary, Neonode AB, filed for compaegrganization in compliance with -
Swedish Reorganization Act (1996:764)Mr. Anders W. Bengtsson of the Stockholm based fam Nova was appointed
administer the process. In accordance with §1&ef3wedish Reorganization Act, a Neonode AB creslitneeting was held at t
district court of Stockholm, Sweden on November2d08;

« On October 22, 2008, we terminated our agreemetih ' Distribution Management Consolidators Worldwide, @.L(DMC
Worldwide) and dissolved Neonode USA which had baeated for the sole purpose of distributing tfgeitNthe US and China and
license our technology worldwid




« On December 1, 2008, we transferred the intelléqtuaperty of Neonode AB including all patents, goghts and trademarks
Neonode Inc pursuant to an intercompany debt pladgeement

« On December 9, 2008, Neonode AB, filed a petitiontfankruptcy in compliance with the Swedish Bapkey Act (1987:672) as
direct result of the failure to reach a satisfagteettlement agreement with the creditors of Neend@. Mr. Hans Odén of tl
Stockholmbased Ackordscentralen AB, a consultancy firm sg@ng in insolvency, was appointed by the distdourt of Stockholr
to administer the processnder Swedish bankruptcy law, effective with thalaptcy filing we no longer have an ownership iag
in Neonode AB, and as such, we are no longer resiplenfor the liabilities of Neonode AB and we rangler have title or ¢
ownership interest in the assets of Neonode AB. Siedish bankruptcy court appointed a Swedish l&gal as receiver with tt
expressed duty to liquidate all the assets of NderkB and enter into final settlements with thedttiers of Neonode AEB

« On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share BgehAgreement with Cypressen, a Swedish engineedmgpany, and tt
stockholders of Cypressen: lwo Jima SARL, Wirdlegs AB, and Athemis Ltd. (the “Cypressen Stockleadd), pursuant to whic
we agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstgrshares of Cypressen in exchange for the isguahshares of Neonode Inc Se
A Preferred Stock to the Cypressen Stockholddtarsuant to the terms of the Share Exchange Agmtempon the closing of tl
transaction, Cypressen became a wl-owned subsidiary of the Compatr

« On December 30, 2008, we entered into a restrugturansaction where we converted the majorityhef autstanding warrants ¢
convertible debt that had been issued in previmenting transactions to shares of Series A andeBeRed stock, respectively, t
are convertible into shares of our common stockcdecordance with the CompasyCertificate of Designations filed with the Delae
Secretary of State

o On December 30, 2008, we entered into a finaneamgsaction in which we raised approximately $1.lliom as of December 31, 20
through the sale of shares of Series A PreferredkSthat are convertible into shares of our commatmtk in accordance with t
Compan’s Certificate of Designations filed with the Delae&ecretary of Stat

« On January 21, 2009, we entered into a settlengneteanent with Alpha Capital Anstalt (Alpha) wherelvg issued shares of «
common stock to settle a claim that Alpha made thathad failed to issue certain stock certificgp@ssuant to the terms ¢
conditions of certain prior investment subscriptagreements; ar

« On January 23, 2009, we issued shares of our constomk to vendors of Neonode Inc. in settlemenamroximately $53,000
outstanding Neonode Inc. accounts paye

Current Business Overview

We provide optical touchscreen solutionshifandheld devices. Our touchscreen solutionsasedon our optical infrared
touchscreen technology which we refer to as zForc€®UYr mission is to make the easiest (to use ategjiate), best (functionality and design)
and cheapest touch screen solution for handheldeewVe believe that keyboards and keypads withimygparts will become obsolete for
handheld devices and that our touchscreen solutidhbe at the forefront of a new wave of fingeaded input technologies that will enable the
user to interact and operate everything from smalbbile devices to large industrial applicationsigsh combination of touches, swipes, and
hand gestures.

The Neonode Principle

Our technology design goal is to deliver a usereence that is cheaper, faster and easier thacotheeting touchscreen solutions.
To achieve that goal, we focus on enhancing thersipce between the user and the device by prayitia following:




« Durable, precise and fast touchscreen technology;

o Fast, fun and easy user interfa

« Multi-touch finger applications for dragging and droppi
« Simplified user interaction with complex devic

We believe that for both professionals and consartier mobile device, particularly the mobile phaseositioned to become the cente
an evolving digital lifestyle that integrates amthances the utility of advanced digital deviceshsag phone, voice and text mail, digital music,
digital video and still cameras, television, pewafigital assistants, web browsing and other diglevices, into a single mobile handheld
computing and communication device. The attribofethe mobile device that will enable this functidity include a highguality user interfac
easy access to relatively inexpensive data stothgegbility to run complex applications, and thédity to connect easily to a wide variety of
other digital devices and to the Internet. We idtemprovide the functionality and ease of inteigratvith a personal computer (PC) or other
media devices, along with a uniquely differentiategchscreen user interface, that we hope willtposus to offer innovative integrated digi
lifestyle solutions.

Product Solutions

We develop touchscreen interface tectgietothat enrich the user’s experience in intemgotvith the user’s mobile computing,
communications, and entertainment devices. Ouniative touchscreen user interfaces can be engidéer@ccommodate many diverse
platforms and our experience in human factors aatbility can be utilized to improve the featured &mctionality of our solutions. Our
extensive arrays of technology include softwaregimaaical and electrical designs, and pattern ratiogrand touch sensing technologies.

Our touchscreen solutions for our custenireclude sensor design, module layout, and soévieatures for which we provide design
support and device testing. This allows us to baestop supplier for complete user interface deBigm the early design stage to testing and
support. Through our technologies and expertiseseed to provide our customers with solutions #uiress their individual design issues and
that will result in high-performance, feature-rieimd reliable touchscreen interface solutions.

Technologies

Our touchscreen solutions are based on our pageratipy zForce™ and Neno™ hardware and softwaretdaty. zForce™ is our optic
infrared touchscreen technology that supports @retad navigation allowing the user to operate tinetfonality with finger gestures passing
over the screen, and Neno™ is our software basedinterface.

zForce™ has been patented in several countriegsgratent-pending in the US. It uses infraredtliat is projected as a grid over the
screen. The infrared light pulses 120 times a s#sorthe grid is constantly being refreshed. Comtdis are produced on the screen and are
then converted into mathematical algorithms whesex's fingers move across the screen. This inpthad is unique for Neonode and is
enabled by the zForce™ technology.

Currently, there are two dominate types of touabscrtechnologies available in the market: - capacétnd resistive. Capacitive
technology is the technology that the Apple iPhoses and resistive technology is what is found ostretylus-based PDAs. Resistive
technology is pressure sensitive technology. Bestl fior detailed work and for selection of a pattic spot on a screen, resistive technology is
not useful for sweeping or motion, such as zoonmngnd out. Capacitive technology, which is usedgdaptop computer mouse pad, is very
good for sweeping gestures and motion. The scretally reacts to the tiny electric impulses of yéinger. Capacitive touchscreens work if
the user has unimpeded contact between his fimgkthe screen.

Our zForce™ optical touchscreen technology hasnaben of key advantages over each of these techieslagcluding:




- No additional layers are added to the screendihaes the screen resolution and clarity. Laygtgchnology is required to activate the
capacitive and resistive technologies and can beacastly;

« The zForce™ grid technology is more responsiaa the capacitive screen technology and as a iesylicker and less prone
misreads. It allows movement and sweeping motisroapared to the point sensitive stylus basedtresiscreens

« zForce™, an abbreviation for zero force necessaeans that you do not have to use any forceléotser move items on the scre
like you would with a stylus

« zForce™ is cost efficient due to the lower cdghaterials and extremely simple manufacturing pesovhen compared to t
expensive layered capacitive and resistive screard

« zForce™ allows multiple methods of input suclsiagple finger taps to hit keys, sweeps to zoonriau, and gestures to write text
symbols directly on the scree

zForce™ incorporates some of the best functioealitif both the capacitive and resistive touchscregimologies. It works in all climates
and, unlike the competing technologies, can be ustdgloves. In addition, zForce™ allows for wateyofing of the device.

Because of its uniqueness and flexibility, we hadithat our zForce™ technology presents a tremenliicensing opportunity for
Neonode. The market is vast, given the currentiraqgrease in touchscreen based devices suchlghoeks, PCs, media players, and (
navigation devices.

Our software user interface Neno™ runs on Windo®sa@d is completely unique. Neno™ is designed &rae complex and full feature
applications on a small screen. It allows for a hanmof input methods and is designed to deliveh Ipigecision, fast response, and ease of use
on a complex device.

Neno™ includes the following features:

« Media players for streaming video, movies and mtigit support all the standard applications, iniclg
WMA WMV, MP3,WAV,DivX and AVI MPEGY4;

« Internet explorer 6.0 browser;

« Image viewer with camera preview and capture;

« Organizer with calendar and task with Microsoft ldok synchronization;

« Calendar, alarm, calculator and call |

« Telephony manager for voice cal

« Messaging manager for SMS, MMS, IM and

« File manager

« Task manager for switching between applicatit

» Notebook; an(

« Games.

Intellectual Property

We believe that innovation in product engineersejes, marketing, support, and customer relatamg protection of this proprietary
technology and knowledge will impact our future egs. In addition to certain patents that are pepadie rely on a combination of copyright,
trademark, trade secret laws and contractual ponggo establish and protect the proprietary eghtour products.

We have applied for patent protection of our ini@nhamed “On a substrate formed or resting displagngement” in six countries
through a patent cooperation treaty (PCT) appbecasind in 24 designated countries through an agtjdit to the European Patent Office
(EPO). We applied for a patent in Sweden relating imobile phone and have also applied for a patehe United States regarding software
named “User Interface.”




We have been granted trademark protection for el WEONODE in the European Union (EU), Swedenvixgyr, and Australia. In
addition, we have been granted protection for idper&tive mark NEONODE in Sweden. Additional apations for the figurative trademark
are still pending in Switzerland, China, Russia Hr@United States.

Our “User Interface” may also be protected by cagtrlaws in most countries, especially SwedenthedeU (which do not grant patent
protection for the software itself), if the softwas new and original. Protection can be claimedfthe date of creation.

Consistent with our efforts to maintain the confidality and ownership of our trade secrets an@otionfidential information and to
protect and build our intellectual property right& require our employees and consultants, andinestistomers, manufacturers, suppliers and
other persons with whom we do business or may fiathndo business to execute confidentiality andeintion assignment agreements upon
commencement of a relationship with us, typicallieading for a period of time beyond terminatiortlué relationship.

Distribution, Sales and Marketing

We consider both the OEMs and their contract mastufars to be our primary customers. Both the OBt their contract
manufacturers may determine the design and prigqgirements and make the overall decision reggritia use of our user interface soluti
in their products. The use and pricing of our ifgee solutions will be governed by technology lisieg agreement.

Our sales staff solicits prospective customersandales personnel receive substantial technésddtance and support from our
internal engineering resources because of theyhtgbhnical nature of our product solutions. Weestghat sales will frequently result from
multi-level sales efforts that involve senior maaagnt, design engineers, and our sales personiaeddting with our potential customers’
decision makers throughout the product developraedtorder process.

Our sales are normally negotiated and executed$n Dollars or Euros.

Our sales force and marketing operations are mahaweof our corporate headquarters in Stockholved&n, and our current sales force
is comprised of consultants and is located in Stobk, Korea and Australia.

Research and Development

We continue to invest in research and developmieatment and emerging technologies that we dedticalrto maintaining our
competitive position in the touchscreen user iaisgfmarkets. Many factors are involved in detemgiihe strategic direction of our product
development focus, including trends and developmignthe marketplace, competitive analyses, matketands, business conditions, and
feedback from our customers and strategic parthefsscal years 2008 and 2007, we spent $3.3 oniliind $4.4 million, respectively, on
research and development activities.

We carefully monitor innovations in other technaésgand are constantly seeking new areas for agtjglicof zForce™. We have
developed a technology roadmap that we believeresllilt in a steady stream of new innovations ardsaof use. We no longer develop
mobile phone products but now focus our developraéfintts on our touchscreen technology.




Our research and development is predominantly irsédout is also done in close collaboration witteeal partners and specialists. Our
development areas can be divided into the follovareas:

« Software
« Optical

« Mechanica
« Electrical

Overview of the Touchscreen Market and Competition
Competing Touchscreen Technologies:

Today there are different touchscreen technofogimilable in the market. All of them with diffeteor slightly different profiles, level of
maturity and cost price:

« Resistive (uses conductive and resistive layerarségd by thin spac

« Surface acoustic wave (uses ultrasonic waves tes pver the touchscreen pai

« Capacitive and projected capacitive (a capacitivetiscreen panel is coated with a material, tylyidgadlium tin oxide that conducts
continuous electrical current across the sensoen/the sensor's 'normal’ capacitance field (ieregfce state) is altered by another
capacitance field, e.g., someone's finger, elemtraincuits located at each corner of the panelsueathe resultant 'distortion’ in the
sine wave characteristics to detect a tot

« Infrared (uses infrared beams that are brokenrgefi or heat from the finger sensed from a cantedztect a touch)

« Strain gauge (uses spring mounted on the fourecsrand strain gauges are used to determine defleghen the screen is touched)

« Optical imaging (uses two or more image sensorplaed around the edges (mostly the corners)eoétheen and a light source
create a shadow of the fings

« In-cell optical touch technology (embeds photo senslirectly into a LCD glass. By integrating tlei¢h function directly into an
LCD glass the LCD will act like a low resolutionmara tc"se¢’ the shadow of the finge

- Dispersive signal technology (uses sensors to tifteanechanical energy in the glass that occurtaaetouch’

« Acoustic pulse recognition ( uses more than twagdectric transducers located at some positiotiseo§creen to turn the mechanical
energy of a touch (vibration) into an electronigrsil)

The following are the advantages and disadvantaése most common competing touchscreen technesdogi
Resistive Touchscreen Technology:
1. Uses conductive and resistive layers separatetibyspace

2. Touch creates contact between resistive circuériaglosing a switct
3. A controller layer is inserted between layers ttedwmine touch coordinate

Advantages:
« High resolution
« Low cost

« Proven solution for low cost touchscreen applices
« Support for large screen siz

Disadvantages:

« Not fully transparent (more backlight needed=>higlhver consumption, reflections, loss of colc
« Requires frequent recalibration to work prope
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- Large frame size (limited active area of the tdiaplay area and outer dimensions of the device)
« Sensitive to scratche

Surface Capacitive Touchscreen Technology

1. Two sides of a glass substrate are coated witlormi€onductive indium tin oxide coating (ITO). i&dn dioxide hard coating
coated on the front side of ITO coating layer. Ehare electrodes on the four corners for launchiagtric current

2. Voltage is applied to the electrodes on the founers.

3. Afinger touches the screen and draws a minute ataficurrent to the point of conta

4. The controller precisely calculates the proportiéthe current passed through the four electrodesfigures out the X/Y
coordinate of a touch poir

Advantages:

« No“edg¢’ or bezel on the top of the on the screen dis
« Medium to high resolutio

« Support for large screen siz

Disadvantages:

« Expensive, typical three to four times the cosh oésistive touchscreen soluti

« Not fully transparent (more backlight needed=>higlwer consumption, reflections, loss of colc
« Cannot be used with gloves or pen. Only suppantgefis

» Limited temperature range for operat|

« Limited capturing speed (for gestur

« No multi-touch suppor

Projected Capacitive Touchscreen Technology:

1. This touch technology requires one or more etché@llayers forming multiple horizontal (X) and vesl (Y) electrodes, which
derive drive from a sensing ct

2. AC signals drive one axis and the response thrtluglscreen cycles back via the other electrc

3. Position detection comes by measuring the disiobutf the change in signals between the X ande¢tebdes. Math algorithms
then determine the XY coordinates of the touch tmc@ssing sign-level change

Advantages:

« No“edg¢’ or bezel on the top of the on the screen dis
« Medium to high resolutio

o Multi-touch suppor

Disadvantages:

« Very expensive, typical 10 times the cost of agtég touchscreen solution (only for high end des)
« Not fully transparent (more backlight needed=>higlwer consumption, reflections, loss of colc

« Cannot be used with gloves or pen (only suppogefin)

» Limited temperature range for operation (not farmavigation systems, et

» Limited capturing speed (no support for gestu

« Limited screen size (typical maximum 3-4 inch) dog@oor signal to noise ratio (SNR)

« No pen suppot

Neonode zForce Touchscreen Technology:

1. zForce uses a small frame around the display wib4 and photoreceptors on the opposites sideshideleind a infrared-
transparent beze
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2. A controller sequentially pulses the LEDs to creatgid of infrared light beams across the disg
3. Atouch obstructs one or more of the beams whiehtiély the X and Y coordinates which also give d@rdarmation.
4. Interpolation with analog reading and processinthefsignal give multiple touch readings/high spgesture suppor

Advantages:
e Multi-touch support

« Fully transparent (maximum display quali

» Fast capturing of movements (support for gestt
« Support for extended temperature ra

« Support for large screen siz

« Low cost for high performance

Disadvantages:
« Bezel height of 0.5 mm (edge around the disp
« No pen suppoi

The most inexpensive and widely used touchscrelei@o on the market today is resistive touch. Bhare function limitations associated
with resistive touch solutions, primarily a useeds to press on a particular point on the scraeh the user may be required to use a stylus or
pen to touch the screen. Many consumer devicésrtb@rporate touchscreen applications use resistiuch solutions including GPS and
mobile phone products. Capacitive touch solutiawigde a more robust set of functions that usegefi instead of a stylus to activate.
Capacitive touch allows the user to move aroundstineen quickly, zoom in and out and change soresws very easily. Capacitive touch
solutions are priced much higher than resistiveticgolutions and as a result are found mainly giéi priced devices. The product most users
identify with a capacitive touch solution is the\@ iPhone. Our optical infrared touch solutionyides the robust functionality of capacitive
touch, can be activated with a finger or stylus smgkiced much closer to resistive touch solutions

Touchscreen Technologies Competitors:

Company Technology

3M Surface Capacitive, Dispersive Signal Tol

Synaptics Capacitive

RPO Optical wave guide with came

Nextwindow Optical with camer;

Zytronic Projective Capacitiv

Tyco Electronics Capacitive, Resistive, Surface Wave, Surface ctipeu

Touch Internatione Resistive, Projected Capacitive, Surface Capac

Mass Multimedia Inc All touchscreen technologit

TPK Acoustic Recognition, Force Intuition, Wire Resisti Digital Wire Resistive (provide tt

capacitive touchscreen for the Apple iPha
Technology License Agreements
As of December 31, 2008, we do not have any tedgydicense agreements with customers.
Employees
On December 31, 2008, we were in the process tfiesring and refinancing the Company and we haeet full-time employees. We
augment our staffing needs with consultants asetwels of February 1, 2009, we had nine full timgpyees of which eight are employees

of Cypressen. Our employees are located in ourocatp headquarters in Stockholm, Sweden and albiafice the United States. None of «
employees are represented by a labor union. We dvarienced no work stoppages. We believe our@eplrelations are positive.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this AnniRéport on Form 16, stockholders or prospective investors shouleftdlly consider th
following risk factors:

Risks Related To Our Business

Our independent registered public accounting firmsued a going concern opinion on our financial séments, questioning our ability
to continue as a going concern.

Due to our need to raise additional financing todfour operations and satisfy obligations as tregome due, our independent registered
public accounting firm has included an explanatmeyagraph in their report on our December 31, Z0Bolidated financial statements
regarding their substantial doubt as to our abititgontinue as a going concern. This may havegatiee impact on the trading price of our
common stock and adversely impact our ability ttaobnecessary financing.

We will require additional capital to fund our opations, which capital may not be available on conmeially attractive terms or at all.

We will require sources of capital in addition #sb on hand to continue operations and to implemgnbusiness plan. We project that
have sufficient liquid assets to continue operatingl the end of June 2009. We are currently eatithg different financing alternatives,
including but not limited to selling shares of @ammon or Preferred stock or issuing notes that beagonverted in shares of our common
stock which could result in the issuance of addaicshares. If our operations do not become ftaghpositive, we will be forced to seek
credit line facilities from financial institutiongdditional private equity investment, or debt agaments. No assurances can be given that we
will be successful in obtaining such additionakfiicing on reasonable terms, or at all. If adeqfustés are not available on acceptable terrr
at all, we may be unable to adequately fund ouiness plan, which could have a negative effecturbosiness, results of operations, and
financial condition. In addition, if funds are akadile, the issuance of equity securities or seesritonvertible into equity could dilute the value
of shares of our common stock and cause the maricet to fall, and the issuance of debt securitmdd impose restrictive covenants that
could impair our ability to engage in certain besis transactions.

The current worldwide financial and credit marketse difficult to access.

The continuing crisis in the worldwide financialdacredit markets make it extremely difficult to ass sources of capital or
borrowings. Credit line facilities from financimstitutions, additional private equity investmegmhd debt arrangements may not be availal
us for some time in the future. No assuranceseagiven that we will be successful in obtainingtsadditional financing on reasonable ter
or at all. If adequate funds are not available areptable terms, or at all, we may be unable tg@ately fund our business plans, which could
have a negative effect on our business, resuliperfations, and financial condition.

Our wholly owned Swedish subsidiary, Neonode ABljgsiidating under the Swedish bankruptcy laws
Neonode AB, our wholly owned Swedish subsidiafgdfia petition to liquidate under the Swedish baptey laws on December 9, 2008.
Neonode AB was our operating company that develapednarketed our touchscreen mobile phone, thé\é2no longer manufacture or s

mobile phone products and have implemented a nategl for our business. While we have acquiredr€ssen, we may not be successful in
our transition from the manufacturing and sellifignmbile phone products to the licensing of ourcttacreen technologies to other companies.
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We have never been profitable and we anticipatengigant additional losses in the future

Neonode Inc. was formed in 1997 and reconstitute2DD6 as a holding company, owning and operatiegndde AB, which had been
formed in 2004. We had been primarily engaged énhiinsiness of developing and selling mobile phoRelowing the liquidation of Neonode
AB, we have implemented a new strategy for ourress. We have a limited operating history on wiichase an evaluation of our business
and prospects. Our prospects must be considefgghtrof the risks and uncertainties encountereddypanies in the early stages of
development, particularly companies in new anddigg@volving markets. We were not successful ifirsgimobile phones and have refocused
our business on licensing our touchscreen techgollghough we secured one technology license ages in July 2005, it was not the main
focus of our business. We may not be successkmiering the technology licensing business. Oucesg will depend on many factors,
including, but not limited to:

« the growth of touchscreen interface usage;

« the efforts and success of our OEM and other ousts;

«» the level of competition faced by us; &

« our ability to meet customer demand for engineesimpport, new technology and ongoing sen

In addition, we have experienced substantial retde in each fiscal period since our inceptionséhet losses resulted from a lack of
substantial revenues and the significant costsiiadun the development of our products and infrecttire. Our ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent on our ability to raise aolditi funds and implement our business plan.

Our limited operating history and the emerging natef our market, together with the other risk dastset forth in this report, make
prediction of our future operating results difficulhere can also be no assurance that we will &steieve significant revenues or profitability
or, if significant revenues and profitability arehéeved, that they could be sustained.

If we fail to develop and introduce new productsdrervices successfully and in a cost effective &intely manner, we will not be able
to compete effectively and our ability to generagéeenues will suffer.

We operate in a highly competitive, rapidly evolyienvironment, and our success depends on outyabildevelop and introduce new
products, technology and services that our custeed end users choose to buy. If we are unsuctessfeveloping and introducing new
products, technology, and services that are apypetdi our customers and end users with acceptaialityy prices and terms, we will not be
able to compete effectively and our ability to gete revenues will suffer.

The development of new products, technology, andaes is very difficult and requires high levelsimnovation. The development
process is also lengthy and costly. If we fail idicipate our end users’ needs or technologicaldseaccurately or if we are unable to complete
the development of products and services in aeffesttive and timely fashion, we will be unablentroduce new products and services into
the market or successfully compete with other pfers.

As we introduce new or enhanced products or integraw technology into new or existing products faee risks including, among other
things, disruption in customers’ ordering pattemgessive levels of older product inventoriesbilitg to deliver sufficient supplies of new
products to meet customers’ demand, possible ptahettechnology defects, and potentially unfamgi@es and support environments.
Premature announcements or leaks of new prodeetsres, or technologies may exacerbate some s# tiwks. Our failure to manage the
transition to newer products or the integratiomefver technology into new or existing products dadversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.
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We are dependent on the ability of our customersl&sign, manufacture and sell their products thatbrporate our touchscreen
technologies.

Our products and technologies are licensed to athpanies who must be successful in designingufaaturing and selling the products
that incorporate our technologies. If our custonagesnot able to design, manufacture or sell fw@iducts, or are delayed in producing their
products, our revenues, profitability, and liquydias well as our brand image, may be adversedctet.

We must significantly enhance our sales and proddetvelopment organizations.

We will need to improve the effectiveness and biteadl our sales operations in order to increasekatawareness and sales of our
technologies, especially as we expand into new etagments. Competition for qualified sales perebis intense, and we may not be abl
hire the kind and number of sales personnel weaageting. Likewise, our efforts to improve andmefour products require skilled engineers
and programmers. Competition for professionals lekgpaf expanding our research and development aragton is intense due to the limited
number of people available with the necessary teahskills. If we are unable to identify, hire, @tain qualified sales, marketing, and
technical personnel, our ability to achieve futteeenue may be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the services of our key perghnn

We are dependent on our current management fdotbseeable future. The loss of the services ofra@sber of management could have
a materially adverse effect on our operations andpects.

If third parties infringe our intellectual propertyor if we are unable to secure and protect our itketual property, we may expend
significant resources enforcing our rights or suffeompetitive injury.

Our success depends in large part on our propyiegahnology and other intellectual property righMée rely on a combination of patents,
copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, confaléptprovisions and licensing arrangements taleish and protect our proprietary rights.
Our intellectual property, particularly our patentsay not provide us with a significant competitadvantage. If we fail to protect or to enforce
our intellectual property rights successfully, competitive position could suffer, which could haonr results of operations.

Our pending patent and trademark applicationsegistration may not be allowed, or others may eimgjé the validity or scope of our
patents or trademarks, including patent or tradkrapplications or registrations. Even if our pasemt trademark registrations are issued and
maintained, these patents or trademarks may not &dequate scope or benefit to us or may be hellid and unenforceable against third
parties.

We may be required to spend significant resour@@sdnitor and police our intellectual property tighEffective policing of the
unauthorized use of our products or intellectuapprty is difficult and litigation may be necessaryhe future to enforce our intellectual
property rights. Intellectual property litigatio;mot only expensive, but time-consuming, regasdééshe merits of any claim, and could divert
attention of our management from operating thertassi. Despite our efforts, we may not be able tectlnfringement and may lose
competitive position in the market before they dola addition, competitors may design around echhology or develop competing
technologies. Intellectual property rights may dsounavailable or limited in some foreign courstyihich could make it easier for
competitors to capture market share.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgylexisting laws, contractual provisions and reieedfford only limited protection.
Intellectual property lawsuits are subject to imgruncertainties due to, among other things, timepdexity of the technical issues involved,
and we cannot assure you that we will be successhsgserting intellectual property claims. Attemptay be made to copy or reverse engineer
aspects of our products or to obtain and use irdition that we regard as proprietary. Accordinglg, eannot assure you that we will be able to
protect our proprietary rights against unauthorited! party copying or use. The unauthorized usauo technology or of our proprietary
information by competitors could have an adveréecebn our ability to sell our products.
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We have an international presence in countries wlkdaws may not provide protection of our intellealyproperty rights to the same
extent as the laws of the United States, which magke it more difficult for us to protect our intedictual property.

As part of our business strategy, we target custered relationships with suppliers and originalipment manufacturers in countries
with large populations and propensities for adaptiew technologies. However, many of these couwntteenot address misappropriation of
intellectual property nor deter others from deveigsimilar, competing technologies or intellectpedperty. Effective protection of patents,
copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and otheltéctual property may be unavailable or limitecsdme foreign countries. In particular, the
laws of some foreign countries in which we do basiémay not protect our intellectual property sgbtthe same extent as the laws of the
United States. As a result, we may not be abldfezt@vely prevent competitors in these regionsiirimfringing our intellectual property rights,
which would reduce our competitive advantage arlityalp compete in those regions and negativelpatt our business.

If we are unable to obtain key technologies fromirthparties on a timely basis, free from errors defects, we may have to delay or
cancel the release of certain products or featuieour products or incur increased costs.

We license third-party software for use in our pratd, including the operating systems. Our abibityelease and sell our products, as well
as our reputation, could be harmed if the thirdypaechnologies are not delivered to customerstimaly manner, on acceptable business
terms or if they contain errors or defects thatravediscovered and fixed prior to release of awdpcts and we are unable to obtain alternative
technologies on a timely and cost effective basisse in our products. As a result, our produgirsieints could be delayed, our offering of
features could be reduced or we may need to dinertievelopment resources from other business tlgsc any of which could adversely
affect our reputation, business and results ofatjmers.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practis may cause unexpected fluctuations in and adebraffect our reported results
of operations.

Any change in financial accounting standards octizas that cause a change in the methodologyamepiures by which we track,
calculate, record and report our results of openator financial condition or both could cause tihations in and adversely affect our reported
results of operations and cause our historicahfifed information to not be reliable as an indicaibfuture results.

Wars, terrorist attacks or other threats beyond ésntrol could negatively impact consumer confidenavhich could harm our operatin
results.

Wars, terrorist attacks or other threats beyondcoutrol could have an adverse impact on the UrSttades, Europe and world economy in
general, and consumer confidence and spendingriitydar, which could harm our business, resultsédrations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock

If we continue to experience losses, we could exgrere difficulty meeting our business plan and osttock price could be negatively
affected.

If we are unable to gain market acceptance of auchscreen technologies, we will experience coirtjnoperating losses and negative
cash flow from our operations. Any failure to acter maintain profitability could negatively impgabe market price of our common stock.
We anticipate that we will continue to incur protldevelopment, sales and marketing and adminig&atkpenses. As a result, we will need to
generate significant quarterly revenues if we arachieve and maintain profitability. A substanf&lure to achieve profitability could make it
difficult or impossible for us to grow our busine§ur business strategy may not be successfulwantay not generate significant revenue
achieve profitability. Any failure to significantiyjcrease revenues would also harm our abilityctdeve and maintain profitability. If we do
achieve profitability in the future, we may notddae to sustain or increase profitability on a ¢erdy or annual basis.
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Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and tHeelaware General Corporation Law contain provisisthat could delay or prevent
change in control.

Our board of directors has the authority to isgouéou2,000,000 shares of Preferred stock and &radéte the price, rights, preferences and
privileges of those shares without any further vataction by the stockholders. The rights of tb&lars of common stock will be subject to,
and may be materially adversely affected by, tgbts of the holders of any Preferred stock that beajssued in the future. The issuance of
Preferred stock could have the effect of makirmgate difficult for a third party to acquire a majgrof our outstanding voting stock.
Furthermore, certain other provisions of our cedife of incorporation and bylaws may have theatfté delaying or preventing changes in
control or management, which could adversely affieetmarket price of our common stock. In additiwe,are subject to the provisions of
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,laananti-takeover law.

Our stock price has been volatile, and your investmhin our common stock could suffer a decline ialue.

There has been significant volatility in the margdte and trading volume of equity securities, abhis unrelated to the financial
performance of the companies issuing the securiflesse broad market fluctuations may negativelgcathe market price of our common
stock. You may not be able to resell your shares above the price you pay for those shares dfladtuations in the market price of our
common stock caused by changes in our operatirfgrpgance or prospects and other factors.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieteon our common stock market price include:

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults or future prospects;

e OUr announcements or our competitors’ announcenoémsw products;

« the public’s reaction to our press releases, cugrgbublic announcements and our filings with tECS
« strategic actions by us or our competitors, suchcgslisitions or restructuring

« new laws or regulations or new interpretationsxting laws or regulations applicable to our besi
« changes in accounting standards, policies, guidantpretations or principle

« changes in our growth rates or our compet’ growth rates

« developments regarding our patents or proprieights or those of our competitol

« our inability to raise additional capital as neec

« concern as to the efficacy of our products;

« changes in financial markets or general economiditions;

» sales of common stock by us or members of our ne&nagt team; and

« changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorarings estimates regarding our common stockr othe
comparable companies or our industry gener

Future sales of our common stock could adverselfeaf its price and our future capital-raising actities could involve the issuance of
equity securities, which would dilute your investnteand could result in a decline in the trading @ of our common stock.

We may sell securities in the public or privateiggmarkets if and when conditions are favorabiesreif we do not have an immediate
need for additional capital at that time. Salesudjstantial amounts of common stock, or the peimethat such sales could occur, could
adversely affect the prevailing market price of common stock and our ability to raise capital. W&y issue additional common stock in
future financing transactions or as incentive conspgion for our executive management and othepleegonnel, consultants and advisors.
Issuing any equity securities would be dilutivetie equity interests represented by our then-audgtg shares of common stock. The market
price for our common stock could decrease as thi&enhtakes into account the dilutive effect of arfifhese issuances. Furthermore, we may
enter into financing transactions at prices thptesent a substantial discount to the market @fi@air common stock. A negative reaction by
investors and securities analysts to any discousatlof our equity securities could result in alide in the trading price of our common stc
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If our shareholders approve an amendment to our @&ecate of Incorporation to increase the number ghares of authorized stock,
then the price of our common stock may be adversdfected.

Our Board of Directors has recommended that ouresttdders approve an increase in the number o&otiorized shares of common
stock and the conversion rates for the Series ASares B Preferred Stock that we issued as pdineafefinancing and capital raising
transactions that we entered into in December 20@&;ding the purchase of AB Cypressen nr 986&approved, the sale of a significant
amount of shares in the open market, or the paoetitat these sales may occur, could cause tmgrgrice of our common stock to decline
or become highly volatile.

Our common stock has been delisted from esdaq Capital Market and is currently traded onetl®TC Bulletin Board Market. Our
stock price and your liquidity may continue to bapacted

Our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Baaarket which is generally considered a lessiefiicand less prestigious market
than the Nasdaqg Capital Market. The price and diigiof our stock may continue to be adversely@#d as a result of our common stock
trading on the OTC Bulletin Market.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

On October 22, 2007, our subsidiary Neonode ABredteto a lease agreement with NCC Property G &/f500 square feet office
space at Warfvingsesvag 41, Stockholm, to be usédeacorporate headquarters. The lease periochlmegApril 1, 2008 and was to expire on
March 31, 2013. The annual payment for this premiag approximately $288,000 per year and was irdlex¢éhe consumer price index in
Sweden. As an incentive to enter into the agreem&one of the first tenants to occupy the buildthg NCC Property G AB gave Neonode
AB discounts amounting to approximately $120,000calted over the first eight months of the leagpegod. Effective with the bankruptcy
filing of Neonode AB on December 9, 2008, the leassociated with the office space located at Wiagsesvag 41, Stockholm was terminated
and Neonode Inc. has no further obligations redatinthis lease agreement.

On October 21, 2007, Neonode AB also entered idase agreement with NCC Property G AB for 10 parispaces located at
Warfvingsesvag 41, Stockholm. The lease period egaApril 1, 2008 and was to expire on March 3112 The annual payment for these
premises amounted to $28,000 per year and waséddexthe consumer price index in Sweden. Neond8léad the right to terminate the
lease on March 31, 2011 if notice of terminatiors\gaven by Neonode AB at least 9 months prior tadia881, 2011. Effective with the
bankruptcy filing of Neonode AB on December 9, 20b& lease associated with the parking spacetelded Warfvingsesvag 41, Stockholm
was terminated and Neonode Inc. has no furthegatidins relating to this lease agreement.

Prior to taking occupancy of the facility locatad/arfvingsesvag 41, Stockholm, Sweden, duringafiyear 2007 through March 31,
2008, we occupied 6,000 square feet of office spa&ockholm under a lease which has now expired.

On January 12, 2009, our subsidiary, Cypressemeazhieto a 12 month lease with Vasakronan Fastggh®&B for approximately 2,000

square feet of office space located at Linnega®ars&®ckholm, Sweden for approximately $5,000 penttn. The annual payment for this sg
equates to approximately $60,000.
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In addition, we had leased 2,000 square feet idefpace in San Ramon, California on a month-totmbasis at cost of $3,000 per
month. We occupied this space from March 2007 uadease with One Stop Systems, Inc. We termindiednonth-tomonth lease on Janui
31, 2008 and relocated to office space locatedafiayette, California that is provided by our Chi@liancial Officer on a rent free basis. In
addition, in connection with the sale of the SBfe. lhardware business, on March 29, 2007, SBE gigraefinitive agreement providing for
the assumption of the lease of the prior SBE Sand®a California headquarters office space for 22 $fuare feet that was effective with the
closing of the sale of the hardware business trtioga As the result of our merger with SBE, we toaure to be secondary guarantor on the
lease for the term of the San Ramon lease whichitates in March 2010.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 4, 2008, we received a summons t@appthe United States District Court for the $wuh District of New York because
one of our investors in previous private placemaatssactions, Alpha Capital Anstalt (Alpha) allddkat we failed to issue certain stock
certificates pursuant to the terms and conditidrth® September 2007 investment subscription ageatsnAlpha was asking the court to av
them $734,650 in damages plus attorneys fees. édtmave believed the claim had no merit, we signddfaitive settlement agreement on
January 21, 2009 and issued Alpha 1,096,997 slbims common stock as settlement in full. On Fabyu.3, 2009 a notice was sent to the
Court by Alpha’s legal counsel requesting dismisgahe action.

On December 9, 2008, Empire Asset Management (E@irbroker dealer that acted as the Companyasifial advisor and exclusive
placement agent in previous private placement &etians, initiated a law-suit against the Companthe Supreme Court of the State of New
York alleging that the Corporation misrepresentesituccess of its business with the purpose otindlEmpire’s customers to invest in the
Company. Empire is seeking compensatory damagas imspecified amount for the harm allegedly saffe The Company intends to defe
vigorously against the action.

On March 24, 2009, we were informed that a compla@t been filed against the Company by an inveMorDavid Berman, who
invested $600,000.00 in the Company on March 4820@ May 16, 2008. We were informed that Mr. Bernmvested in the Company
through Empire. To date the Company has not redesvcopy of the complaint, but the Company inténdtefend vigorously against the
action.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

A special meeting of stockholders was held on Tagshflarch 31, 2009, at our corporate headquarféicedocated at Linnegatan 89,
11523 Stockholm, Sweden.

The stockholders approved the following three items

() An amendment to the Company’s Certificaténcorporation to effect an increase in the nemdff authorized shares of our stock from
77,000,000 to 700,000,000 and an increase in theauof shares of our common stock from 75,000160898,000,000.

For Against Abstain
19,203,13¢ 581,12C 19,272

(i) An amendment to the Company’s Certifecaf Incorporation to increase the conversion odthe Series A Preferred Stock such that
each share of Series A Preferred Stock, which bas bonvertible into 1 share of common stock, i8 nonvertible into 480.63 shares of
common stock.

For Against Abstain
19,927,882.2( 579,875 18,672
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(i)  An amendment to the Company’s Certificafdncorporation to increase the conversion réitine Series B Preferred Stock such that
each share of Series B Preferred Stock, which kad bonvertible into 1 share of common stock, 8 nonvertible into 132.07 shares of
common stock.

For Against Abstain
19,926,293.2( 580,464 19,672
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Effective January 2, 2009, our common stock wageglion the Pink Sheets under the symbol NEON.PKe#fiedtive January 26, 2009
our common stock has been quoted on the Over thet€oBulletin Board Market (OTCBB) under the syrhN&ON.OB.

For 2008 and 2007 our stock was traded on the NgSdaital Market under the symbol NEON. The follog/table presents quarterly
information on the price range of our common stactlicating the high and low bid prices reporteditiy Nasdaqg Capital Market. These prices
do not include retail markups, markdowns or comioiss As of December 31, 2008, there were approtein&,634 holders of record of our
common stock.

Fiscal Quarter Ended

Fiscal 2008 March 31 June 30  September 30 December 3
High $ 3.7C $ 3.0¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢
Low 1.74 0.3t 0.1C 0.0z

Fiscal 2007 )

High $ 39t § 40C $ 794 $ 4.87
Low 1.7C 1.62 2.8t 2.8¢

D Prior to our reverse merger with SBE, Inc. on Audlfy 2007, our common stock traded under the syi®B&I. The stock prices
presented for SBEI for the period prior to Augudt 2007 are adjusted for a 1 for 5 reverse stokeffective March 29, 2007.

There are no restrictions on our ability to payidiwnds; however, it is currently the intention af @oard of Directors to retain all
earnings, if any, for use in our business and waat@nticipate paying cash dividends in the foezabe future. Any future determination as to
the payment of dividends will depend, among othetdrs, upon our earnings, capital requirementstating results and financial condition.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and AnalgéBinancial Condition and Results of Operationsitzins forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintiestd&/guch as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,”ihtends” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statementg, dme not the exclusive means of identifying suatements. Readers are cautioned that the
forward-looking statements reflect our analysis only athefdate hereof, and we do not assume any oldigati update these statements.
Actual events or results may differ materially fréme results discussed in or implied by the forv-looking statements. The following
discussion should be read in conjunction with tmpany’s financial statements for the years endedenber 31, 2008 and 2007 and the
related notes included therein.

Overview

We specialize in user-friendly touchscreelutions for handield devices, based on our innovative optical teldgy, which we refer to :
zForce™. Our mission is to make the easiest (oans! integrate), best (functionality and desigm) eheapest touch screen solution for
handheld devices.

Through our wholly owned subsidiary, Neonode AB,de&eloped our touchscreen technology and an opticehscreen mobile phone
product, the Neonode N2 that provided a unique esperience that did not require any keypads, batty other moving parts. On December
1, 2008, we transferred the Neonode AB intellecpuaperty including patents, copyrights and tradd&rom Neonode AB to Neonode inc.
pursuant to an intercompany debt pledge agree®@enDecember 9, 2008, Neonode AB filed for liquidatunder the Swedish bankruptcy
laws. Neonode AB had a total of approximately 00,812 mobile phones in inventory at the time obiéhkruptcy filing. Effective with
Neonode AP s bankruptcy filing on December 9, 2008, Neonode isino longer in the mobile phone business aackthre no known financ
obligations related to the accounts payable orrathbts of Neonode AB that Neonode Inc has respditgi The Swedish bankruptcy court
continues to pursue sales opportunities for Neoris remaining inventory of N2 mobile phones. Altigh we may be the beneficiary of a
portion of any sales proceeds from such sales. nTdjerity of any future sales proceeds from the sélthe N2s in Neonode AB’s inventory
will be distributed to the creditors of Neonode Athe Swedish bankruptcy court.

We have not generated sufficient cash froenséile of our products or licensing of our techgglto support our operations and have
incurred significant losses. During the twelve nienénded December 31, 2008, we raised approximb@eymillion net cash though the sale
of our securities, most recently $1.1 million oncBmber 31, 2008. Unless we are able to increaseeganues and decrease expenses
substantially in addition to securing additionalisees of financing, we will not have sufficient bae support our operations through the en
20009.

On December 30, 2008, we commenced certain refingrand capital raising transactions to enableouwnhtinue to develop our
technology. A description of the actions we tookdstructure and refinance the company and a giseriof our new business are included
above in Item 1 “Business.”

We have incurred net operating losses and negapigeating cash flows since inception. As of Decen®ig 2008, we had an accumulated
deficit of $64.6 million. We expect to incur additial losses and may have negative operating casis through the end of 2009. The report of
our independent registered public accounting fimmeispect of the 2008 fiscal year, included elserethis annual report, includes an
explanatory going concern paragraph which raisbstaatial doubt to continue as a going concernclvhidicates an absence of obvious or
reasonably assured sources of future funding tilBberequired by us to maintain ongoing operagioflthough we have been able to fund our
operations to date, there is no assurance thatapital raising efforts will be able to attract taditional capital or other funds needed to
sustain our operations.

Our success is dependent on our obtaining sufticiepital or operating cash flows to fund our ogierss and to development of our
technology and products, and on our bringing sechriology and products to the worldwide marketatbieve these objectives, we may be
required to raise additional capital through publigrivate financings or other arrangements. hinca be assured that such financings will be
available on terms attractive to us, if at all. Bfinancings may be dilutive to stockholders ang mentain restrictive covenants.
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In addition to the immediate risks relating to ability to continue as a going concern and to ebfanding under the current market
conditions, we are subject to certain risks comneoiechnology-based companies in similar stageleeélopment. See “Risk Factors” above.
Principal risks include risks relating to the uriaety of growth in market acceptance for our teabgy, a history of losses since inception,
ability to remain competitive in response to neeht®logies, the costs to defend, as well as rifkssing, patents and intellectual property
rights, a reliance on our future customers’ abilitydevelop and sell products that incorporatetecinnology, the concentration of our
operations in a limited number of facilities, thecartainty of demand for our technology in certraiarkets, our ability to manage growth
effectively, our dependence on key members of camagement and development team, our limited expezian conducting operations
internationally, and our ability to obtain adequedital to fund future operations.

Accounting Treatment
2007 Financial Statements

The merger (Merger) of Old Neonode with our whallyned acquisition subsidiary closed on August 00,72 For accounting purposes,
the Merger was accounted for as a reverse mergerld Neonode as the accounting acquirer. Theshistorical financial statements of Old
Neonode have become our historical financial statémand the results of operations of our Comptorynerly known as SBE, Inc.) a
included in the results of operations presenteemgigre and discussed herein only from August 107 20he audited consolidated financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Repdrorm 10-K and the discussion of our financ@bdition and results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2007 appearing beldudia the results of operations of formerly SBE. lonly from August 10, 2007. Our
consolidated financial statements include Old Nele'®accounts, those of its wholly-owned subsididlgonode AB, and, from August 10,
2007, SBE, Inc.’s accounts and the accounts of $BEs wholly-owned subsidiary Cold Winter, Inc.

2008 Financial Statements

For 2008, the audited consolidated statements @fadipns and cash flows appearing elsewhere inAhigial Report on Form 10-K and
the discussion of our financial condition and resof operations for the year ended December 318 2@pearing below include the results of
operations of our former wholly owned subsidiargodode AB, for the period January 1, 2008 throughdinber 9, 2008, the date Neonode
AB filed for bankruptcy, as subsequent to that dat=no longer control the operations of Neonode ABe audited consolidated balance s
as of December 31, 2008 includes the accounts ohdide Inc. and its new wholly owned subsidiary, @gpen, which Neonode Inc.
purchased on December 29, 2008. Operating refeul@ypressen from date of acquisition to Decen#der2008 has been insignificant.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements ameimformity with generally accepted accounting piptes in the United States of America
(GAAP) and include the accounts of Neonode Inc.iemdubsidiary based in Sweden, Neonode AB, thrddgcember 9, 2008, the date
Neonode AB filed for bankruptcy. The balance stasedf December 31, 2008 includes the accountsrofvbally owned subsidiary based
Sweden, Cypressen. Operating results for Cyprdssendate of acquisition to December 31, 2008 hfeenlinsignificant. All inter-company
accounts and transactions have been eliminateohisotidation. Our accounting policies affecting @inancial condition and results of
operations are more fully described in Note 2 toannsolidated financial statements. Certain ofagounting policies require the application
of judgment by management in selecting appropdaseimptions for calculating financial estimatesictviinherently contain some degree of
uncertainty. Management bases its estimates ooricist experience and various other assumptiortsatieebelieved to be reasonable under the
circumstances, The historical experience and assonspform the basis for making judgments aboutréported carrying values of assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue expknses that may not be readily apparent fromr agtburces. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions orittonsl We believe the following are some of therencritical accounting policies and relal
judgments and estimates used in the preparationrofonsolidated financial statemer
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Revenue Recognition
Neonode AB Mobile Phone Business and Licensingiofr@@ellectual Property:

We recognize revenue from product sales whenttdlesfers and risk of loss has passed to the cestamhich is generally upon shipment
of products to our customers. We estimate expesatss returns and record the amount as a redurfti@mvenues and cost of sales at the time
of shipment. Our policy complies with the guidaprevided by the Securities and Exchange CommissiStaff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)

No. 104,Revenue Recognition in Financial Statemeistsjed by the Securities and Exchange Commissi@réabgnize revenue from the s

of our mobile phones when all of the following cdimhs have been met: (1) evidence exists of amngrement with the customer, typically
consisting of a purchase order or contract; (2)maducts have been delivered and risk of losphased to the customer; (3) we have
completed all of the necessary terms of the contfarthe amount of revenue to which we are eaditk fixed or determinable; and (5) we
believe it is probable that we will be able to eotlthe amount due from the customer. To the exitertitone or more of these conditions has not
been satisfied, we defer recognition of revenudgthents are required in evaluating the credit voeths of our customers. Credit is not
extended to customers and revenue is not recogoiziidve have determined that collectibility isspnably assured.

To date, our revenues generated by the sale ofddeoAB’s mobile phones have consisted primarilysales to distributors. From time to
time, we allowed certain distributors price protectsubsequent to the initial product shipmentcégrotection may allow the distributor a
credit (either in cash or as a discount on futunelpases) if there is a price decrease during eifsggeperiod of time or until the distributor
resells the goods. Future price adjustments afieuifto estimate since we do not have a suffittd@story of making price adjustments.
Therefore, we deferred recognition of revenuelimtalance sheet line item “deferred revenue”veedrirom sales to these customers until
they resold our products to their customers. Algfotevenue recognition and related cost of sales deferred, we recorded an accounts
receivable at the time of initial product shipmeks. standard terms were generally FOB shippingtppeyment terms were enforced from the
shipment date, and legal title and risk of inveptoss passed to the distributor upon shipment.

For products sold to distributors with agreemefitsnang for price protection and product returns vecognized revenue based on our
estimate of when the distributor sold the prododts end customer. Our estimate of such distribsédi-through was based on information
received from our distributors. Revenue was navgazed upon shipment since, due to various forhpgioe concessions; the sales price was
not substantially fixed or determinable at thatetim

Revenue from products sold directly to end-usesagh our web sales channels were generally recedmihen title and risk of loss has
passed to the buyer, which typically occurs upaprebnt. Reserves for sales returns are estimatsetilqarimarily on historical experience and
were provided at the time of shipment.

Revenue for the twelve months ended December 317, R¢ludes revenue from the sales of our first iegthone, the N1, and from our
second product, the N2 multimedia mobile phone,ramdnue from one licensing agreement with a magian manufacturer. In July 2005,
entered into a licensing agreement with a majoaAsnanufacturer whereby we licensed our touchsdessgmology for use in a mobile phone
to be included in their product assortment. In #yseement, we received approximately $2.0 miliforeturn for granting an exclusive right to
use our touchscreen technology over a two-yeaog@ehat ended July 2007. The exclusive rightsndidlimit our right to use our licensed
technology for our own use, nor to grant to thiedtigs rights to use our licensed technology inais/other than mobile phones. Another
component of the agreement provided for a fee pf@pmately $2.65 per telephone if the Asian maotfieer sells mobile phones based on
technology. In July 2007, we extended this liceage=ement on a non-exclusive basis for an additi@mm of one year. As of December 31,
2008, the Asian manufacturer had not sold any redbiephones using our technology.

The net revenue related to this agreement wasaadidover the term of the agreement, amountingt&3®00 in 2007 and no revenue in
2008 since the initial contract period ended ity 2007. The contract also included consulting sewito be provided by Neonode on an “as
needed basis.” The fees for these consultancycesrviaried from hourly rates to monthly rates aedevbased on reasonable market rates for
such services. To date, we have not provided anguiting service related to this agreement.
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Generally, our customers were responsible for therent of all shipping and handling charges diyegith the freight carriers.

Neonode AB derived revenue from the licensing afioternally developed intellectual property (IWje enter into IP licensing
agreements that generally provide licensees tim tigincorporate our IP components in their pragwdgth terms and conditions that vary by
licensee. The IP licensing agreements generallydiecd a nonexclusive license for the underlyingH@es under these agreements may include
license fees relating to our IP and royalties p&yédilowing the sale by our licensees of produst®orporating the licensed technology. The
license for our IP has standalone value and carséd by the licensee without maintenance and sugporDecember 1, 2008, we transferred
the Neonode AB intellectual property including pase copyrights and trademarks to Neonode inc.yauntsto an intercompany debt pledge
agreement.

Hardware Product:

We may from time-to-time develop custom hardwawspcts for our customers that incorporate our tea¥en technology. Our policy is
to recognize revenue from hardware product saleswitie transfers and risk of loss has passedaa@ustomer, which is generally upon
shipment of our hardware products to our custonWwisdefer and recognize service revenue over theamiual period or as services are
rendered. We estimate expected sales returns aaddrthe amount as a reduction of revenue andoddetrdware and other revenue at the 1
of shipment. Our policy complies with the guidaprevided by the Securities and Exchange CommigS&tC) Staff Accounting Bulletin
(SAB) No. 104 Revenue Recognition in Financial Statemegisdgments are required in evaluating the credithiness of our customers.
Credit is not extended to customers and revennetisecognized until we have determined that ctbdity is reasonably assured. Our sales
transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars oo&urhe software component of our hardware prodaatensidered incidental. Therefore,
do not recognize software revenue related to ordvigre products separately from the hardware ptoshle. To date, we have not sold any
hardware products.

When selling hardware, we expect our agreements @iMs to incorporate clauses reflecting the follmpwnderstandings:

- all prices are fixed and determinable at the tirhsate;

- title and risk of loss pass at the time of shipm(&@B shipping point)

- collectibility of the sales price is probable (&M is creditworthy, the OEM is obligated to paydauch obligation is not contingent
on the ultimate sale of the OF s integrated solution

- the OEN's obligation to us will not be changed in the ewafrtheft or physical destruction or damage ofpheduct;

- we do not have significant obligations for futuerformance to directly assist in the resale ofpfeeluct by the OEMs; ar

- there is no contractual right of return other tfandefective product:

Software Products:

We may derive revenues from the following sour¢gssoftware, which includes our Neno™ softwareitises and (2) engineering servi
which include consulting. We account for the lidagsof software in accordance with American Ingétaf Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) Statement of Position (SOP) 97Shftware Revenue Recogniti@OP 97-2 requires judgment, including whether ansok
arrangement includes multiple elements, and if@ther vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOEpo value exists for those elements.
These documents include post delivery support,agep, and similar services. To date, we have ndtesty software products.
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For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize
new software license revenue when: (1) we enterariegally binding arrangement with a customettiierlicense of software; (2) we deliver
the products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixetbterminable and free of contingencies or sigaift uncertainties; and (4) collection is
reasonably assured. We initially defer all reveralated to the software license and maintenanceuet! such time that we are able to
establish VSOE for these elements of our softwandyrts. Revenue deferred under these arrangeiseertsognized to revenue over the
expected contract term. We will also continue tfedesvenues that represent undelivered post-dgliegineering support until the
engineering support has been completed and theaeftoroduct is accepted.

Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services toomstomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. ¥¢egnize revenue as the engineering
services stipulated under the contact are compbatedaccepted by our customers. To date, we havsottbany engineering services.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our policy is to maintain allowances for estimaleskes resulting from the inability of our customgr make required payments. Credit
limits are established through a process of revigwhe financial history and stability of each cuser. Where appropriate, we obtain credit
rating reports and financial statements of ouraustrs when determining or modifying their credititis. We regularly evaluate the
collectibility of our trade receivable balancesdzhsn a combination of factors. When a customext®ant balance becomes past due, we
initiates dialogue with the customer to determhme ¢ause. If it is determined that the customdriveilunable to meet its financial obligation,
such as in the case of a bankruptcy filing, detation in the customer’s operating results or friahposition, or other material events
impacting its business, we record a specific alloveato reduce the related receivable to the ameargxpect to recover. Should all efforts fail
to recover the related receivable, we will writétble account. We also record an allowance focadtomers based on certain other factors
including the length of time the receivables arstplue and our historical collection experienceénwiistomers.

Warranty Reserves

Our mobile phone products were generally warraagginst defects for 12 months following the sale. Mdve a 12 month warranty from
the manufacturer of the mobile phones. Reservegdtantial warranty claims not covered by the maatifrer were provided at the time of
revenue recognition and were based on severalrf&adteluding current sales levels and our estimétepair costs. Shipping and handling
charges were expensed as incurred. Upon filingp&mkruptcy on December 9, 2008, the warranty ofiiga related to Neonode A8previou
sales of mobile phone products were transferrede@wedish bankruptcy court along with all theetsand liabilities of Neonode AB.

We do not anticipate that our technology produdtshave any warranty obligations associated witkehses related to these technologies.

Research and Development

Research and Development (R&D) costs are expersettarred. R&D costs are accounted for in accardamith Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.A:counting for Research and Development Cé&tsearch and development costs consists mainly of
personnel related costs in addition to some exteoressultancy costs such as testing, certifyingl, measurements.
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Long-lived Assets

We assess any impairment by estimating the futasé 8ow from the associated asset in accordanteSHAS 144Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lol-Lived Assets|f the estimated undiscounted cash flow relatethése assets decreases in the future or the
useful life is shorter than originally estimateds may incur charges for impairment of these as$ées.impairment is based on the estimated
discounted cash flow associated with the asset.

Stock Based Compensation Expense

We account for stock-based employee compensatianggments in accordance with SFAS 123 (revised 2@hare-Based Payment
(SFAS 123R)We account for equity instruments issued to nmpleyees in accordance with SFAS 123R and Emerigiges Task Force
(EITF) 96-18,Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issug@®ther than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjiimic with Selling, Goods
or Services which require that such equity instruments bemed at their fair value and the unvested poisae-measured each reporting
period. When determining stock based compensatiparese involving options and warrants, we deterrttieeestimated fair value of options
and warrants using the Black-Scholes option pricivuglel.

Accounting for Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Wants

We account for debt issued with stock purchaseam#srin accordance with Accounting Principles Bq&#B) Opinion 14 Accounting
for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stockdhase Warrantsif they meet equity classification. We allocate fiieceeds of the debt
between the debt and the detachable warrants loastx relative fair values of the debt securityheiit the warrants and the warrants
themselves. The warrants were classified as ditiapursuant to the guidance provided in paragraplof EITF 00-19. The warrants were
recorded among “Liability for warrants to purchasemon stock” and are valued at fair valued attie of each reporting period using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. As of Decem®&y 2008, all of the outstanding warrants are diagisas equity.

Liability for Warrants and Embedded Derivatives

We do not enter into derivative contracts for pwgmof risk management or speculation. Howevem fime to time, we enter into
contracts that are not considered derivative firniestruments in their entirety but that incluelbedded derivative features. Such embedded
derivatives are assessed at inception of the cdrdral every reporting period, depending on the@iracteristics, are accounted for as separate
derivative financial instruments pursuant to SFAS,Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgivities, as amended (together,
SFAS 133), if such embedded conversion featurdsedltanding, would meet the classification afhility. SFAS 133 requires that we
analyze all material contracts and determine whiathaot they contain embedded derivatives. Anyhsmbedded conversion features that
meet the above criteria are then bifurcated froair thost contract and recorded on the consolidasdgihce sheet at fair value and the changes
in the fair value of these derivatives are recorelach period in the consolidated statements ofatipais as an increase or decrease to Non-cas
charges for conversion features and warrants.

Similarly, if warrants meet the classification @filities in accordance with EITF 00-18¢ccounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Compa@yis Stocl, then the fair value of the warrants are recomiethe consolidated balance st
at their fair values, and any changes in suchvaires are recorded each period in the consolidatgdments of operations as an increase or
decrease to Non-cash charges for conversion fesagune warrants.
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Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SEBEAccounting for Income Taxe$SFAS 109 requires recognition of deferred tax
liabilities and assets for the expected futurecaxsequences of items that have been includectifirthncial statements or tax returns. We
estimate income taxes based on rates in effe@dh ef the jurisdictions in which we operate. Deddrincome tax assets and liabilities are
determined based upon differences between thedialastatement and income tax bases of assetdatilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expetteeverse. The realization of deferred tax assdiased on historical tax positions and
expectations about future taxable income. Valuagibmwances are recorded against net deferredssets&where, in our opinion, realization is
uncertain based on the “not more likely than noifecia of SFAS 109.

Based on the uncertainty of future pre-tax incowefully reserved our net deferred tax assets &@eoember 31, 2008 and 2007. In the
event we were to determine that we would be abtedtize our deferred tax assets in the futuredinstment to the deferred tax asset would
increase income in the period such a determinat@smmade. The provision for income taxes repregbataet change in deferred tax amounts,
plus income taxes payable for the current period.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisifrFinancial Accounting Standards Board (FASBgipretation No. 48 (FIN 48),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Ta, which provisions included a two-step approactetmgnizing, de-recognizing and measuring
uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordavite SFAS 109. As a result of the implementatiéfirtN 48, we recognized no increase in
the liability for unrecognized tax benefits andexiase in the related reserve of the same ambustefore upon implementation of FIN 48,
we recognized no material adjustment to the Janua?@07 balance of retained earnings. As of Deegrlh, 2008, we had no unrecognized
tax benefits.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following are expected effects of recent actiogrpronouncements. We are required to analyzgetpeonouncements and determined
the effect, if any; the adoption of these pronoumeets would have on our results of operationsraricial position.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&ulard (FASB) issued Statement on Financial ActingrStandards (SFAS) No.
141 (revised 2007Business CombinatiofSFAS No. 141R). SFAS 141R establishes principtesraquirements for how an acquirer
recognizes and measures in its financial statenteatslentifiable assets acquired, the liabilidsesumed, any noncontrolling interest in the
acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 14I5R astablishes disclosure requirements to enhblevtaluation of the nature and financial
effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 14lé¥fective as of the beginning of an entity’céibyear that begins after 15 December
2008, and will be adopted by us in the first quanfe2009. The adoption of SFAS 141R will affect tvay we account for any acquisitions
made after January 1, 2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement afn€ial Accounting Standards No. 157 (SFAS 1538)r Value Measurementshich
defines fair value, establishes guidelines for meag fair value and expands disclosures regartiimgzalue measurements. SFAS 157 does
not require any new fair value measurements, kiberaeliminates inconsistencies in guidance founeairious prior accounting
pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for findnassets and financial liabilities within its scdpe fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007 and for interim periods within those fisgears. We adopted SFAS 157 for financial assedsfimancial liabilities within its scope
during the first quarter of 2008, and the adopt@hnot have an impact on our financial statemdnt§ebruary 2008, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 (FSP FAS 157 Rffective Date of FASB Statement No. M#ich defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for all
non-financial assets and non-financial liabiliiesfiscal years beginning after November 15, 2868 interim periods within those fiscal years
for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2. Thepdibn of FSP FAS 157-2 effective January 1, 2@0%te Company’s non-financial assets
and non-financial liabilities is not expected tavd@an impact on our consolidated financial statamen

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS Nathcontrolling Interests in Consolidated FinancigthtementsSFAS 160 establishes new
standards that will govern the accounting for abrting of noncontrolling interests in partiallwoed subsidiaries. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15820 requires retroactive adoption of the presiemtand disclosure requirements for
existing minority interests. All other requiremestsll be applied prospectively. The adoption ¢f gtandard will have no impact on the
financial results of the Company on the date ofpéida.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 1Bisclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddhativities - an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133as amended and interpreted, which requires eekattisclosures about an entity’s derivative andyhrggactivities and
thereby improves the transparency of financial riépg. Disclosing the fair values of derivative tnsnents and their gains and losses in a
tabular format provides a more complete picturéheflocation in an entity’s financial statementdoth the derivative positions existing at
period end and the effect of using derivativesmythe reporting period. Entities are requiredravwle enhanced disclosures about (a) how
and why an entity uses derivative instrumentshfdy derivative instruments and related hedged it@rasaccounted for under SFAS 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities, as amended and its related interpretations (teg8FAS 133), and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged itenecaén entity’s financial position, financial pamrtance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is
effective for financial statements issued for flsggars and interim periods beginning after Novenitie 2008. We do not expect the adoption
of SFAS 161 to have a material impact on our fimarmosition, and we will make all necessary disalies upon adoption, if applicable.

In April 2008, the FASB issued EITF 07-(Betermining whether an Instrument (or Embedded &egtls Indexed to an Entity's Own
Stock, (EITF 07-05). EITF 07-05 provides guidance oredsining what types of instruments or embeddedifeatin an instrument held by a
reporting entity can be considered indexed tovita stock for the purpose of evaluating the firsieeia of the scope exception in paragraph 11
(a) of FAS 133. EITF 07-05 is effective for finaakstatements issued for fiscal years beginningr &iecember 15, 2008 and early application
is not permitted. . We do not believe that the gidopof EITF 07-05 will have a significant impaat our consolidated financial statements, as
the fair value of any financial instruments andtetl conversion features are not significant .

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. T8#% Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes.
SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting fples and the framework for selecting the principie be used in the preparation of financial
statements of nongovernmental entities that aregpted in conformity with generally accepted actioigrprinciples in the United States.
SFAS 162 is effective as of November 15, 2008. dthaption of SFAS 162 did not have any financialactpon our consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SRdkition (FSP) APB 14-Bccounting for Convertible Debt Instruments ThatyNBe Settled in
Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Setdat).This FSP clarifies that convertible debt instrunsethfat may be settled in cash upon
conversion (including partial cash settlement)raoveaddressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion Ng.Agtounting for Convertible Debt and
Debt issued with Stock Purchase WarraAdditionally, this FSP specifies that issuers aflsinstruments should separately account for the
liability and equity components in a manner thdt eflect the entity's nonconvertible debt borragiirate when interest cost is recognized in
subsequent periods. This FSP is effective for firerstatements issued for fiscal years beginnftey ®ecember 15, 2008, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, and requires retrospedpplication for all periods presented. We dolb@dieve that adoption of FSP APB 14-1 will
have a significant impact on our financial positaord operating results, as the embedded convefesitures of our convertible debt instrumi
had been accounted for as a derivative.

Results of Operations
On August 10, 2007, Neonode Inc merged with SBEs(idg: SBEI) (Merger). The newly-combined Compammgadquarters was located

in Stockholm, Sweden. The combined company’s comstock started trading on the Nasdag Capital MaskeAugust 13, 2007 under the
new ticker symbol “NEON.”
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2007 Financial Statements

For accounting purposes, the Merger was accounteakfa reverse merger with Neonode as the acoguatquirer. This transaction was
treated as a recapitalization. Thus, the histofinahcial statements of pre- merger Neonode bedhmeombined company’s historical
financial statements. The audited consolidatedhfired statements appearing elsewhere in this AnRealrt on Form 10-K and the discussion
of our financial condition and results of operatidar the year ended December 31, 2007 appeariogvleclude the results of operations of
SBE, Inc. only from August 10, 2007 through Decenfe 2007 consolidated with the results of pregeeiNeonode for the period January 1,
2007 through December 31, 2007.

2008 Financial Statements

On December 9, 2008, our wholly owned Swedish slidngi, Neonode AB filed for liquidation under thartkruptcy laws of Sweden.
Pursuant to the Swedish bankruptcy laws, we atemger responsible for the debt and liabilities dorwe have any ownership interest in the
assets of Neonode AB as of the effective date@btmnkruptcy filing, December 9, 2008. The aud@edsolidated statements of operations
cash flows appearing elsewhere in this Annual RepoiForm 10-K and the discussion of our financ@idition and results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2008 appearing beldudia the results of operations of our former whollvned subsidiary, Neonode AB, only
from January 1, 2008 through December 9, 2008d#te Neonode AB filed for bankruptcy. Pursuant t&RA Statement of Position, SOP 90-
7, Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganizatidnder the Bankruptcy Codand Accounting Research Bulletin, ARB &lgnsolidate
Financial Statemeni. ARB 51 precludes consolidation of a majority-@arsubsidiary where control does not rest withntfagority owners,
for instance, where the subsidiary is in bankrupt&gcordingly, we deconsolidated Neonode AB fromn consolidated financial statements on
the date it filed for bankruptcy, December 9, 2008.

On December 29, 2008, we entered into ae€Shachange Agreement with AB Cypressen nr 9683®(€3sen), a Swedish engineering
company, and the stockholders of Cypressen: Ima BARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd. (the @gsen Stockholders), pursuant to
which we agreed to acquire all of the issued artdtanding shares of Cypressen in exchange fostuance of 495,000 shares of Neonode
Series A Preferred Stock to the Cypressen Stockhald Pursuant to the terms of the Share Exchagggement, upon the closing of the
transaction, Cypressen became a wholly-owned sialpgidf the Company. Neonode’s consolidated balahests as of December 31, 2008
include the accounts of Neonode Inc. and its newliwlowned subsidiary, Cypressen. Cypressen dichagé any operations prior to its
acquisition by us on December 29, 2008; theretbeeacquisition of Cypressen has no accounting ainpa the consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following table sets forth, as a percentageetfsales, certain statements of operations dataddwelve months ended December 31,
2008 and 2007. These operating results are nosgagly indicative of our operating results for doture period.

2008 2007
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 212% 74%
Gross margin (112)% 26%
Operating expense:
Research and developmt 45% 142%
Sales and marketir 54% 10(%
General and administrative 82% 162%
Total operating expenses 181% 404%
Operating loss (293)% (379%
Other income (expense
Interest and other incon — 2%
Interest and other expen (5) % (9) %
Foreign currency exchange rate | (12)% (11)%
Write off of receivable from Neonode A (39)% —
Gain on debt forgiveness of Neonode 135% —
Gain on troubled debt restructuri 46% —
Non-cash items related to debt discounts deferred financing fees and the valuatiol
conversion features and warrants 86% (1,149%
Total interest and other exper 212% (1,167%
Net loss (81)% (1,549)%

29




Net Sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 $7eBemillion, an approximately 133% increase fi$811 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. Revenue for the years endednibere31, 2008 and 2007 includes $6.9 million and $2illion revenue from the sales of
our multimedia mobile phones, respectively. In &ddj revenue in 2007 included $463,000 in licerssenue received from a July 2005
licensing agreement with a major Asian manufactudeereby we licensed our touchscreen technologyderin a mobile phone to be included
in its product assortment. In this agreement, weiwed an initial payment of approximately $2.0limil and we were to receive $2.65 for e
device manufactured using our technology in refarrgranting an exclusive right to use our toucheertechnology for a mobile phone han
for a period that expired in July 2007. We extenttedcontract for an additional one year periodl dnty 2008 on a non-exclusive basis
without the exclusive rights. The increase in NateS is primarily attributable to the sale of thedntory of approximately 28,000 of the N2
model of our multimedia mobile phone held by oumnfacturing partner in the fourth quarter of 2008r manufacturing partner applied the
cash proceeds from the sale to our outstandinguats@ayable balance with them.

We began shipping the N2 to our first costos in July 2007 but faced difficult circumstangefinding a viable market for our N2
mobile phone. We faced a competitive landscapehichwour major competitors were much better posé@tband capitalized. Over time, we
found that we lacked the requisite marketing antheoketing funding to enter the mainstream moblilere handset markets and as a result
were forced to focus our sales efforts on web baaéek and smaller less efficient markets.

On December 9, 2008, Neonode A&filor liquidation under the Swedish bankruptcydaweonode AB had a total of
approximately 10,000 N2 mobile phones in inventatryhe time of its bankruptcy filing. Effective WiNeonode AB’s bankruptcy filing on
December 9, 2008, Neonode Inc. is no longer imrtbbile phone business and no longer has any knma&ndial obligations related to the
accounts payable or other debts of Neonode AB.Svedish bankruptcy court continues to pursue saipsrtunities for Neonode AB’s
remaining inventory of the N2 mobile phones. Altbbuwe may be the beneficiary of a portion of arlgsaroceeds from such sales the
majority of any future sales proceeds from the sllae N2s in Neonode AB'’s inventory will be dibtrted to the creditors of Neonode AB by
the Swedish bankruptcy court. The intellectual propof Neonode AB was transferred to Neonode hir po filing for bankruptcy and
Neonode Inc will continue to pursue technology saled licensing opportunities through its newlyuige subsidiary AB Cypresse

On October 22, 2008, we terminated ouregent with Distribution Management Consolidaisridwide, LLC (DMC Worldwide)
and dissolved Neonode USA which was created foptimpose of distributing the N2 in the US and Cland to license our technology
worldwide.

We restructured and recapitalized our businessenedber 31, 2008 and now focus our business odetelopment of our
touchscreen user interface solutions that enalaplpéo interact more easily and intuitively withvade variety of mobile computing,
communications, entertainment, and other electrdeiéces. We target OEM’s which produce handheldogs for the digital lifestyle
consumer products market, including portable digitasic and video players, digital cameras, mopflenes, and other electronic devices
which may utilize our customized touchscreen useriace solutions.
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We do not have any customers for our touchscregmtdogy and currently believe that we will depemda limited number of OEM
customers for substantially all our future reverkalure to anticipate or respond adequately thrtetogical developments in our industry,
changes in customer or supplier requirements, an@és in regulatory requirements or industry stadgjar any significant delays in the
development or introduction of products or servioesild have a material adverse effect on our lgsinoperating results and cash flows.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of net salsq112)% and 26% in the years ended Decembel0B8, @d 2007, respectively. Our cost of
sales includes the direct cost of production ofthene plus the cost of our internal productionastepent and accrued estimated warranty
costs. In the year ended December 31, 2008, otio€sales includes an inventory write-down chao§810.2 million. We have experienced
limited success in selling our N2 mobile phone siimtroduction in 2007 and have reevaluated ouingetfforts and the potential markets for
the N2 in 2008. Based upon this reevaluation, wedael that it was probable that in 2008 we wouldehi@ reduce the selling price of our N2
phones and/or offer our customers substantial ineenin order to sell the N2. As a result of cewaluation, we recorded a write-down
reducing the value of our inventory to the estirdatsalizable value of our inventory prior to Neoad&B filing for bankruptcy on December 9,
2008.

We began producing and shipping our commercialgilaisle N2 mobile phone handsets in the seconddfi@007. The cost of sales for
2007 reflects the cost to produce the N2 mobilenghmandsets and a limited number of N1 and N1m le@lbione handsets delivered in the
first quarter of 2007. The start-up production rohshe new N2 mobile phone handsets had highds @droduction due to the price of
purchasing components in lower volumes.

Product Research and Development

Product research and development (R&D) expensdbdoyear ended December 31, 2008 were $3.3 milli®6% decrease compared to
$4.4 million for the same period ending DecemberZRD7.

The main factors that contributed to therdase in R&D costs are a decrease in the headobont engineering department from 14 to
three, primarily at the end of year, amounting tiearease in cost of $347,000 related to a decieaseployee related expense, along with a
decrease in external development costs associatiedhe& development of the N2 of $407,000 and aehese of $498,000 related to corporate
overhead, rent and travel related costs. On Oct@®beP008, our Swedish subsidiary, Neonode ABdffla company reorganization in
compliance with the Swedish Reorganization Act @964). In conjunction with the reorganization, seeuced our staffing levels across the
company and cancelled all outside contractors andultants and stopped all R&D projects relatedeteelopment and improvement of our
mobile phone products. Under the Swedish Reorgaoizact, the Swedish government assumed respditgittir payment of salaries and
benefits to Neonode AB’s employees on the day thedih court approved Neonode AB’s petition forgamization.

We are not currently planning to continue to puraog expenditure on R&D projects related to devielppr update our current or future
mobile phone products. As part of our corporateganization, we will continue to pursue R&D expdnds on the development of our
touchscreen and other technologies. We have aaaweint roadmap based on our touchscreen and ettierdlogies. As of March 31, 2009,
we have 10 employees of which eight are part ofemgineering department.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses for the year endeehiiier 31, 2008 were $3.9 million, compared to $3illion for the same period in
2007, an increase of 25%.
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This increase in the year ended Decembg2@08 over the same period in 2007 is primaglated to an increase in product marketing
activities as we attempted to sell our N2 mobilerghhandset in numerous markets in Europe and Axiaing 2007, we launched our N2
model phone handset at the 3GSM trade show in ReraeSpain and began shipments and sales and tingrkéorts in the second half of
2007. On October 22, 2008, our Swedish subsididepnode AB, filed for company reorganization in gdiance with the Swedish
Reorganization Act (1996:764). In conjunction witie reorganization, we reduced our staffing leael®ss the company and cancelled all
and promotional activities. Under the Swedish Ranization Act, the Swedish government assumed ressipibty for payment of salaries and
benefits to Neonode AB’s employees on the day thedssh court approved Neonode AB'’s petition forrgamization.

Our sales activities after our corporate reorgaiinawill focus primarily on OEM customers who wiitegrate our technology into their
products, and the OEM customers will sell and miattkeir products to their customers. As of March 109, we have two consultants in our
sales and marketing department.

General and Administrative

General and administrative (G&A) expenses for tbaryended December 31, 2008 were $6.0 million % ihérease from $5.1 million for
the same period in 2007.

The increase in 2008 over 2007 is primaelhated to approximately $2.0 million in legal axtounting costs, compared to $1.5 millio
2007. The legal and accounting expense increaseatiractly related to the costs associated withemuity raising activities and the accounting
complexity associated with complying with the fa@lue mark-to-market accounting treatment of complerivative and convertible financial
instruments. The year ended December 31, 2008radkales $225,000 in expense related to the tetmomaf the Neonode USA agreement.
On October 22, 2008, our Swedish subsidiary, Neerd8|, filed for company reorganization in compliangith the Swedish Reorganization
Act (1996:764). In conjunction with the reorganiaat we reduced our staffing levels across the @m@and cancelled all sales and
promotional activities. Under the Swedish Reorgatiin Act, the Swedish government assumed respiitysfbr payment of salaries and
benefits to Neonode AB’s employees on the day thed&h court approved Neonode AB’s petition forgamization. As of March 31, 2009,
we have two employees and one consultant in our @&partment fulfilling management and accountirgpoasibilities,

Interest Expense and Other Expense

Interest expense for the twelve months ended DeeefSth 2008 was $368,000 as compared to $295,00Bddwelve months ended
December 31, 2007. The $73,000 increase is dugdoéination of an increase in interest bearing dabstanding during mid-2007 and the
fact that the debt was discounted and we usedffibetige interest rate method for recording intéesgense.

Foreign Exchange Loss

Foreign exchange loss for the twelve months endszemMber 31, 2008 was $848,000 as compared to $8b#0the twelve months
ended December 31, 2007. The $494,000 increaseitoda large change in the exchange rate in thB&iar as compared to the Swedish
Krona in 2008 compared to 2007.

Write-off of Accounts Receivable from Subsidiary

On December 9, 2008, our Swedishididryg, Neonode AB, filed a petition for liquidatian compliance with the Swedish Bankruy
Act (1987:672). Mr. Hans Odén of the Stockholm-lla&ekordscentralen AB, a consultancy firm speciatizin insolvency, was appointed by
the district court of Stockholm to administer thegess. We wrote off our $2.8 million receivablenfr Neonode AB on December 9, 2008, the
date Neonode AB filed for bankruptcy.
Gain on debt forgiveness of Neonode AB

We recorded a gain on the forgiveness of debt @indde AB in bankruptcy totaling $9.8 million pursiiéo the requirements of
SFAS 15 Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for TroublecbbRestructuring.
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Non-cash Items Related to Debt Discounts and DeéerFinancing Fees and the Valuation of Conversiore&tures and Warrants

Non-cash items related to debt discountsdafierred financing fees and the valuation of cosiea features and warrants interest
for the year ended December 31, 2008 amountedytineof $9.6 million as compared to a $36.0 mill@pense for the same period in 2007.
The change is the direct result of exchangingotitetanding debt and a majority of the outstaneiagrants to equity (preferred stock A anc
which resulted in a troubled debt restructuringhgzi$3.4 million in 2008 combined with an overddicrease in the Company’s common stock
price that reduced the fair value of the of coniergeatures and warrants during 2008 as compar20@7 which resulted in marked-taarket
non-cash income of $6.3 million in 2008.

On December 29, 2008, the Company commenced egtetimNote Conversion Agreements with the holadrsonvertible notes and
promissory notes of the Company in the aggregatmuatof up to $6,341,611, for the issuance of up30,014 shares of Series A Preferred
Stock in exchange for the surrender of the Corblertiotes by the note holders. A total of 24 du2dnote holders agreed to the surrender of
notes and accrued interest on such notes in thegaig amount of $6,195,805 in consideration ferissuance of 244,265.56 shares of Series
A Preferred Stock on December 31, 2008. The fainer of the convertible notes and promissory natesrelated embedded conversion
features amounted to $3.1 million immediately pt@conversion, using the Black-Scholes optionipganodel. The assumptions used when
calculating the fair value of the common stock -aliltition feature were a term of 0.23 years, vditsitdf 357.2% and a risk-free interest rate of
0.11%. The fair value of the Series A Preferredlstan the date of conversion was $10 per shartea€ompany also raised $1.2 million in
cash from both inside and outside investors, wittside investors comprising approximately 51%. &dingly, the Company believes that the
$10 per share for the Series A shares is at an-l@mgsh price. This conversion resulted in trouldetbt restructuring accounting in accorda
with SFAS 15,Troubled Debt Restructuringnd the Company recorded a non-cash gain on cioners$3.4 million.

On December 29, 2008, the Company commenced egtiatm Warrant Conversion Agreements with the hadd warrants for the
purchase of shares, notes, and/or additional wardrthe Company, for the issuance of up to 10B@8tares of Series B Preferred Stock in
exchange for the surrender of the warrants by tagamt holders. The Company has entered into Wa@anversion Agreements with 92 out
of 129 warrant holders for the issuance of 92,73Slfares of Series B Preferred Stock on Decemh&(8B. The fair value of the converted
warrants which were recorded as liabilities amodinee$159,000 immediately prior to conversion, gdime Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The assumptions used when calculating fhedtue of the warrants prior to conversion weteran of 4.4 years, volatility of 152.3%
and a risk-free interest rate of 1.37%. The falugaf the Series B Preferred stock on the datmofersion was $0.022 per share, which is
based upon a fully diluted price per share usieg@bmpany’s market capitalization on that dates Toinversion resulted in troubled debt
restructuring accounting in accordance with SFASTt8ubled Debt Restructuringand the Company recorded a non-cash gain on cgiome
of $157,000.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 0% in the year endededdxer 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. We recovdkdhtion allowances in 2008 and
2007 for deferred tax assets related to net opgratisses due to the uncertainty of realizationofBecember 31, 2008, due to the bankruptcy
of Neonode AB, we no longer have any significanbamnts of net operating loss carryforwards and hewcsignificant amounts of deferred-
assets.

Net Loss

As a result of the factors discussed above, werdecba net loss of $5.9 million for the year enBetember 31, 2008 compared to a net
loss of $48.4 million in the comparable period G02.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity is dependent on many factors, inchglsales volume, operating profit and the efficieatasset use and turnover. Our future
liquidity will be affected by, among other things:

« actual versus anticipated licensing of our techgglo

« our actual versus anticipated operating expenses;

« the timing of our OEM customer product shipments;

« the timing of payment for our technology licensamgreements;
« our actual versus anticipated gross profit mar

« our ability to raise additional capital, if necessand

« our ability to secure credit facilities, if neces:

The consolidated financial statements includedihdrave been prepared on a going concern basishvelointemplates continuity of
operations and the realization of assets and repatyof liabilities in the ordinary course of busieeThe report of our independent registered
public accounting firm in respect of the 2008 fisgear, included elsewhere in this annual repadiudes an explanatory going concern
paragraph which raises substantial doubt to coatasua going concern, which indicates an absenskvwidus or reasonably assured sources of
future funding that will be required by us to maintongoing operations. Although we have been &bfend our operations to date, there is no
assurance that cash flow from our operations orcapital raising efforts will be able to attracetadditional capital or other funds needed to
sustain our operations. The going concern quatiioadfrom our auditors may make it more difficubirfus to raise funds. If we are unable to
obtain additional funding for operations, we may In@ able to continue operations as proposed, niaguis to modify our business plan, cur
various aspects of our operations or cease opesatio such event, investors may lose a porticallaf their investment.

On December 31, 2008, we completed certain refingrend capital raising transactions, acquired €ypen, and began operations with a
primary focus on licensing our touchscreen techgwlo third party OEM customers. We do not have @nyent active customer for our
touchscreen technology. In most circumstancesarget customers will have to successfully integoatetechnology into their products and
then sell those products to their customers bef@ravill receive any cash from those technologyris®agreements.

Our cash is subject to interest rate risk. We ihgésnarily on a short-term basis. Our financiatimument holdings at December 31, 2008
were analyzed to determine their sensitivity tetiest rate changes. The fair values of these imstnts were determined by net present values.
In our sensitivity analysis, the same change iargdt rate was used for all maturities and alloflaetors were held constant. If interest rates
increased by 10%, the expected effect on net klaged to our financial instruments would be immateThe functional currency of our
foreign subsidiary is the applicable local currerttye Swedish Krona, and is subject to foreignency exchange rate risk. Any increase or
decrease in the exchange rate of the U.S. Dollapased to the Swedish Krona will impact Neonodatsife operating results.

At December 31, 2008, we had cash and cash eqotgadé $17,000, as compared to $6.8 million (wih7$million held as restricted cas
at December 31, 2007. In the twelve month periatedrDecember 31, 2008, $15.3 million of cash wasl uis operating activities, primarily
a result of our net loss increased by the followiog-cash items (in thousands):

Depreciation and amortizatic $ 33¢
Stock-based compensation expel 1,162
Write-off of receivable from Neonode A 2,82¢
Write-down of inventory to net realizable val 10,15¢
Gain on debt forgiveness of Neonode (9,820
Gain on troubled debt restructuri (3.360
Change in fair value of embedded derivatives andamésrecorded as a liabilit (6,279
Total net non-cash items included in cash usediiroperations $ (4,979
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We provided bank guaranties totaling $5.7 milliencallateral for the performance of our obligatiomsler our agreement with our
manufacturing partner. The outstanding bank guaseikpired on December 29, 2007 and the funds mézased by our bank to cash on
January 2, 2008.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 20@8seid a combination of convertible notes and gdoit cash totaling $10.7 million.
At December 31, 2008, $1.0 million was include@asock subscription receivable and the cash pdsceere received in January and
February 2009. Adjusted working capital (deficityirent assets less current liabilities not inahgdnon-cash liabilities related to warrants and
embedded derivatives) was $962,000 at Decemb&0BB, compared to an adjusted working capital deffc$5.8 million at December 31,
2007.

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, wehpsed $205,000 of fixed assets, consisting pifynairmanufacturing tooling,
computers and engineering equipment.

On March 4, 2008, we sold $4.5 milliorsiecurities, net cash proceeds to us of $4.0 mjliima private placement to accredited
investors. We sold 1,800,000 shares of our comrtarkdor $2.50 per share. After placement agerd &el offering expenses, we receivec
proceeds of approximately $4.0 million. Empire Addanagement Company acted as financial advisathitransaction and was paid a cash
fee of approximately $450,000 and received 120g}@0es of our common stock.

On May 21, 2008, we completed a $5.1 orillinet cash proceeds to us of $4.1 million, fif@gp@rimarily to prior security holders,
directors, affiliates of management and institugidnvestors. We offered our existing warrant hasden opportunity to exercise Neonode
common stock purchase warrants on a discounted fzasa limited period, ended May 19, 2008. In 4JQ04,793 outstanding warrants were
exercised at a strike price of $1.27 per warrarg.i¥¢ued 4,004,793 shares of our common stockvemdéw common stock purchase
warrants, with an exercise price of $1.45, for eaatstanding warrant exercised. A total of 8,008,68w common stock purchase warrants
were issued to investors who surrendered or puechsisares under the warrant exchange offer. Wesatemded the maturity date of $2.85
million of convertible debt that was due on JuneZID8 until December 31, 2008 by issuing the hotders 510,293 common stock purchase
warrants, with an exercise price of $1.45. Empisset Management Company acted as financial adfdsthe transaction and was paid a
cash fee of approximately $510,000 and receivedraant to purchase 400,480 shares of our commak stdb1.27 per share and a warrant to
purchase 800,959 shares of our common stock ab $iedshare.

On December 30, 2008, we commenced enteringsubscription Agreements with certain subsaskthe “Subscribers”), for
the issuance of up to 150,000 shares of SerieefeiPed Stock to the Subscribers, at a price emqudl 0 per share, for an aggregate purchase
price of up to $1,500,000. As of December 31, 20@8entered into Subscription Agreements with difissribers who signed Subscription
Agreements and agreed to invest an aggregate D2$904. We issued 112,190.40 shares of our Serigeferred Stock to the investors on
December 31, 2008. We collected all the proceeats the financing transaction in January and Felyra@69.

The majority of our cash has been provioethorrowings from senior secured notes and bridges that have been or are convertible
into shares of our common stock or from the saleuwfcommon stock and common stock purchase wartargrivate investors. We have been
able to convert approximately $6.1 million of th@®million outstanding convertible debt to equite $139,000 convertible note that was
converted into equity is due in August 2010. W& reiquire sources of capital in addition to cashhand to continue operations and to
implement our strategy. Our operations are not faghpositive and we may be forced to seek cril facilities from financial institutions,
additional private equity investment or debt aremgnts. No assurances can be given that we wallibeessful in obtaining such additional
financing on reasonable terms, or at all. If adégfiands are not available on acceptable termat all, we may be unable to adequately fund
our business plans and it could have a negatiee®edin our business, results of operations andiahcondition. In addition, if funds are
available, the issuance of equity securities ousges convertible into equity could dilute thelwa of shares of our common stock and cause
the market price to fall, and the issuance of deburities could impose restrictive covenants ¢batd impair our ability to engage in certain
business transactions.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Neonode Inc
Stockholm, Sweden

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Neonode Inc. as of December 31, 2092@07, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldefiit, and cash flows for each of the two ye@rshe period ended December 31, 2008. In
connection with our audits of the financial stataetsgewe have also audited the schedule listeddratitompanying index. These financial
statements and the schedule are the responsitilihe Company’s management. Our responsibilitg isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements and the schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamio(United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintiecial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reporting.

Our audits included consideration of internal cohtwver financial reporting as a basis for desigrandit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgssimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimg&rnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An aullibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenppating the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopiion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referreadtove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Neonode Inc. at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results opisations and its cash flows for each of the teary in the period ended December 31,
2008, in conformity with accounting principles gemily accepted in the United States of America.

Also, in our opinion, the financial statement salledwhen considered in relation to the basic clidated financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly, in all material respedtg, information set forth therein.

The accompanying financial statements have begraped assuming that the Company will continue gsiag concern. As discussed in
the Liquidity section of Note 1 to the consolidafedhncial statements, the Company has sufferearrieg losses and negative cash flows from
operations and has a working capital deficiency thise substantial doubt about its ability to @mme as a going concern. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments thattmégult from the outcome from this uncertainty.

Stockholm, Sweden

April 14, 2009

BDO Feinstein International A BDO Feinstein International A
/s/ Johan Pharmans /sl Tommy Bergendal
Authorized Public Accountar Authorized Public Accountal
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance fobtfalaccounts of $0 and $4,264 at December 3082

and 2007, respective
Inventory
Prepaid expens
Other
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, |
Patents, ne
Other long term asse
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of convertible long term debt aedde:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenue
Embedded derivatives of convertible debt and was!
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long term convertible debt and lea:

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (note

Stockholders' deficit

Series A Preferred Stock, 899,081 shares authowatbdoar value $0.001 at December 31, 2008 855
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, d0G8e event of dissolution, each share of Sefie
Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference etquphr value of $0.001 over the shares of Commol

Stock)

Series B Preferred Stock, 108,850 shares authowtchar value $0.001at December 31, 2008 92,79
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, g6d8e event of dissolution, each share of SdBie
Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference etquphr value of $0.001 over the shares of Commol

Stock)

Common stock, 75,000,000 shares authorized witlvglaie $0.001 at December 31, 2008 and 2
respectively; 35,058,011 and 23,780,670 sharesdsand outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2!

respectively
Common stock additional paid in capi
Stock subscription receivab
Accumulated other comprehensive inco
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders' defic
Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit

NEONODE INC.

(In thousands)

Decembe Decembe
31, 2008 31, 2007
$ 17 $ 1,147
— 5,70z
— 86¢
— 6,61(
46 1,081
— 2
63 15,41(
11¢ 37¢
— 95
— 39t
$ 17¢  $ 16,27¢
$ 17 $ 132
68¢ 4,417
32C 1,391
— 2,97¢
— 9,507
— 674
1,02t 19,10(
207 60
1,23: 19,16(
3,531 —
2 P
35 24
61,01¢ 55,40t
(2,03%) —
— 354
(64,60:) (58,66¢)
(1,059 (2,885
$ 17¢  $ 16,27¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktiEssolidated Financial Statements.
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NEONODE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ende
December 31
2008 2007
Net revenue $ 7282 $ 3,132
Cost of sales 15,45¢ 2,315
Gross margit (8,177 81t
Operating expenst
Product research and developm 3,28¢ 4,44¢
Sales and marketir 3,94: 3,145
General and administrative 5,95’ 5,08(
Total operating expenses 13,18¢ 12,67¢
Operating los! (21,364 (11,862)
Interest and other incon 16 77
Interest and other expen (36€) (295)
Foreign currency exchange rate | (84¢) (359
Write-off of receivable from Neonode A (2,82¢) —
Gain on forgiveness of Neonode ’'s net liabilities 9,82( —
Gain on troubled debt restructuri 3,36( —
Non-cash items related to debt discounts and defdimadcing fees and the valuation of conversionuesg
and warrants 6,27¢ (36,009
Total interest and other expense 15,43( (36,580
Net loss $ (5,939 $ (48,44
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.2)) $ (3.15)
Basic and dilute~ weighted average shares used in per share congng 28,16¢ 15,40(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktiEssolidated Financial Statements.
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Amounts in thousanc
Balances, December 31, 20(

Exercise of stock options by certair
employees for cas

Employee stock option compensati
expens¢

Reclassification of warrants to equ

Advisory warrants issued on 5/18/
Conversion of pre-merger debt Au¢
10, 2007 to common stock and
warrants

Merger with SBE on Aug. 10, 20(
Equity contributed by SBE in merg

Merger cost:

Conversion of certain August Bridg
Notes on September 26, 20
Issuance of common stock in
September 2007 private placemen
net of cos!

Issuance of common stock under
stock based compensation pl:

Cashless exercise of employee
warrants

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balances, December 31, 20(

Employee stock options exercised
cash

Common stock issued related to
employee liabilities

Employee stock option compensati
expense

Conversion of debt to common sto
and warrant:

Shares of common stock issued
pursuant to private placement and
warrant repricing financing
transactions net of $1,137,000 cas
and $5,385,000 non-cash issuanc
costs

Conversion of warrant liability to
equity

Issuance of Series A Preferred stor
in financing transaction, net of
accrued issuance costs of $46,

Issuance of Series A Preferred stor
in debt conversion transaction, net
stock given in lieu of cash issuance
costs of $41,00

Issuance of Series A Preferred stor
in acquisition of Cypresse

Stock subscription receivable
associated with financing transactit
on December 31, 20(

Issuance of Series B Preferred stor
in warrant conversio

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balances, December 31, 20(

Series A Series B
Par Preferred Preferred
Common value of Additional stock Series A stock Series B Stock Accumulated
stock share: common paid-in- capital on shares Preferred shares Preferred  subscription  Comprehensive ~ Accumulated — Stock-holders'
issued (1) stock common stock issued stock issued stock receivable loss deficit equity (deficit)
10,28: $ 10 $ 3,49¢ - $ - - % $ - $ 88 $ (10,227 $ (6,63()
- - 161 - - - - - - 161
- - 40¢ - - - - - - 40¢
- - 5 - - - - - - 5
- - 15€ - - - - - - 15¢
10,09¢ 10 49,46: - - - - - - 49,47:
2,29¢ 2 @) - - - . - - 0
= = 1,197 = = = = = = 1,197
- - (122) - - - - - - (122)
76 - 29¢€ - - - - - - 29¢€
952 1 292 - - - - - - 29
23 0 52 - - - - - - 52
56 - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - 26€ - 26€
- (48,447 (48,44) 26€
(48,447
(48,179
23,78: 23 55,40¢ - - - - 354 (58,66¢) (2,88%)
21 - 38 - - - - - - 38
657 - 54 - - - - - - 54
- - 1,16 - - - - - - 1,167
10 - 15 - - - - - - 15
10,58¢ 11 4,27¢ - - - - - - 4,28t
- - 67 - - - - - - 67
= = = 112 1,07€¢ = = = = 1,07¢
- - - 24€ 2,44 - - - - 2,44:
- - - 49¢ 12 - - - - 12
- - - - - - (1,035 - - (1,03%)
- - - 93 - - - 2
- - - - - - - (354) - (354 348
- - - - - - - - (5,939 (5,939 34E
(5,939
5 58()
35,05¢ $ 35 % 61,01¢ 85t $ 3,531 93 $ $ 1,03) $ -3 164,602) $ 1,05%)




NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash bgeaperating activities
Stock based compensation expe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Gain on sale of property and equipm
Deferred interes
Write-down of inventory to net realizable val
Write-off of merger expense in excess of cash rece
Write-off of receivable from Neonode A
Gain on forgiveness of Neonode 's net liabilities
Gain on troubled debt restructuri
Debt discounts and deferred financing fees andahgation of conversion features and warr:
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Cumulative effect of the foreign exchange tranglatiates on the assets and liabilities of Neorfdsiéor
the period January 1, 2008 through December 9,,26@8ate of bankruptc
Accounts receivable and other as
Inventories
Prepaid expenst
Accounts payable and other accrued exp:
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activitie
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢
Deferred financing fee
Payment on notes payal
Proceeds from purchase of employee stock op
Cash increase resulting from merger and acquisitemsactions and sale of software busil
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, warramicieg and preferred stoc
Equity issuance cos
Merger cost:
Restricted cash
Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Interest paic

Supplemental disclosure of r-cash transactions
Fair value of warrants issued in repric

Fair value of warrants and Series A Preferred stssiked to financial advisors and Bridge Note halder
financing and restructuring transaction cc

Conversion of September convertible nc

Fair value of August note surrendered towards #eecése of r-priced warrant:

Fair value of Series A and B Preferred stock issoembnvert convertible notes and warrants totgc

Fair Value of stock issued to employees in settl@méemployee related vacation and severancditiabi

Fair value of warrant liability converted to equ

Conversion of pi-merger debt to common stock and warr

Twelve months ende

December 31

2008 2007

$ (5,93) $  (48,44)

1,16° 40¢

33¢ 29¢

16 —

— 34¢

10,15¢ —

— 15¢

2,82¢ —

(9,820) —
(3,360)

(6,27%) 36,00¢

5,221 —

87¢ (1,329

(3,089) (6,616)

1,03¢ 33¢

(5,47¢) 5,60¢

(2,979) 2,547

(15,30%) (10,67¢)

32 —

(205) (437)

(179 (437)

— 16,96¢

— (821)

— (92

38 217

12 1,21°

9,73: —

(1,137 —

— (227)

5,70z (5,469)

14,34¢ 11,78¢

— 10E

(1,130 77¢

1,147 36¢

$ 17 $ 1,14

$ 121 $ 10C

$ 13,78¢ $ —

$ 547: $ 862

$ 3 $ —

$ 37t $ —

$ 2,445 $ —

$ 54 $ —

$ 67 —

$ — $ 4947



Fair value of 495,000 shares of Series A Prefestack issued to related parties for 100% of AB @gpe!
Preferred Stock Series A Subscription Receiv

Fair value of equipment acquired in the merger \BBE, Inc.

Fair value of option granted to financial adviduattexpires June 20(

Equity contributed by SBE in merg

Conversion of August Bridge No

$
$
$
$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEssolidated Financial Statements.
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NEONODE INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of the business and operations

Neonode Inc. (the Company) was incorporated irbtia¢e of Delaware in 2006 as the parent of Neordlea company founded in
February 2004 and incorporated in Sweden. In Fepr2@04, Neonode AB acquired the assets, inclutfitapgible assets, relating to the
mobile phone business, in exchange for cash of $068nd the assumption of a loan of $141,000.0drapany allocated the consideration to
intangible assets in the amount of $284,000 aratjtopment in the amount of $25,000 based on relddir values. In February, 2006, a
corporate reorganization was effected by issuihgfahe shares of Neonode Inc. to the stockholdéideonode AB based upon the number
and class of shares owned by each in exchangd fafrthe outstanding stock of Neonode AB. Follogithe reorganization, Neonode AB
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Neonode In@ fdorganization was accounted for with no changeecounting basis for Neonode AB,
since there was no change in control of the Grdtp. consolidated accounts for the year ended DeeeB1h 2007 and through December 9,
2008, the date that Neonode AB filed for bankruptmmprise the accounts of the Companies as if tlagybeen owned by the Company
throughout the reporting periods.

On August 10, 2007, Cold Winter Acquisition Corgara (Cold Winter Acquisition Sub), a Delaware corgtion and wholly-owned
subsidiary of SBE, Inc., consummated a merger aatganization where Cold Winter Acquisition Sub weaerged with and into Neonode Inc.
a Delaware Corporation (Old Neonode), with Old Nt continuing after the merger as the survivingemtion and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SBE, Inc. (Merger). SBE, Inc.’s nawes subsequently changed to “Neonode Inc.” in cotiore with the completion of the
Merger.

After the Merger with Cold Winter Acquisition SubJd Neonode changed its name to Cold Winter, I8old Winter). Following the
closing of the Merger, the business and operatdi@old Winter prior to the Merger became the priyniausiness and operations of the newly-
combined company. The newly-combined company’s tyeaders was located in Stockholm, Sweden.

On December 9, 2008, Neonode AB filed for liquidatunder the Swedish bankruptcy laws. Effectivdnieonode AB’s bankruptcy
filing on December 9, 2008, Neonode Inc. is no kmig the mobile phone business and there are awikifinancial obligations related to the
accounts payable or other debts of Neonode ABNkanhode Inc has responsibility. The Consolidatede®tents of Operations and
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows include ¢beumts of Neonode AB for the year ended DecembgP@07 and the period January 1,
2008 through December 9, 2008, the date NeonodélédBfor bankruptcy.

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share BgehAgreement with AB Cypressen nr 9683 (CypresseB8edish engineering
company, and the stockholders of Cypressen: Ima BARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (the G3gmen Stockholders), pursuant to
which we agreed to acquire all of the issued andtanding shares of Cypressen in exchange fostumnce of shares of Neonode Inc Seri
Preferred Stock to the Cypressen Stockholdersisuat to the terms of the Share Exchange Agreempanh the closing of the transaction,
Cypressen became a wholly-owned subsidiary of thra@any. The Cypressen Stockholders are or wepdogees of the Company and/or
Neonode AB, and as such are related parties. Cygmedid not have any operations in 2008. The Cafedeld Balance Sheet of the Compi
as of December 31, 2008 includes the accounts pfeSgen which is comprised of cash totaling appmately $12,000. The acquisition of
Cypressen by Neonode Inc. does not qualify as méss combination, and accordingly the fair valfithe Preferred Stock Series A shares
issued to the sellers of Cypressen shares are @tecbfor as compensation. As there is an 18 msantvice requirement, the value of the Se
A Preferred Stock is amortized over the 18 montiiopebeginning from December 31, 2008.
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We specialize in finger based opticatanéd touchscreen technology which we refer toFasce ™. Our mission is to make the
easiest (to use and integrate), best (functionatity design) and cheapest touch screen solutidmafatheld devices. Through our wholly
owned subsidiary, Neonode AB, we developed an alptizichscreen mobile phone product, the NeonodthBt2provided a completely uniq
user experience that did not require any keypadsots, or other moving parts. We began shipgiegN2 to our first customers in July 2007
but faced difficult circumstances in finding a Vialnarket for our N2 mobile phone. We faced a cditipe landscape in which our major
competitors were much better positioned and capial Over time, we found that we lacked the ratpiimarketing and co-marketing funding
to enter the mainstream mobile phone handset nsasket as a result were forced to focus our salegebn web based sales and smaller less
efficient markets. In addition, as a result of saeehnology issues that impacted the N2 phone tieeeim certain geographical regions
(reception in certain geographical regions had nstaic, but the N2 phones still functioned). Begirg March 2008, we began to initiate a
voluntary recall of our N2 phones to provide a foluto eliminate the static reception issues afgghones. The voluntary recall slowed our
ability to market our phones in the certain geobiegd regions until the voluntary recall processwampleted in May 2008. On December 9,
2008, Neonode AB filed for liquidation under the &lish bankruptcy laws. Neonode AB had a totalpgireximately 10,000 N2 mobile
phones in inventory at the time of its bankruptiting. The Swedish bankruptcy court continues tospe sales opportunities for Neonode AB’
remaining inventory of N2 mobile phones. Althougé may be the beneficiary of a portion of any spleseeds from such sales, the majority,
if not all, of any future sales proceeds from take ©f the N2s in Neonode AB’s inventory will beslibuted to the creditors of Neonode AB by
the Swedish bankruptcy court.

Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have begraped on a going concern basis, which contempiaterealization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary courskEbusiness. We have incurred net operating lossdsegative operating cash flows since
inception. As of December 31, 2008, we had an actated deficit of $64.6 million and working capitficit (current assets less current
liabilities not including norcash liabilities related to warrants and embeddgtvdtives) of $962,000. Our operations are sulifecertain risk
and uncertainties frequently encountered by congzaini the early stages of operations. Such risdsuacertainties include, but are not limited
to, technical and quality problems in new produalslity to raise additional funds, credit riskedacosts for developing new products. Our
ability to generate revenues in the future will éeg substantially on our ability to resolve quagitpblems, raise additional funds through debt
or equity, and enter customer contracts with custsrthat are financially stable. In December 2088completed a private placement offering
of $1.1 million of our Preferred stock. The stockscription agreements related to this privategteent were executed as of December 31,
2008 and the cash proceeds were received in Jaaodrifebruary of 2009. The subscription receivedikged to this private placement
transaction was recorded as an offset to our equiBecember 31, 2008. We were successful in reggaia deferral of payment of
approximately $200,000 of our outstanding accopatsble and accrued expenses at December 31, 2liDBecember 2009 and we
converted approximately $53,000 of our account@pkeyto shares of our common stock in January 2009.

There is no assurance that we will be successfoibiaining sufficient funding on acceptable terihat all. If we are unable to secure
additional funding and/or our stockholders, if riegd, do not approve such financing, we would htaveurtail certain expenditures which we
consider necessary for optimizing the probabilitguccess of developing new products and execuatimgusiness plan. If we are unable to
obtain additional funding for operations, we may In@ able to continue operations as proposed, niaguis to modify our business plan, cur
various aspects of our operations or cease opasafite financial statements do not include anysigjents related to the recovery of assets
and classification of liabilities that might be rasary should we be unable to continue as a goingeen.
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Refinancing and Capital Raising Transactions

On December 27, 2008, to reorganize the capitatttre and to raise capital to finance the Compmahysiness going forward, our Board
of Directors approved our entry into several raficiag and capital raising agreements (together;Refinancing Agreements”) relating to the
unregistered sale of up to an aggregate amour@®081 shares of our Series A Preferred stockyalae $0.001 per share and 108,850 shares
of our Series B Preferred stock, par value $0.004.contemplated that each share of Series Adied will be converted into 480.63 share
our common stock and that each share of SerieefiiPed will be converted into 132.07 shares ofammmon stock.

On December 29, 2008, we commenced entering inte Nonversion Agreements with the holders of ounveatible notes and
promissory notes in the aggregate amount of us184,611, for the issuance of up to 250,014 shafrEeries A Preferred Stock, in exchange
for the surrender of the Convertible Notes by thterolders. A total of 24 out of 27 note holdegseed to the surrender of notes and accrued
interest on such notes in the aggregate amouri,®®%,805 in consideration for the issuance iratlgregate of 244,265.56 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock on December 31, 2008.

On December 29, 2008, we commenced entering intgaMaConversion Agreements with the holders oframts for the purchase of
our shares, notes, and/or additional warrantghiissuance of up to 108,850 shares of Seriegfefed Stock in exchange for the surrender
of the warrants by the warrant holders. We enteredWarrant Conversion Agreements with 92 out2® warrant holders for the issuance in
the aggregate of 92,795.23 shares of Series Briredf8tock on December 31, 2008.

On December 30, 2008, we commenced entering inbs@@iption Agreements with certain subscribers €8tibers), for the issuance
of up to 150,000 shares of Series A Preferred Simthe Subscribers, at $10 per share, for an ggtgeurchase price of up to $1,500,000. As
of December 31, 2008, we entered into Subscriptigreements with 10 subscribers who have signed@igtiosn Agreements and have agr
to invest an aggregate of $1,121,904. We issu@dl90.40 shares of our Series A Preferred StotheaGubscribers on December 31, 2008.

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share Bgehagreement with AB Cypressen nr 9683 (Cypresserg the stockholders
Cypressen: Iwo Jima SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, andeftiis Ltd. (the Cypressen Stockholders), pursuamhich we agreed to acquire all of
the issued and outstanding shares of Cypressestivarge for the issuance of 495,000 shares of SArRreferred Stock to the Cypressen
Stockholder on December 31, 2008. Pursuant ttetimes of the Share Exchange Agreement, upon tlsingl@f the transaction, Cypressen
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

In addition, on December 31, 2008, we issued 4dbB8es of Series A Preferred Stock to Ellis Inteonal LP as full consideration f
certain services supplied by Ellis InternationaltbRhe Company. We recorded a value of $41,00fhke shares issued to Ellis International
LP.

Neonode AB Bankruptcy

On December 9, 2008, Neonode AB, our wholly owndusgliary located in Sweden, filed for liquidationder the bankruptcy laws in
Sweden. Under Swedish bankruptcy law, effectivéathie bankruptcy filing we no longer have an owhgrénterest in Neonode AB, and as
such, we are no longer responsible for the lidéflibf Neonode AB and we no longer have title ooanership interest in the assets of
Neonode AB. The Swedish bankruptcy court appoiat&dvedish legal firm as receiver with the expresidy to liquidate all the assets
Neonode AB and enter into final settlements with ¢heditors of Neonode Al

We account for our investment in Neonode AB in adaoce with the AICPA Statement of Position, SOF7 9Financial Reporting by
Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy €@nd Accounting Research Bulletin, ARB ®lgnsolidate Financial StatementsARB
51 precludes consolidation of a majority-owned &libsy where control does not rest with the majoatwvners, for instance, where the
subsidiary is in bankruptcy. Accordingly, we desolidated Neonode AB from our consolidated finahsiatements on the date it filed for
bankruptcy, December 9, 2008.

Our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Qidased Statements of Cash Flows includes the atsmf Neonode AB for the year
ended December 31, 2007 and for the period Jariy&908 through December 9, 2008, the date NeoA&d#ed for bankruptcy. Since we
no longer have an ownership interest in Neonodewdrecorded a write-off of our receivable from Nede AB totaling $2.8 million on the
date Neonode AB filed for bankruptcy. We also relegra gain on debt forgiveness of Neonode AB irkhagtcy totaling $9.8 million pursue
to the requirements of SFAS 1&¢counting by Debtors and Creditors for TroublecbDRestructuring.
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Our Consolidated Balance Sheet does not includadbeunts of Neonode AB at December 31, 2008.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have beguaped in accordance with accounting principles glyeaccepted in the United Ste
of America. The consolidated financial statementdtie year ended December 31, 2007 include theuats of Neonode Inc. and its subsid
based in Sweden, Neonode AB. All inmrmpany accounts and transactions have been etadina consolidation. The consolida
Statements of Operations and Cash Flows for thegrded December 31, 2008 include the accountddonode Inc. and Neonode AB for
period January 1, 2008 through December 9, 2008 dtdte that Neonode AB filed for bankruptcy. Then§&idated Balance Sheet a:
December 31, 2008 includes the accounts of Neohadand Cypressen.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees making estimates and
assumptions that affect, at the date of the firdrstatements, the reported amounts of assetsahilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue exuknses. Actual results could differ from thest@reates. Significant estimates include but
are not limited to collectibility of accounts reeable, carrying value of inventory, estimated ukifes of long-lived assets, recoverable
amounts and fair values of intangible assets, hedadir value of securities such as options andamds issued for stock-based compensation
and in certain financing transactions.

Cash
We have not had any liquid investments other trmmal cash deposits with bank institutions to date.
Restricted Cash

We have provided bank guaranties totaling $5.7ionilas collateral for the performance of our oliig@s under our agreement with our
manufacturing partner. The outstanding bank guaseixpired at December 29, 2007 and the funds mézased by our bank to cash on
January 2, 2008. The cash restricted from withdréywaur bank to secure the obligations of the bgu&ranty is shown as restricted cash
within current assets as of December 31, 2007.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acous

Our net accounts receivable are stated at nezatddi value. Our policy is to maintain allowancaisdstimated losses resulting from the
inability of our customers to make required payrae@tredit limits are established through a prooéssviewing the financial history and
stability of each customer. Where appropriate, iMaio credit rating reports and financial statersaritthe customer when determining or
modifying its credit limits. We regularly evaluatee collectibility of our trade receivable balantesed on a combination of factors. When a
customer’s account balance becomes past due, tiadsidialogue with the customer to determinecthese. If it is determined that the
customer will be unable to meet its financial ohtign, such as in the case of a bankruptcy fildejerioration in the customer’s operating
results or financial position or other material mgeimpacting its business, we record a specifaance to reduce the related receivable to the
amount we expect to recover. Should all effortstéarecover the related receivable, we will writithe account. We also record an allowance
for all customers based on certain other factarkiding the length of time the receivables are pastand historical collection experience with
customers.
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Machinery and Equipment

Machinery and equipment are stated at cost, net@imulated depreciation and amortization. Deptieciand amortization are computed
using the straight-line method based upon estimagetll lives of the assets ranging from one te fiears as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Tooling 1 year
Computer equipmer 3 years
Furniture and fixture 5 years

Equipment purchased under capital leases is aradrtin a straight-line basis over the estimatedulitiéd of the asset.

Upon retirement or sale of property and equipmerdf and accumulated depreciation are removed tihheraccounts and any gains or
losses are reflected in the statement of operatiasitenance and repairs are charged to expengsewsed.

Long-lived Assets

We assess any impairment by estimatindutuze cash flow from the associated asset in aleoare with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 14&counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assets|f the estimated undiscounted future
cash flow related to these assets decreases osélfig life is shorter than originally estimateds may incur charges for impairment of these
assets. The impairment is based on the estimasedutited cash flow associated with the asset.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasyttie applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdinee translation from Swedish Krona
to U.S. Dollars is performed for balance sheet antousing current exchange rates in effect abéh@nce sheet date and for income statement
accounts using a weighted average exchange ratgdhe period. Gains or losses resulting fromgfation are included as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive @as or losses resulting from foreign currencpdetions are included in other income
(expense). In addition, as Neonode AB enteredbatikruptcy and we no longer control that entitg, fibreign currency translation adjustment
account relating to Neonode AB was written off iotor statement of operations during the year e@@&. Foreign currency transaction
losses included in other income and (expense) $&48,000 and $354,000 during the years ended Dexredih 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Liability for Warrants and Embedded Derivatives

We do not enter into derivative contracts for pwgmof risk management or speculation. Howevem fime to time, we enter into
contracts that are not considered derivative fir@rnestruments in their entirety but that incluelmbedded derivative features. Such embedded
derivatives are assessed at inception of the adrdral every reporting period, depending on thiedrracteristics, are accounted for as separate
derivative financial instruments pursuant to SFAS,/Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirdivities, as amended (together,
SFAS 133), if such embedded conversion featurdseestanding, would meet the classification agahility. SFAS 133 requires that we
analyze all material contracts and determine whiethaot they contain embedded derivatives. Anyhsmbedded conversion features that
meet the above criteria are then bifurcated froair thost contract and recorded on the consolidatéahce sheet at fair value and the changes
in the fair value of these derivatives are recorel@ch period in the consolidated statements ofatipeis as an increase or decrease to Non-cas
charges for conversion features and warrants.
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Similarly, if warrants meet the classification @ftilities in accordance with EITF 00-18¢ccounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Compa@ys Stocl, then the fair value of the warrants are recomtethe consolidated balance st
at their fair values, and any changes in suchvaires are recorded each period in the consolidatgdments of operations as an increase or
decrease to Non-cash charges for conversion fesagune warrants.

Revenue Recognition
Neonode AB Mobile Phone Business and Licensingiofr@ellectual Property :

Our policy is to recognize revenue from producesathen title transfers and risk of loss has pass#te customer, which is generally
upon shipment of products to our customers. Wenasé expected sales returns and record the amsanteauction of revenues and cost of
sales at the time of shipment. Our policy complis the guidance provided by the Securities andnarge Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin (SAB) No. 104Revenue Recognition in Financial Statemestsjed by the Securities and Exchange Commissi@nraabgnize
revenue from the sale of our mobile phones wheafdhe following conditions have been met: (1)derice exists of an arrangement with the
customer, typically consisting of a purchase omtezontract; (2) our products have been deliveretresk of loss has passed to the customer;
(3) we have completed all of the necessary terntken€ontract; (4) the amount of revenue to whiehane entitled is fixed or determinable; .
(5) we believe it is probable that we will be atdecollect the amount due from the customer. Toetktent that one or more of these conditions
has not been satisfied, we defer recognition oémere. Judgments are required in evaluating thetexedthiness of our customers. Revenue is
not recognized until we have determined that ctibéity is reasonably assured.

To date, our revenues generated by the sale ofddeoAB’s mobile phones have consisted primarilgaés to distributors. From time to
time, we allowed certain distributors price prot@ctsubsequent to the initial product shipmentcéfrotection would have allowed the
distributor a credit (either in cash or as a distan future purchases) if there was a price dserearing a specified period of time or until the
distributor resold the goods. We deferred recognitf revenue (in the balance sheet line item ‘ideterevenue”) derived from sales to these
customers until they resold our mobile phone prégltetheir customers. Although revenue recogniéiod related cost of sales were deferred,
we recorded accounts receivable at the time dgalrptoduct shipment. As standard terms were gdigef®B shipping point, payment terms
were enforced from the shipment date and legal itld risk of inventory loss passed to the distobupon shipment.

For products sold to distributors with agreemetitsrdng for price protection and product returns vecognized revenue based on our
estimate of when the distributor sold the prodadts end customer. Our estimate of such distribsidi-through was based on information
received from our distributors. Revenue was navgazed upon shipment since, due to various forhpsioe concessions; the sales price was
not substantially fixed or determinable at thatetim

Revenue from products sold directly to end-usesagh our web sales channels were generally recedmihen title and risk of loss has

passed to the buyer, which typically occurs updprebnt. Reserves for sales returns are estimatgetiqarimarily on historical experience and
were provided at the time of shipment.
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Revenue for the twelve months ended December 37, Rludes revenue from the sales of our first iegthone, the N1, and from our
second product, the N2 multimedia mobile phone,rerdnue from one licensing agreement with a magimn manufacturer. In July 2005,
entered into a licensing agreement with a majoaAsnanufacturer whereby we licensed our touchsdegdmology for use in a mobile phone
to be included in their product assortment. In Hyseement, we received approximately $2.0 millioreturn for granting an exclusive right to
use our touchscreen technology over a two-yeaog@éhiat ended July 2007. The exclusive rightsnaidlimit our right to use our licensed
technology for our own use, nor to grant to thiedtigs rights to use our licensed technology inaks/other than mobile phones. Another
component of the agreement provided for a fee pfapmately $2.65 per telephone if the Asian maotufier sells mobile phones based on
technology. In July 2007, we extended this licesge=ement on a non-exclusive basis for an additi@mm of one year. As of December 31,
2008, the Asian manufacturer had not sold any redblephones using our technology.

The net revenue related to this agreement wasaaéldover the term of the agreement, amounting&3$00 in 2007. The contract also
included consulting services to be provided by N&enon an “as needed basis.” The fees for thessmuttancy services varied from hourly
rates to monthly rates and were based on reasonarket rates for such services. To date, we havprovided any consulting service rels
to this agreement.

Generally, our customers are responsible for tlyengat of all shipping and handling charges direutith the freight carriers.
Post-Restructuring Technology Licensing Business:

Our policy is to recognize revenue from technolt@yicenses upon the acceptance of our technolggyub customers. Our policy
complies with the guidance provided by SAB No. 104 will recognize revenue from the licensing of tachnology when all of the followil
conditions have been met: (1) evidence exists @reangement with the customer, typically consgstiha purchase order or contract; (2) our
products have been delivered and risk of loss hasqul to the customer; (3) we have completed #tleohecessary terms of the contract; (4)
the amount of revenue to which we are entitledkisdf or determinable; and (5) we believe it is @iole that we will be able to collect the
amount due from the customer. To the extent thatasrmore of these conditions has not been satjsfie defer recognition of revenue.
Judgments are required in evaluating the credithirmess of our customers. Credit will only be extet to customers and revenue will only be
recognized after we have determined that collditibs reasonably assured. To date we have natredtinto any technology licensing
contracts except for those previously discussed.

Hardware Product:

We may from time-to-time develop custom hardwawspcts for our customers that incorporate our tea¥en technology. Our policy is
to recognize revenue from hardware product saleswitie transfers and risk of loss has passedaa@ustomer, which is generally upon
shipment of our hardware products to our custonWwisdefer and recognize service revenue over theamiual period or as services are
rendered. We estimate expected sales returns aaddrthe amount as a reduction of revenue andoddetrdware and other revenue at the 1
of shipment. Our policy complies with the guidaprevided by SAB No. 104. Judgments are requiresveduating the credit worthiness of
customers. Credit will only be extended to custaard revenue will only be recognized after we tadatermined that collectibility is
reasonably assured. Our sales transactions arenileated in U.S. dollars or Euros. The software congmt of our hardware products is
considered incidental. Therefore, we do not recsoftware revenue related to our hardware prischgparately from the hardware product
sale. To date, we have not sold any hardware pteduc

When selling hardware, we expect our agreements®@itginal Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) to inamgte clauses reflecting the
following understandings:

- all prices are fixed and determinable at the tifhsate;

- title and risk of loss pass at the time of shipm(&@B shipping point)

- collectibility of the sales price is probable (&M is creditworthy, the OEM is obligated to paydauch obligation is not contingent
on the ultimate sale of the OF s integrated solution

- the OEN's obligation to us will not be changed in the ewafrtheft or physical destruction or damage ofpheduct;
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- we do not have significant obligations for futuerformance to directly assist in the resale ofgteeluct by the OEMSs; ar
- there is no contractual right of return other tf@ndefective products

Software Products:

We may derive revenues from the following sour¢gpsoftware, which includes our Neno™ softwaretises and (2) engineering
services, which include consulting. We accountlferlicensing of software in accordance with Amani¢nstitute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position (SOPP9%oftware Revenue Recogniti@OP 97-2 requires judgment, including whether a
software arrangement includes multiple elementd,ifago, whether vendor-specific objective evide(d8OE) of fair value exists for those
elements. These documents include post deliverga@tipupgrades, and similar services.

For software license arrangements that do not recgignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize n
software license revenue when: (1) we enter ifegally binding arrangement with a customer forltbense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixeceterchinable and free of contingencies or significarcertainties; and (4) collection is
reasonably assured. We initially defer all reveralated to the software license and maintenanceuetl such time that we are able to
establish VSOE for these elements of our softwasdyrts. Revenue deferred under these arrangemseetsognized to revenue over the
expected contract term. We will also continue tfedesvenues that represent undelivered post-dglieegineering support until the
engineering support has been completed and theaefioroduct is accepted. To date, we have notasoidsoftware products.

Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services toaustomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. ¥éegnize revenue as the engineering
services stipulated under the contact are comphatecaccepted by our customers. To date, we hav&itbany engineering services.

Warranty Reserves

Our mobile phone products were generally warraagginst defects for 12 months following the sale. Mdve a 12 month warranty from
the manufacturer of the mobile phones. Reservegdtamtial warranty claims not covered by the maotufrer were provided at the time of
revenue recognition and were based on severalr&dteluding current sales levels and our estimétepair costs. Shipping and handling
charges were expensed as incurred. Upon filingp&mkruptcy on December 9, 2008, the warranty ofitiga related to Neonode A8previou
sales of mobile phone products were transferréde@wedish bankruptcy court along with all theetsand liabilities of Neonode AB.

We do not anticipate that our technology produdtshave any warranty obligations associated witkhses related to these technologies.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Extaxheertising costs amounted to $452,000 and $681f0r the years ending December
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Research and Development
Research and Development (R&D) costs are expersettarred. R&D costs are accounted for in accardamith Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.AGcounting for Research and Development Cé&tsearch and development costs consist mainly of
personnel related costs in addition to some exteoressultancy costs such as testing, certifying medsurements.
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Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subjectasoncentrations of credit risk consist principaf accounts receivable with customers.
Since we are in the process of getting our tectgyolo market, our first customers will comprise 0%8 percent of revenue and we will nee
rely on a smaller customer base as we grow. Wetainiallowances for potential credit losses, ifessary.

Risk and Uncertainties

Our long-term success is dependent on our obtagifficient capital to fund our operations and éwelop our products, and on our
bringing such products to the worldwide market ahthining sufficient sales volume to be profitafile.achieve these objectives, we will be
required to raise additional capital through publigrivate financings or other arrangements. hinca be assured that such financings will be
available on terms attractive to us, if at all. Bfinancings may be dilutive to our stockholderd amy contain restrictive covenants.

We are subject to certain risks common to technelmgsed companies in similar stages of developniintcipal risks include risks
relating to the uncertainty of market acceptanceto products, a history of losses since inceptium ability to remain competitive in respo
to new technologies, the costs to defend, as wailsés of losing, patents and intellectual propeghts, a reliance on a limited number of
suppliers, the concentration of our operationslimaed number of facilities, the uncertainty afrdand for our products in certain markets, our
ability to manage growth effectively, our dependeno key members of our management and developesmt our limited experience in
conducting operations internationally, and ourigbib obtain adequate capital to fund future ofierss.

We are exposed to a number of economic and indtesttgrs that could result in portions of our teglogy becoming obsolete or not
gaining market acceptance. These factors inclugteate not limited to, technological changes in miarkets, our ability to meet changing
customer requirements, competitive pressures idymts and prices, and the ability of our custon@rsanufacture and sell their products that
incorporate our technology.

A significant portion of our business is conducitedurrencies other than the U.S. dollar (the auzyen which its financial statements are
reported), primarily the Swedish Krona and, tossé extent, the Euro. We incur a significant portf our expenses in Swedish kronor,
including a significant portion of our product déy@ment expense and a substantial portion of oneiged and administrative expenses. As a
result, appreciation of the value of the Swedisbhriérrelative to the other currencies, particulérly U.S. dollar, could adversely affect
operating results. We do not currently undertaldgiveg transactions to cover our currency expodurewe may choose to hedge a portion of
our currency exposure in the future as it deemscgyjate.

Our future success depends on market acceptarmee téchnology as well as our ability to introduneav versions of our technology to
meet the evolving needs of our customers.

Stock Based Compensation Expense

We follow the guidance under SFAS 123 (revisedd2@hare-Based Payment (SFAS 123Rlich establishes standards for the
accounting of transactions in which an entity exajes its equity instruments for goods or servipagyarily focusing on accounting for
transactions where an entity obtains employee @esvin share based payment transactions. SFAS rE2ites a public entity to measure the
cost of employee services received in exchangarf@ward of equity instruments, including shareomst, based on the fair value of the award
on the grant date, and to recognize it as compemsaxpense over the period the employee is reditiirgprovide service in exchange for the
award, usually the vesting period.
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We account for equity instruments issued to nonleyges in accordance with SFAS 123R and Emergisuets Task Force (EITF) 96-18,
Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issuz@®ther than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjtmie with Selling, Goods or Servic,
which require that such equity instruments be réedrat their fair value and the unvested portiaeimeasured each reporting period. When
determining stock based compensation expense iimgpbptions and warrants, we determine the estidhfatie value of options and warrants
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Accounting for Debt Issued with Detachable Stockfiehase Warrants

We account for debt issued with stock purchaseam#srin accordance with APB Opinion 14, AccounfimgConvertible Debts and Debts
issued with Stock Purchase Warranisthe warrants meet equity classification. Wieedte the proceeds of the debt between the debthaen
detachable warrants based on the relative fairegadii the debt security without the warrants aedwhrrants themselves, if the warrants are
equity instruments. At each balance sheet date aleera determination if these warrants instrumergiassified as liabilities or equity. The
warrants were classified as a liability pursuanth®sguidance provided in paragraph 17 of EITF 80The warrants were recorded among
“Liability for warrants to purchase common stockidaare valued at fair valued at the end of eacbrtew period using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. As of December 31, 2008 04lihe outstanding warrants are classified as gguit

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SEB&Accounting for Income TaxeSFAS 109 requires recognition of deferred tax
liabilities and assets for the expected futurecaxsequences of items that have been includectifirthncial statements or tax returns. We
estimate income taxes based on rates in effe@dh ef the jurisdictions in which it operates. Dede income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based upon differences between thedialastatement and income tax bases of assetdatilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expettetverse. The realization of deferred tax agsdiased on historical tax positions and
expectations about future taxable income. Valuadiimwances are recorded against net deferredstset@where, in our opinion, realization is
uncertain based on the “not more likely than noifecia of SFAS 109.

Based on the uncertainty of future pre-tax incowe fully reserved our net deferred tax assets &ecember 31, 2008 and 2007. In the
event we were to determine that we would be abtedtize our deferred tax assets in the futuredinstment to the deferred tax asset would
increase income in the period such a determinat@smmade. The provision for income taxes repregbataet change in deferred tax amounts,
plus income taxes payable for the current period.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisifrFinancial Accounting Standards Board (FASBgipretation No. 48 (FIN 48),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Ta, which provisions included a two-step approactetmgnizing, de-recognizing and measuring
uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordavite SFAS 109. As a result of the implementatiéfirtN 48, we recognized no increase in
the liability for unrecognized tax benefits. Thenef upon implementation of FIN 48, we recognizednaderial adjustment to the January 1,
2007 balance of retained earnings. As of Decembg?2@08, we had no unrecognized tax benefits.

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share amounts has been computedondarce with SFAS 12&arnings per ShareFor each of the periods presented, basic
loss per share amounts were computed based oreighted average number of shares of common staskamaling during the period. Net I
per share, assuming dilution amounts from commeockstquivalents, are computed based on the weighwehge number of shares of
common stock and potential common stock equivaleatstanding during the period. The weighted averagnbers of shares of common
stock and potential common stock equivalents usedimputing the net loss per share for the tweleatmperiods ending December 31, 2008
and 2007 exclude the potential common stock egeits) as the effect would be anti-dilutive.

51




Comprehensive Loss

We apply SFAS 13®Reporting Comprehensive Incomehich establishes standards for reporting anplalying all changes in equity
other than transaction with owners in their caa&st owners. Our comprehensive loss includes foreigrency translation gains and losses
reflected in equity. We have reported the compamehtomprehensive loss in our Consolidated Statésraf Stockholders' Deficit.

Cash Flow Information

Cash flows in foreign currencies have been conddddJ.S. dollars at an approximate weighted aveeghange rate for the respective
reporting periods. The weighted average exchargdeoathe Consolidated Statements of Operatiors®s8 and 6.76 Swedish Krona to one
U.S. Dollar for the year ended December 31, 20@B2007, respectively. The weighted average excheatgdor the Consolidated Balance
Sheets was 7.84 and 6.47 Swedish Krona to oneDdlfar as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respdgtive

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We disclose the estimated fair values for all firiahinstruments for which it is practicable toiesite fair value. Financial instruments
including cash and cash equivalents, receivabldgagables and current portions of long-term debtd@emed to approximate fair value due
to their short maturities. The carrying amount$oofy-term debt and capitalized lease obligatiolesadso deemed to approximate their fair
values. Since no quoted market prices exist faaaeof our financial instruments, the fair valsuch instruments have been derived based
on our assumptions, the estimated amount and tigfifigture cash flows and estimated discount rddéerent assumptions could
significantly affect these estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following are the expected effects of recerbaating pronouncements. We are required to anahgse pronouncements and
determine the effect, if any; that the adoptiothafse pronouncements would have on our resultperfations or financial position.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&udlard (FASB) issued Statement on Financial ActingrStandards (SFAS) No.
141 (revised 2007Business CombinatiofSFAS No. 141R). SFAS 141R establishes principtesraquirements for how an acquirer
recognizes and measures in its financial statenteatslentifiable assets acquired, the liabilidsesumed, any noncontrolling interest in the
acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 14l5B astablishes disclosure requirements to enhblevaluation of the nature and financial
effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 14lé¥fective as of the beginning of an entity’céibyear that begins after 15 December
2008, and will be adopted in the first quarter 02. The adoption of SFAS 141R will affect the weg account for any acquisitions made
after January 1, 2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement afi€ial Accounting Standards No. 157 (SFAS 1538jr Value Measurementshich
defines fair value, establishes guidelines for ragag fair value and expands disclosures regartiiitgzalue measurements. SFAS 157 does
not require any new fair value measurements, kiberaeliminates inconsistencies in guidance founeairious prior accounting
pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for finanassets and financial liabilities within its scdpe fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007 and for interim periods within those fisgsars. We adopted SFAS 157 for financial assadsfimancial liabilities within its scope
during the first quarter of 2008, and the adopt@hnot have an impact on our financial statemdnt§ebruary 2008, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 (FSP FAS 157&ffective Date of FASB Statement No. MTich defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for all
non-financial assets and non-financial liabiliiesfiscal years beginning after November 15, 2868 interim periods within those fiscal years
for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2. Theptidn of FSP FAS 157-2 effective January 1, 2@0%te Company’s non-financial assets
and non-financial liabilities is not expected tov@é@n impact on our consolidated financial statedmen
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS Naihcontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htementsSFAS 160 establishes new
standards that will govern the accounting for aqbrting of noncontrolling interests in partiallwioed subsidiaries. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15820 requires retroactive adoption of the presiemtand disclosure requirements for
existing minority interests. All other requiremestsall be applied prospectively. The adoption ¢f #iandard will have no impact on the
financial results of the Company on the date ofpéida.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 1Bisclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddhativities - an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133as amended and interpreted, which requires eelatisclosures about an entity’s derivative andyiregactivities and
thereby improves the transparency of financial riégpg. Disclosing the fair values of derivative tnsnents and their gains and losses in a
tabular format provides a more complete picturéheflocation in an entity’s financial statementdoth the derivative positions existing at
period end and the effect of using derivativesmtythe reporting period. Entities are requiredravjile enhanced disclosures about (a) how
and why an entity uses derivative instrumentshfdy derivative instruments and related hedged it@rasaccounted for under SFAS 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgivities, as amended and its related interpretations (teg&8FAS 133), and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged itenecaén entity’s financial position, financial partance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is
effective for financial statements issued for flsggars and interim periods beginning after Novenitie 2008. We do not expect the adoption
of SFAS 161 to have a material impact on our fimarmosition, and we will make all necessary disalies upon adoption, if applicable.

In April 2008, the FASB issued EITF 07-(Betermining whether an Instrument (or Embedded &egtls Indexed to an Entity's Own
Stock, (EITF 07-05). EITF 07-05 provides guidance oredsining what types of instruments or embeddedifeatin an instrument held by a
reporting entity can be considered indexed tovita stock for the purpose of evaluating the firsieeia of the scope exception in paragraph 11
(a) of FAS 133. EITF 07-05 is effective for finaakstatements issued for fiscal years beginningr &iecember 15, 2008 and early application
is not permitted. . We do not believe that the gidopof EITF 07-05 will have a significant impaat our consolidated financial statements, as
the fair value of any financial instruments andtetl conversion features are not significant .

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. T8%& Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes. SFAS 162 identifies the
sources of accounting principles and the framevimriselecting the principles to be used in the grafion of financial statements of
nongovernmental entities that are presented inocorify with generally accepted accounting princpile the United States. SFAS 162 is
effective on November 15, 2008. The adoption of SA&2 did not have any financial impact on our otidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued Staff PositieSP) APB 14-1Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments ThatyNbe Settled in Cash
upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlementjs FSP clarifies that convertible debt instrunsehiat may be settled in cash upon
conversion (including partial cash settlement)raseaddressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion Ng.Aetounting for Convertible Debt and
Debt issued with Stock Purchase WarraAdditionally, this FSP specifies that issuers aftsinstruments should separately account for the
liability and equity components in a manner thdt weflect the entity's nonconvertible debt borragiirate when interest cost is recognized in
subsequent periods. This FSP is effective for fiierstatements issued for fiscal years beginnftey ®ecember 15, 2008, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, and requires retrospeapplication for all periods presented. We dolradieve that adoption of FSP APB 14-1 will
have a significant impact on our financial positand operating results, as the embedded convefisatures of our convertible debt instruma
had been accounted for as a derivative.
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3. Inventories

At December 31, 2007, inventories consisted ofspanaterials and finished products as follows l{pusands):
December 31 December 31

2008 2007
Parts and materia $ — 3 247
Finished goods held at customer locati — 1,24:
Finished goods held at manufacturing par — 5,12(
Total inventories $ — $ 6,61(

Parts and materials consist of components purchased in order to reduce the production lead tirheur products. Finished goods
held at manufacturing partner locations considi®fphones and accessories located at our prior faetouwing partner or with our web sales
partner. Finished goods held at customer locattonsists of N2 phones that have been shippedtolditors but remain in their inventories
the end of the period for which revenue has beéericsl.

We experienced limited success in selling our Nbitlegohone since introduction in the third quad&2007 and reevaluated our
selling efforts and the potential markets for tH2duiring the second quarter of 2008. Based uparégvaluation, we decided that it was
probable that we may have to reduce the sellingepof our N2 phones and/or offer our customerstantial incentives in order to sell the N2.
As a result of our revaluation, we recorded a $1@llion expense in the year ended December 318200

On December 9, 2008, Neonode AB filed for liquidatunder the laws of Sweden and as of that dat€Ednepany no longer had any
ownership interest in the assets of Neonode AB.

4. Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist of the following (in tlands):
December 31

2008 2007
Prepayment to suppli $ — % 81¢
Prepaid ren — 87
Deferred financing fee — 7C
Prepaid insuranc — 16
Other 46 89
Total prepaid expenst $ 46 $ 1,081

The prepayment to supplier at December 31, 206Y asir production partner and is for the sourcihgamponent inventories relating to
the N2 mobile telephone launched in 2007.

The deferred financing fees at December 31, 2008isbof legal fees, advisor fees and the valugetdchable warrants issued to advisors
relating to the issuance of debt financing.
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5. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following iousands):

Receivable for componen
Other

Total other current asse

6. Machinery and Equipment

Machinery and equipment consists of the followimgtlousands):

Tooling

Furniture and equipmel
Computers

less accumulated depreciation
Machinery and equipment, n

Depreciation expense for the year ended

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thands):

Patents
less accumulated amortizati
Patents, ne

Amortization expense for the year enc

December31,
2008 2007
$ — % 64¢
— 2
$ — $ 65C
December 31
2008 2007
$ — % 341
— 10z
14¢ 22¢
(30) (296€)
$ 11€ $ 37¢
$ 287 $ 231
December 31
2008 2007
$ — % 34¢
— (254)
$ — % 95
$ 52 $ 67

We have not recorded any further investment inpatents since 2004. Pursuant to an intercompatgplagreement signed in February
2006 securing intercompany borrowings, we transtethe intellectual property, including assignmafithe patents, copyrights and
trademarks, from Neonode AB to Neonode Inc. pgaléonode AB filing for liquidation under the Sweldibankruptcy laws on December 9,

2008.

8. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in tlends):

Earned salary, vacation and bene
Accrued pension premiun

Accrued interest expen:

Accrued legal, audit and consulting fe
Other costs

Total accrued expens

December 31

2008 2007

- $ 35¢

- 23¢

8 10€
31z 42¢
— 26¢

32C $ 1,391




9. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following (in theands):
December 31

2008 2007
VAT payable $ — % 187
Warranty reserv — 92
Employee withholding taxe — 111
Social security Swedish payroll related fi — 16C
Accrued liability to supplier — 12C
Other — 4
Total other liabilities $ — 3 674

All of the Other Liabilities were related to theesption of Neonode AB that filed for liquidationder the Swedish bankruptcy laws
December 9, 2008. We are not responsible foriidities of Neonode AB after the bankruptcy fdidate.

10. Deferred Revenue

We allowed certain distributors of our N2 mobileopk price protection and pricing adjustments sulbsegto the initial product shipment
and as a result we deferred recognition of revéimuihe balance sheet line item “deferred revendefjved from sales to these customers until
they resold our products to their customers oiptiiee protection period ended. Although revenuegedion and related cost of sales are
deferred, we recorded an accounts receivable dintigeof initial shipment of the N2 phones. As stard terms were generally FOB shipping
point, payment terms were enforced from shipmete dad legal title and risk of inventory loss pasethe distributor upon shipment. As of
December 31, 2007, Neonode AB had $3.0 millionefeéded revenue that would have been recognizedasustomers sold our products and
the applicable price protection ends, of which $8ilion was recognized as revenue during 2008.

11. .Liability for Warrants and Embedded Derivatives (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007
Liability for warrants to purchase common st $ — 3 5,971
Embedded derivative of convertible di $ — 3 3,53¢

We converted 12.2 million shares of the outstandiagants and $6.1 million of the outstanding catilke debt to shares of our
Preferred stock on December 31, 2008. After thévage of the warrants and notes for our Prefetiakswe have 2.1 million warrants and
$139,000 of convertible debt outstanding at DecerBbe2008. All anti-dilution provisions relatedl the convertible debt have been
extinguished as a result of the exchange aodrdingly, we marked-to-market the embedded conwerfeature immediately prior to the
exchange, and then the new value of $3.4 millios wetten-off as part of the troubled debt restuuicty gain (see Note 12).

12. Convertible Debt and Notes Payable

Our convertible debt and notes payable consistiseofollowing (in thousands):

56




Senior Convertible Secured Notes August (face v&R18 million as of December 31, 20(

Senior Convertible Secured Notes September (falce 139,000 and $3.1 million as of December 308

and 2007 , respectivel
Loan- Almi Féretagspartner
Capital least

Total fair value of notes outstandi

Unamortized debt discount
Total debt, net of debt discou

Less: short-term portion of long-term debt andésas

Long-term debt and leases

Future maturities of notes payable (in thousands):

Future
Maturity of
Year ended December 31, Notes Payab
2009 $ —
2010 139
Total principal payment $ 139

Future lease payments related to capital leaseasdi@lows (in thousands):

The Company returned the leased copy machine lbdathe closed US office to Xerox in January 2009.

Future minimur
payments on

Year ending December 31: capital lease

2009 $ 26
2010 26
2011 26
2012 26
2013 2
Total minimum lease payments $ 106
Less: Amount representing interest (21)
Present value of net minimum lease paym $ 85
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December 31

2008 2007

$ = 2,634
13¢ 1,117

— 12C

85 72

224 3,93¢

— 3,74¢

224 192

17 132

$ 207 6C




Loan Default:

At December 31, 2008, we failed to pay the $8,0@6rest payment due on September 30, 2008 to the tonvertible debt holders who
hold notes with a total combined principal balan€8139,000 and who did not participate in the debtructuring transaction. As a result, on
December 31, 2008, we are in default as define@wutied Senior Convertible Secured Notes Septenti@&f.2Under the terms of default the
interest rate was increased to 10.5% from the nigh8% or LIBOR plus 3% effective September 3002&hrough December 31, 2008. We
made the required interest payment in January 26@%ured the loan default and the future inteasthas been reduced from 10.5% to the
higher of 8% or LIBOR plus 3%.

Troubled Debt Restructuring
Conversion of Senior Convertible Notes to Seriéseferred Stock:

On December 31, 2008, 24 out of 27 convertible @othissory note holders agreed to the surrendeotafs and accrued interest on
such notes in the aggregate amount of $6,195,806raideration for the issuance of 244,265.56 shairSeries A Preferred Stock. The
carrying value of the convertible notes, promissuotes, and debt discount plus the fair value efrdtated embedded conversion features
amounted to $5.9 million immediately prior to corsien, using the Black-Scholes option pricing modéle assumptions used when
calculating the fair value of the common stock -giltition feature were a term of 0.23 years, viitgtof 357.2% and a risk-free interest rate of
0.11%. The fair value of the Series A Preferredlstun the date of conversion was $10 per shaneeasso raised $1.2 million in cash from
both inside and outside investors, with outsideestars comprising approximately 51%. This conwersesulted in troubled debt restructuring
accounting in accordance with SFAS Tsoubled Debt Restructuringand we recorded a non-cash gain on conversi&3.8fmillion. The
remaining $139,000 convertible notes outstanditgy &fie conversion transaction have a due dateugfist 31, 2010 and bear an annual
interest rate of the greater of 8% or LIBOR plus, #yable quarterly in cash or shares of our comstock at the option of the Company.

Conversion of Warrants to Series B Preferred Stock:

On December 31, 2008, 92 out of 129 holders of avasrfor the purchase of shares, notes, and/ofi@ui warrants of the Company
agreed to the surrender of 12,255,560 warrantgéhange for the issuance of 92,795 shares of SBritreferred Stock. The fair value of the
converted warrants which were previously recordeliabilities amounted to $112,000 immediately ptmthe exchange, using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions ugeeh calculating the fair value of the warrant®pthe exchange were a term of 4.4 years,
volatility of 152.3% and a riskee interest rate of 1.37%. The fair value of 8ezies B Preferred stock on the date of exchangeb@®245 pe
share, which is based upon a fully diluted pricegtere using our market capitalization on tha¢ da@his transaction resulted in troubled debt
restructuring accounting in accordance with SFASTt8ubled Debt Restructuringand we recorded a non-cash gain on conversion of
$109,000. The remaining outstanding warrants ngdomeet the classification of liabilities in acdance with EITF 00-19 since the toxic
securities (the anti-dilution feature) from Septemd6, 2007 financing are no longer applicabled, @s such, the remainder of the warrants
previously recorded as a liability on the consdkdibalance sheet has been reclassified to equitlg@mber 31, 2008 at the fair value of
$67,000.

58




Remaining Outstanding Warrants to Purchase ComntockS

Outstanding Warrants as of December 31, 2008

Issue Exercise Expiration
Description Date Price Shares Date
September 2007 Investor Warra 9/26/200° $ 1.45 5,804 9/26/201:
May 2008 Broker Warrant 5/20/200¢ $ 1.27 161,07< 5/20/201:
May 2008 Broker Warrant 5/20/200¢ $ 1.45 481,45 5/20/201:
May 2008 Investor Warran 5/22/200¢ $ 1.45 1,476,06¢ 5/20/201:
Total warrants outstanding 2,124,40:

These transactions were accounted for as a trodeletrestructuring modification of terms pursu@n$tatement of SFAS 15,
Accountingby Debtors and Creditors of Troubled Debt Restrringgs . On December 31, 2008, the gain resulting froncthreversions of the
Notes, embedded conversion features and warraaitsilated in accordance with SFAS 15, was deterdhassfollows:

Conversion of carrying value of Senior Secured Botet of discour $ 2,661
Conversion of carrying value of embedded conver&artures 3,051
Conversion of carrying value of warrants 93
Total conversion of carrying value of debt, embetidenversion features and warra 5,80¢
Decreases to gai

Fair value of Series A and B Preferred stock issmexchange 2,44
Gain on Troubled Debt Restructuring $ 3,36(

On both a basic and diluted income per share tiasi$3.4 million gain was $0.12 per share for thelte months ended December 31,
2008.

Senior Convertible Secured August Bridge No

On August 8, 2007, we made an offering of conviatitotes pursuant to a Note Purchase Agreementu@igridge Notes or Bridge
Notes), dated as of July 31, 2007, amended moshtigcon March 24, 2008. The August Bridge Noteseaaiginally convertible into the un
described below. We received $3,250,000 from thdd@rNote offering and issued an option to an ité&nancial advisor to invest $750,0
at the same terms and conditions as the BridgesN®tee August Bridge Notes originally matured orc&waber 31, 2007; however, the
maturity date of these notes was extended to DeeeB1h 2008 and the option to invest expired ondbdzer 31, 2008.

The August Bridge Notes were due December 31, 280@bore 8% per annum interest and were conveiitibd purchase units that
are made up of a combination of shares of our comshack, convertible debt and warrants. The notddrs had a right to convert their notes
plus accrued interest anytime before December @18 tto purchase units. Each purchase unit of&Bi® comprised of one $1,500 thrgear
promissory note bearing the higher of 8% or LIBABRSB% interest per annum, convertible into shafesir common stock at a conversion
price of $3.50 per share, 600 shares of our comstmok and 5 year warrants to purchase 696.5 sbams common stock at a price of $1.27
per share. For accounting purposes, the embeddeeision feature was determined to meet the diefindf a derivative and was recorded as
liability. This was because the holder of the naisld convert debt and accrued interest, wheszést is at the greater of 8% or LIBOR plus
3%, and therefore, the total number of sharesrisieliment could be convertible into was not fixd@dcordingly, the embedded conversion
feature was bifurcated from the debt host instruraed treated as a liability, with the offset tdtdiscount. The related warrants were also
recorded as a liability for the same reason.
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The fair value of the embedded conversion featei@ed to the Bridge Notes was calculated at Sdpge@6, 2007 using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and amounted to $3lBom The assumptions used when calculating #ievalue of the embedded conversion
feature related to the Bridge Notes were a ter@ 08 years, volatility of 99% and a risk-free iggtrrate of 4.16%. The $3.3 million fair value
was recorded as “Embedded derivatives of convertiebt” and a debt discount. The remaining delabdist balance is allocated to interest
expense based on the effective interest rate metriddan effective interest rate of 393%, over tbmaining term of the notes. At December
31, 2007, the fair value of the liability relatedthe conversion feature was revalued using thekB&choles option pricing model and totaled
$2.1 million and was less than the amount of resdmiebt, which resulted in a benefit for the yeatesl December 31, 20070f $1.2 million.
The assumptions used when calculating the fairevafithe embedded conversion feature related tBtitge Notes were a term of 0.76 years,
volatility of 99% and a risk-free interest rate4o16%. The value of the embedded conversion fe&umvalued at each period-end and the
liability is adjusted with the offset recorded &oh-cash financial items.”

On December 31, 2008, all of the Bridge Notes pleued interest were converted into 123,641 shadresr Series A Preferred
stock. Please see above section, Troubled DebtluRastng, under the Conversion of Senior Convégtidotes to Series A Preferred Stock for
accounting treatment.

August Bridge Notes Extension Warran

On September 26, 2007, the August Bridge Note hsldeat had not converted their debt were giveedtyear warrants to purchase

up to 219,074 shares {Extension Warrants) of our common stock at a pofc®3.92 per share in exchange for an agreememntend the

term of their notes from the original date of Debem31, 2007 until June 30, 2008. The fair valuthefwarrants issued to the holders of the
remaining Bridge Notes was calculated at Septer@6eP007 as $706,000 using the Black-Scholes optitning model. The assumptions used
for calculating the fair value of the®lExtension Warrants were a term of 3 years, voitiif 116% and a riskree interest rate of 4.16%. Thi
S'Extension Warrants were classified as a liabilityspant to the guidance provided in paragraph FE1BF 00-19 Accounting for Derivative
Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentiakytied in, a Compar's Own Stock The fair value of the warrants was recorded dsld
issuance cost and is allocated to interest expessed on the effective interest rate method oventhie month term of the notes with the
offsetting entry to a liability. As a result of teetension of the loan maturity period, the agresnt@ delay conversion of the bridge notes and
the issuance of the*]Extension Warrants, the modifications were sigaificenough to trigger debt extinguishment accogmésulting in a
debt extinguishment charge for the year ended DbeeBil, 2007 amounting to $442,000. The liabilitythe 1 Extension Warrants issued to

the August Bridge Note holders is revalued at tiet & each reporting period and the change inittiglity is recorded as “Non-cash financing
items.”

On December 31, 2008, all of thé' Extension Warrants related to the Bridge Notes vegmhanged into 1,659 shares of our Series B
Preferred stock.

« At December 31, 2008, we compared the fair valuhefSeries B Preferred stock issued upon conveddithe outstanding 219,074

S'Extension Warrants related to the Bridge Notes. Gareying value of the warrants was calculated gigfie Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The resulting gain is included thie Non-cash items related to gain on troubled deitucturing in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the year ended Dece®&ih@008

* At December 31, 2007, the liability related to th®Extension Warrants amounted to $608,000. The assomspused when

calculating the fair value of the®IExtension Warrants at December 31, 2007 were adéth¥6 years, volatility of 116% and a risk-
free interest rate of 4.16¢
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On May 21, 2008, the August Bridge Note holders tfzal not converted their debt were given addifitmae year warrants (‘2
Extension Warrants) to purchase up to 510,294 shafreur common stock at a price of $1.45 per shmexchange for an agreement to extend

the term of their notes from June 30, 2008 untit&aber 31, 2008. The"2Extension Warrants were classified as a liabilitlyspiant to the

guidance provided in paragraph 17 of EITF 00-13 Ti&bility for the 2"Extension Warrants issued to the August Bridge Niotders is
revalued at the end of each reporting period uied@Black-Scholes option pricing model and the dgeain the liability is recorded as “Non-

cash financing items.” The assumptions used whemnleding the fair value of the "' Extension Warrants were a term of 3 years, volatif
125.57% and a risk-free interest rate of 2.68%.

On December 31, 2008, all of th8“Extension Warrants related to the Bridge Notes waahanged for 3,864 shares of our Series B
Preferred stock.

« At December 31, 2008, we calculated the fair valiihe Series B Preferred stock issued upon coioreds the outstanding
510,294 2nd Extension Warrants related to the Rridgtes. The carrying value of the warrants wasutaled using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The resultimgngis included in the Non-cash items relatedam on troubled debt
restructuring in our Consolidated Statements ofr@yns for the year ended December 31, 2

Option to Invest in Bridge Notes

In conjunction with the issuance of the August BedNotes, we issued and investor an option to tnyge$o $750,000 under the same
terms and conditions as the August Bridge Notes.ifhial fair value of the option to purchase $08D of the August Bridge Notes amounted
to $716,000 based on the Black-Scholes optionmgimiodel. The assumptions used when calculatinfgithgalue of the original option to
invest were a term of 0.39 years, volatility of 9@#d interest rate of 4.16%. The initial fair vabf@he option to invest was recorded as a
deferred financing fee to be allocated to inteeagtense using the effective interest rate methed the nine month term of the notes with the
offset recorded as other current liability. Thebiigy for the option to purchase additional Augistdge Notes is revalued at the end of each
reporting period and the change in the liabilitydsorded as “Non-cash items relating to debt dist®and deferred financing fees and the
valuation of conversion features and warrants.”

« At December 31, 2007, the liability related to fae value of the option warrants amounted to $@@@, The assumptions used w}
calculating the fair value of the warrants at DebenB1, 2007 were a term of 0.39 years, volatdit¥3% and a risk-free interest rate
of 4.16%.

« The fair value of the option to purchase $750,00the August Bridge Notes originally issued on Asg8, 2007 and due to expire
December 31, 2007 was extended until March 15, 200Becember 31, 2007 and revalued based on tlo-Bleholes option pricing
model. The assumptions used when calculating thedéue of the extended option to invest wererentef 0.21 years, volatility of
99% and interest rate of 3.36%. The fair valuehefextension totaled $475,000 and was recordedlateared financing fee to be
allocated to interest expense using the effectiterést rate method over the 12 month remaining tdrthe August Bridge Notes with
the offset recorded as other current liabil

« The fair value of the option to purchase $750,00the August Bridge Notes originally issued on Asg8, 2007 and extended until
March 15, 2008 was extended until June 30, 3008larch 15, 2008 and revalued based on the Blacki8shuption pricing model.
The assumptions used when calculating the fairevafithe extended option to invest were a term 26 §ears, volatility of 79% and
interest rate of 1.38%. The fair value of the egien totaled $823,000 and was recorded as a ddfénancing fee to be allocated to
interest expense using the effective interestmagthod over the nine months remaining term of thgust Bridge Notes with the off
recorded as other current liabili

On April 17, 2008, the option holder exercised $808 of the original $750,000 option amount and isased a note, at the same
terms and conditions as the August Bridge Notes. djtion to invest the $375,000 unexercised posias extended until December 31, 2008
in conjunction with the May 2008 financing. Therfaalue of the unexercised option to purchase $8bof the August Bridge Notes was
revalued based on the Bla8icholes option pricing model. The assumptions wdezh calculating the fair value of the extendedawpto inves
were a term of 0.5 years, volatility of 107% antkmast rate of 1.23%. The fair value of the extems$otaled $324,000 and was recorded as a
deferred financing fee to be allocated to inteesgtense using the effective interest rate methed the six months remaining term of the
August Bridge Notes with the offset recorded agotturrent liability. The exercise of $375,000 lvé briginal $750,000 option reduced the
liability for the option by $314,000.
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On May 21, 2008, as part of the May 21, 2008 wanrapricing financing transaction described beltve, $375,000 of Bridge Note
debt was cancelled and was converted into 295,8afs common stock and 590,550 warrants at anisggnice of $1.45 per share.

On December 31, 2008, all of the 590,550 5-yearams were exchanged for 4,471 shares of our SBriferred stock. The option
to invest the remaining unexercised $375,000 obtiginal $750,000 option to invest terminated cacBmber 31, 2008 without the option
holder exercising the option.

- At December 31, 2008, we calculated the fair valiihe Series B Preferred stock issued upon coioreds the outstanding 590,550
Warrants. The carrying value of the warrants wésutated using the Black-Scholes option pricing elo@he resulting gain is
included in the Norcash items related to gain on troubled debt reftring in our Consolidated Statements of Operatfonshe yea
ended December 31, 20(

Senior Convertible Secured Notes September 26, Zb@@ncing

On September 26, 2007, we sold $5.7 million of s&es in a private placement, comprised of $2.9iom of three-year promissory
notes bearing the greater of 8% or LIBOR plus 3#érast per annum, convertible into shares of oarroon stock at a conversion price of
$3.50 per share, 952,499 shares of our common,sdock5 year warrants to purchase 1,326,837 sbms common stock at a price of $3.92
per share.

In addition, on September 26, 2007, certain holdéthe August Bridge Notes converted an aggregb$a54,900 of debt and accrt
interest into units offered in the September 2®72fnancing. The debt holders of the August Britigees that were converted received (i)
$227,450 three-year promissory notes bearing thieehiof 8% or LIBOR plus 3% interest per annum,veotible into shares of our common
stock at a conversion price of $3.50 per share7%ij817 shares of our common stock, and (iii) &ryearrants to purchase 105,612 shares of
our common stock at a price of $3.92 per share.faihealue of the 5-year warrants totaled $340,8066 was calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.

The total issuance of securities and debt on Séme@b, 2007 to investors and Bridge Note holddrs wonverted was (i) $3.1
million of three-year promissory notes bearing hiigher of 8% or LIBOR plus 3% interest per annuonwertible into shares of our common
stock at a conversion price of $3.50 per sharel(@i28,316 shares of our common stock, and (@yigar warrants to purchase 1,432,449 shares
of our common stock at a price of $3.92 per share.

The embedded conversion feature of the convenrtibl# issued on September 26, 2007 met the definitia derivative financial
instrument and is classified as a liability in actamce with SFAS 133 and EITF 00-19. The note hdids the right to convert the debt and
accrued interest and the interest rate is calall@te¢he greater of 8% or LIBOR plus 3%, and thaefthe total number of shares of our
common stock that the convertible note can be atifle into is not fixed. Accordingly, the embeddashversion features are revalued on ¢
balance sheet date and marked to market with lustady entry to “Non-cash financial items.” Thérfealue of the conversion feature related
to the September 26, 2007 convertible notes tothled million at September 26, 2007 and was reabedea debt discount. On the issuance
date, we allocated the proceeds first to the wigraased on their fair value with the remainingahaé allocated between debt, $771,000, and
equity, $669,000, based on their relative fair ealu

For the year ended December 31, 2008, $1.1 mitiiche debt discount is included in Gain on trodbdiebt restructuring and $12,000
is included in interest expense in the Consolid&tdements of Operations.
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On December 31, 2008, $3.1 million of the SeniauBed Convertible Notes plus accrued interest wereerted into 120,624 shares
of our Series A Preferred stock. After conversth39,000 of the Senior Secured convertible NotesAligust 31, 2010 remains outstanding.
Please see above section, Troubled Debt Restmgtumder the Conversion of Senior Convertible BateSeries A Preferred Stock for
accounting treatment.

« At December 31, 2007, the liability related to #mebedded conversion feature of the convertible dettunted $1.4 million. The
liability related to the embedded conversion featuas $0 at December 31, 2008 because the righe @@ompany to repurchase the
notes expired September 25, 2008 and as such thedeled conversion feature was no longer applic

The warrants issued in conjunction with the Septem2i6, 2007 financing met the definition of a lidhipursuant to the provisions of
EITF No. 00-19. The fair value of the warrants &$in conjunction with issuance of shares of oumiemn stock and convertible debt totaled
$4.3 million on its issuance date and was recoeded liability. The fair value of the warrants on the date of isseavas calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model using a ternd glears, volatility of 116% and a risk-free inteénege of 4.2%.

All of the warrants, except for warrants to pureh&s804 shares of our common stock, related t&#mor Convertible Secured Notes
from September 2007 were exchanged for 8,994 slh@ms Series B Preferred stock at December 30820

At December 31, 2008, The remaining outstandin@%\8arrants no longer met the classification dfilifes in accordance with
EITF 00-19 since the anti-dilution feature relate®eptember 26, 2007 financing expired when theevaf outstanding notes payable dropped
below $2,000,000. The fair value of the warrants weeasured at year end and the change in thealaie is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the Non-cash itemseetka debt discounts and deferred financing feelstlae valuation of conversion features
and warrants The fair value of $174,000 is inclucheelquity as of December 31, 2008.

As part of the September 26, 2007 Private Placemenissued 142.875 unit purchase warrants to Enfsset Management
Company (Empire) for financial advisory servicesyided in connection with the placement. Each paoithase warrant has a strike price of
$3,250 and is comprised of a $1,500 three-year {gswry note, bearing the higher of 8% or LIBOR @056 interest per annum, convertible
into shares of our common stock at a conversicref $3.50 per share, 500 shares of our commah stnd a five-year warrant to purchase
696.5 shares of our common stock at a purchase pfi83.92 per share. At the date of issuancefaih@alue of the unit purchase warrants
issued to Empire totaled $614,000 and was incluldige issuance costs related to the Septemberding. The assumptions used for the
Black-Scholes option pricing model were a termiad fyears, volatility of 99% and a risk-free intstreate of 4.2%. The liability for the option
to purchase additional units is revalued at theadrehch reporting period and the change in thalii is recorded as “Non-cash financing
items”.

On December 31, 2008, all of the Unit Purchase ®Wusrrelated to the Senior Convertible Secured Netre exchanged for 5,990
shares at no exercise price of our Series B Pexfestock. Please see above section, Troubled DeitiRturing, under the Conversion of
Warrants to Series B Preferred Stock for accourttisgtment.

« At December 31, 2008, the liability related to theit Purchase Warrants amounted to $0 resultirey$809,000 decrease for the y
ended December 31, 2008 compared to the fair \altleese unit purchase warrants of $509,000 at Dbee 31, 2007. The $509,000
gain is included in the Non-cash items relatedatim @n troubled debt restructuring in our ConsdédaStatements of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2C
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May 21, 2008 Warrant Repricin

On May 21, 2008, we offered our existing warrarldbos an opportunity to exercise Neonode commotkgtorchase warrants on a
discounted basis and to receive two new five yearrmon stock purchase warrants with an exercise pfi$1.45 for each outstanding warrant
exercised. In all, 8,009,586 new warrants wereeidsincluding 590,550 to the option holder who anted the $375,000 of debt. The warrants
were classified as a liability pursuant to the gmice provided in paragraph 17 of EITF 00-19. Theavdas were recorded among “Liability for
warrants to purchase common stock” and are valtitadravalued at the end of each reporting perisohg the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The fair value of the warrants totaled $18ifion. The assumptions used for the calculatibthe fair value were a term of 5 years,
volatility of 110.28% and interest rate of 3.09%.

On December 31, 2008, 6,618,889 of the warrantg wechanged for 50,117 shares of our Series B iiPedfstock. Please see above
section, Troubled Debt Restructuring, under thew@osion of Warrants to Series B Preferred Stoclatmounting treatment. 1,476,068 of the
warrants issued related to the Warrant Repricingaie outstanding after the December 31, 2008 retstring and warrant conversion.

« At December 31, 2008, the remaining 1,476,068 anthhg warrants no longer meet the classificatidiabilities in accordance wit
EITF 00-19 and, as such, these warrants previgasiyrded as a liability on the consolidated balasieset was reclassified to equity
using the $44,000 fair value on December 31, 2008.assumptions used when calculating the fairevafithe warrants at December
31, 2008 were a term of 4.3 years, volatility 081446 and a ris-free interest rate of 1.469

Anti-Dilution Feature and Price Protection

The September 26, 2007 financing agreement comtaintg-dilution features for each of the commorcki@onvertible debt and the
warrants whereby these instruments are protecigataely for 18 months or until the outstandingtdeltess than $2.0 million against future
private placements made at lower share pricese8dgar 2007 common stock investors would receivéiaddl shares if there are future
issuances of common stock with a lower price. Sept 2007 convertible debt and warrant holder itorgsvould receive an adjustment to
conversion price or exercise price, respectivelgcakdingly, there are no longer anti-dilution featuin such common stock, convertible debt
and warrants since December 31, 2008, when théaodisg debt was reduced to $139,000. The 2,124gB3ining outstanding warrants
contain price protection whereby these instrumargsprotected separately for the life of the wagadnder the price protection clause, if we
issued warrants at a lower exercise price thamehmaining outstanding warrants, the exercise micich warrants would be reduced to the
lower price. The warrant holders would not be &dito additional shares of common stock, onlyrtgkiction in the exercise price.

Common Stock

On March 4, 2008, we issued 1,800,000 shares ofrmmmstock to investors of a private placementi@e of $2.50 per share. The
issuance of these shares triggered the anti-dild&ature related to common stock issued in theeBaper 26, 2007 financing transaction. As a
result we were required to issue an additional 29 shares of our common stock to investors irSeggtember 26, 2007 financing. On
December 31, 2008, as part of the refinancing apital raising transactions, we issued 4,421,0&2eshof our common stock to investors in
the September 26, 2007 financing to satisfy thedihition features contained in the financing agrent. Because we reduced the outstanding
debt to less than $2.0 million, the adiiution features contained in the financing agreatare no longer outstanding as of December 318..

« At December 31, 2008, the liability related to tmenmon stock ar-dilution feature amounted to $0, resulting in ad$illion
decrease since the initial valuatit
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Warrants

As part of the May 21, 2008 financing transaction,issued 400,480 warrants at a price of $1.25pare and an additional 800,959
warrants at a price of $1.45 per share to Empirdiriancial advisory services provided in connettiaith the transaction. At the date of
issuance, the fair value of the warrants issudehtpire totaled $2.0 million and was included in i®iance costs related to the May 21, 2008
financing transaction. The assumptions used foBlhek-Scholes option pricing model were a ternd gkars, volatility of 110.28% and a risk-
free interest rate of 3.09%. (see Note 14 StocldrsldEquity)

On December 31, 2008, 559,228 of the warrants eeckanged for 4,234 shares of our Series B prefestack. At December 31,
2008, 161,074 of the $1.27 warrants and 481,48e$1.45 Warrants remain outstanding after restring.

« At December 31, 2008, the remaining 642,531 oudtgnwarrants no longer meet the classificatiohatfilities in accordance with
EITF 00-19 and, as such, the warrants previouslgroeed as a liability on the consolidated balafeeswas reclassified to equity
using the fair value of the warrants on Decembe2808. The assumptions used when calculatingaihedlue of the warrants at
December 31, 2008 were a term of 4.3 years, vityatif 143.1% and a ris-free interest rate of 1.46¢

Derivatives

As discussed above, the senior secured, bridggramdissory notes issued above contain embeddectrsion features. The
conversion features are considered embedded deeasatnd are included in “Embedded derivative gfvastible debt.” At the time of issuance
of the senior secured notes, the fair value ottirerersion feature was recorded as a debt disemghamortized to interest expense over the
expected term of the senior secured notes usingftletive interest rate method. Changes in threviglue of the conversion feature are
recorded in “Non-cash charges for conversion feastand warrants.” During the years ended Decenthe2®8 and 2007, we recorded
charges of $12,000 and $441,000 of interest expassaciated with the amortization of the debt dist® along with a (benefit)/charge of
$(2.6) million and $33.6 million associated witletbthanges in the fair value of embedded convefs@tures recorded as liabilities,
respectively. As of December 31, 2008, we no lotgee any embedded conversion features that aceiaied for as a derivative, since the
anti-dilution feature described above no longeriapp

Loan Agreement with Almi Foretagspartne

On April 6, 2005, Neonode AB entered into a loareagient with Almi Foretagspartner (“Almi”) in thenaunt of SEK 2,000,000,
with 72,000 warrants to purchase Neonode Inc. shaiee loan had an expected credit period of 48thsonith an annualized interest rate of
2%. We were not required to make any repaymengsio€ipal for the first nine months. Quarterly rgpgents of principal thereafter amounted
to SEK 154,000. We had the right to redeem the &iaamny time prior to expiration subject to a psgpant penalty of 1%, on an annualized
basis, of the outstanding principal amount overémaining term of the loan. A floating charge ttélamortgage) of SEK 2,000,000, was
pledged as security. On December 9, 2008, Neon&l#léd for liquidation under the Swedish bankruptaws and the note with Almi is no
longer an obligation of the Company after that dafédhe Almi note was written off when Neonode ARd for bankruptcy on December 9,
2008 and is included in the gain on debt forgiversdsNeonode AB on the Consolidated Statementspeir&ions for the year ended December
31, 2008.

The warrants had a term of five years with a stpkee of $10.00. The warrants were callable bjou$0.10 should the price of our
common stock trade over $12.50 on a public exch&mmg20 consecutive days. The warrants were andlyneler EITF 00-19, and were
determined to be equity instruments. In accordavitte Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. (APB3, Accounting for Convertible Debt
and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warramsause the warrants are equity instruments, we &léacated the proceeds of the second Almi
loan between the debt and detachable warrants loaste relative fair values of the debt securitg ¢he warrants themselves. To calculate
debt discount related to the warrants, the fairketavalue of the warrants was calculated usingBflaek-Scholes options pricing model. The
assumptions used for the Almi loan debt discourreveeterm of five years, volatility of 30% and skdree interest rate of 4.50%.The aggre:
debt discount amounted to $42,000 and i amortized the expected term of the loan agreement.

65




On December 31, 2008, Almi exchanged all 72,00Cavds for 545 shares of our Series B Preferreckstoc
13. Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Liabilities

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. E&if,Value Measurementsvhich became effective for us on January 1, 2008.
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framkvi@rmeasuring fair value and expands disclosegeiirements about fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 does not mandate any nevafaé measurements and is applicable to assdtBadnilities that are required to be
recorded at fair value under other accounting puocements. Implementation of this standard dichawe a material effect on our results of
operations or consolidated financial position.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Rosi(FSP) FAS No. 157-Bpplication of FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB
Statement No. 13 and Its Related Interpretive Actiog Pronouncements That Address Leasing TrarmastiFSP 157-1), which became
effective for the company on January 1, 2008. H3® excludes FSAS No. 13\ccounting for Leasesand its related interpretive accounting
pronouncements from the provisions of FAS 157.

Also in February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS2AFffective Date of FASB Statement No. 1@/hich delayed our application
SFAS 157 for certain nonfinancial assets and ligdsl until January 1, 2009. In this regard, thganaategories of assets and liabilities for
which we will not apply the provisions of FAS 15t January 1, 2009, are long-lived assets thanaeasured at fair value upon impairment
and liabilities for asset retirement obligations.

Our implementation of SFAS 157 for financial assatd liabilities on January 1, 2008, had no eféecbur existing fair-value
measurement practices but requires disclosurdaif-aalue hierarchy of inputs we use to value aset or a liability. The three levels of the
fair-value hierarchy are described as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active mirker identical assets and liabilities. We hadenel 1 assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 that are obdelesaeither directly or indirectly. We had no levehssets or liabilities.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs. We valued our Sekiesd Series B Preferred stock that both were witlobservable market values and the
valuation required a high level of judgment to deti@e fair value (level 3 inputs).

The following table shows the classification of ¢iabilities at December 31, 2008 that are subjedair value measurements and the
roll-forward of these liabilities from December 2007:

As discussed in note 12. Convertible Debt antedl®ayable, the value of the Series A prefereetkatias based upon a negotiated
price to raise cash, which was $10.00 per shareravh1% of the investors were new investors.
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December 31 December 31

2008 Decrease Increase 2007
Series A Preferred stot $ 3531 $ - $ 3531 $ -
Series B Preferred stock 2 - 2 -
Total Liabilities at Fair Value $ 3,537 $ - 9 3,63 $ -

14. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock:

On January 28, 2008, a holder of convertible nistmsed on September 26, 2007 elected to converyygregate amount of debt and
accrued interest amounting to $35,000. The conwernssulted in the issuance of 10,000 shares ofaamrstock at $3.50. The debt discounts,
conversion features and deferred financing feesrétated to the loans that were converted amouisteah aggregate of $20,000. The net
amount of $15,000 was recorded in equity.

On March 4, 2008, we sold $4.5 million in secustie a private placement to accredited investors.sdld 1,800,000 shares (Investor
Shares) of our common stock, for $2.50 per shafter flacement agent fees and offering expenseseeaved net cash proceeds of
approximately $4,000,000.

In addition, we issued an aggregate of 207,492eshafrcommon stock to investors who participatetthinSeptember 26, 2007 private
placement pursuant to anti-dilution provisions eimeéd in the September 26, 2007 Private Placeméygcsiption Agreement. Empire acted as
financial advisor in the private placement and e compensation in connection with the privatecpment of approximately $450,000 in
cash and 120,000 shares of our common stock valiu@t52,400 on the date of issuance.

On May 21, 2008, we completed a $5.1 million, ceeth proceeds to us of $4.1 million, private plaeetmprimarily to prior security
holders, directors, affiliates of management astititional investors. We offered our existing veartrholders an opportunity to exercise
Neonode common stock purchase warrants on a dismbbasis. In all, 4,004,793 outstanding warrargeevexercised at a strike price of $1
per warrant (including $375,000 of surrender oftjlal¥e issued 4,004,793 shares of our common stndkiwo new common stock purchase
warrants, with an exercise price of $1.45, for eaagtstanding warrant exercised. A total of 8,008,68w common stock purchase warrants
were issued to investors who surrendered or puechsisares under the warrant exchange offer. Weeatended the maturity date of $2.85
million of convertible debt that was due on June I8 until December 31, 2008 by issuing the holders 510,293 common stock purchase
warrants, with an exercise price of $1.45. Empated as financial advisor for the transaction aad paid a cash fee of approximately
$510,000 and received a warrant to purchase 40@4&@s of our common stock at $1.27 per share@ avatrant to purchase 800,959 shart
our common stock at $1.45 per share.

On September 4, 2008, we issued 107,638 sharag abmmon stock to one of our Swedish employeasgitiement of a severance
payment dispute totaling $20,400.

On November 17, 2008, we issued 549,808 sharegrafaanmon stock to our US based employees upontdrenination from
employment for payment of their accrued vacatiability totaling $35,700.
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On December 31, 2008, we issued 4,421,072 shams @ommon stock to investors who participatethenSeptember 26, 2007
private placement pursuant to anti-dilution prowns contained in the September 26, 2007 PrivateRiant Subscription Agreement.

Series A Preferred Stock:

On December 31, 2008 we issued 855,522.98 sha®srigfs A Preferred Stock that at the date of rsseidiad a conversion rate of
one share of common stock for each share of Sarl®eferred Stock. Our shareholders approved dutiso to increase the conversion ratit
480.63 shares of common stock for each share adsS@rPreferred Stock at a special meeting of bareholders held on March 31, 2009.
Upon conversion, the shares of Series A PreferteckSwill convert into 411,190,010 shares of oumooon stock.

On December 31, 2008, we issued the followingeSei Preferred Stock:

« 112,290.40 shares to investors in a private plaoémbo invested $1,121,904.

o 244,265.56 shares to convertible debt holders vomverted $6,195,805 of principal and accrued istere
« 495,000 shares to acquire Cypressen.

« 4,067.02 shares for brokerage services in regarttetrefinancing and capital raising transactions.

Series B Preferred Stock:

On December 31, 2008, we issued 92,795.94 shai®srizfs B Preferred Stock to warrant holders twedrtheir warrants to equity.
At the date of issuance, these warrants had a csionerate of one share of common stock for eaelesbf Series B Preferred Stock. Our
shareholders approved a resolution to increasedheersion ratio to 132.07 shares of common stockdch share of Series B Preferred stock
at a special meeting of our shareholders held orcMal, 2009. Upon conversion, the shares of S&reeeferred Stock will convert into
12,255,560 shares of our common stock.

On December 31, 2008, after the refinancing andaajaising transactions, we have 35,058,011 shafeommon stock, 855,522.98
shares of Series A Preferred stock, 92,795.94 studi8eries B Preferred stock, 2,124,403 milliomresats to purchase our common stock and
1,322,978 employee stock options outstanding. Whameholder approval, all the outstanding SeriesidB Preferred Stock will be converted
to 423,445,570 shares of common stock.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

We have several approved stock option plans fochvkiock options and restricted stock awards améadble to grant to employees,
consultants and directors. All employee and dinestock options granted under our stock option plaave an exercise price equal to the
market value of the underlying common stock ongtant date. There are no vesting provisions tigagetformance conditions for any options,
as vesting for all outstanding option grants wasebleonly on continued service as an employee, ttanswr director. All of our outstanding
stock options and restricted stock awards areifiledsis equity instruments.

Stock Options

As of December 31, 2008, we had four equity inaengilans:

e The 1996 Stock Option Plan (the 1996 Plan), whigbired in January 2006;

« The 1998 No-Officer Stock Option Plan (the 1998 Plan), whiclpiegd in June 200

« The 2007 Neonode Stock Option Plan (the Neonode) Pige will not grant any additional equity awarlg of the Neonode Pla
and

- The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan).

We also had one non-employee director stock ogtian as of December 31, 2008:
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« The 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Pléwe Director Plan).

The following table details the outstanding optitmpurchase shares of our common stock pursuaradbo plan at December 31,

2008:

Outstandiny

Options Available Options

Plan Qutstandin for Issue  Vested
1996 Plar 46,000 — 46,000
1998 Plar 66,39¢ — 29,90(
Neonode Plai 880,33( — 880,33(
2006 Plar 287,75  94,80: 71,247
Director Plan 42 ,50( — 15,50(

Total 1,322,97¢  94,80. 1,042,97

The following table summarizes information withpest to all options to purchase shares of commmrksiutstanding under the 19
Plan, the 1998 Plan, the 2006 Plan, the Neonodedrld the Director Plan at December 31, 2007:

Options Outstandin Options Exercisabl
Weighted Averag:
Number Remaining Number
QOutstanding ¢ Contractual Life ~ Weighted Averag Exercisable at Weighted Averag
Range of Exercise Pric 12/31/08 (years) Exercise Prict 12/31/08 Exercise Prict

$0.00- $1.00 40.00c¢ 6.42 $ 0.6C —$ —
$1.01- $2.00 353,19( 3.04 % 1.42 353,19( $ 1.42
$2.01- $3.0C 560,14( 022 $ 2.14 560,14( $ 2.14
$3.01- $4.0C 122,00( 5.96 $ 3.4€ 2,00C $ 4.0
$4.01- $5.00 211,24¢ 496 $ 4.87 91,247 $ 4.82
$5.01-$6.00 3,40C 138 % 5.3C 3,40C $ 5.3C
$6.01-%$27.50 33,00( 273 $ 17.4¢€ 33,00C $ 17.4€
1,322,97¢ 252 $ 2.8% 1,042,997 $ 2.63

A summary of the combined activity under all of #teck option plans is set forth below:

Weighted
Average
Number of  Exercise Prict
Shares Per Shar Exercise Pric
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 552,65 $ 1.80-%$91.8¢ $ 10.9¢
Granted 2,383,48. $ 1.42-3$8.4¢ $ 2.32
Cancelled or expire (478,657) $ 3.20-$91.8¢ $ 11.0¢
Exercised (22,750) $ 1.80-%$2.37 $ 2.2¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,434,73. $ 1.42-$27.5( $ 2.5¢
Granted 570,000 $ 0.60-$3.4t $ 3.17%
Cancelled or expire (1,660,754 $ 1.84-$12.9¢ $ 2.5¢
Exercisec (21,0000 $ 1.84-%$1.8¢ $ 1.84
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 1,322,971 $ 0.60- $27.5( $ 2.8F

69




The 1996 Plan terminated effective January 17, 20@bthe 1998 Plan terminated effective June 188 2d although we can no
longer issue stock options out of the plans, thstanding options at the date of termination vélain outstanding and vest in accordance
their terms. Options granted under the DirectonRiest over a one to four-year period, expire fveeven years after the date of grant and
have exercise prices reflecting market value ofstieres of our common stock on the date of graatkSptions granted under the 1996, 1998
and 2006 Plans are exercisable over a maximumdéten years from the date of grant, vest in vagimstallments over a one to four-year
period and have exercise prices reflecting the etar&lue of the shares of common stock on the afageant.

The Neonode Plan has been designed for particiamt$io are subject to Swedish income taxatiortlfiea Swedish Participant) and
(i) who are not subject to Swedish income taxafiggch, a Non-Swedish Participant). The optionseidsunder the plan to the Non-Swedish
Participant are five year options with 25% vesiimgnediately and the remaining vesting over a tlyes period. The options issued to
Swedish participants are vested immediately upsumaisce. The fair value of the options issued oth@MNeonode Plan at the date of issuance
was calculated using the Bla8choles option pricing model. These calculatiorssiaged risk free interest rates ranging from 4.5%.835%, ¢
volatility of 50% and share prices ranging fromé®4to $4.78. We will not grant any additional egutvards out of the Neonode Plan.

We granted options to purchase 570,000 sharesrafosomon stock to employees or members of our BoRirectors during the
year ended December 31, 2008. We granted optiopsrtthase 2,383,482 shares of our common stoakpdoyees or members of our Bos
of Directors during the year ended December 317 208e fair value of stock-based compensationedl&t the employee and director stock
options is calculated using the Black-Scholes optincing model as of the grant date of the undegstock options.

The stock compensation expense reflects the faievaf the vested portion of options for the Swhdiad Non-Swedish participants at the
date of issuance, the amortization of the unvegtetion of the stock options, less the option prems received from the Swedish participants.
Employee and director stock-based compensationnsepeelated to stock options in the accompanyimglensed statements of operations is as
follows (in thousands):

Remaining
Twelve month: unamortized
ended Twelve months expense at
December ended Decemb: December 31
31, 2007 31, 2008 2008

Stock based compensati $ 40¢€ $ 1,165 $ 502

The remaining unamortized expense related to siptikns will be recognized on a straight line basanthly as compensation expense
over the remaining vesting period which approxirm&@eears.

The fair value of each option grant was estimatethe date of grant using the Black-Scholes opgigcing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

Options granted in the year ended Decembe 2008 2007
Expected life (in years 2.67 4.27
Risk-free interest rat 2.8% 5.55%
Volatility 150.56% 114.2°%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
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The weighted average grant-date fair value of mgtigranted during the fiscal years ended Decenthe2@®8 and 2007 was $3.17 and
$1.54, respectively. The total intrinsic value ptions exercised during the fiscal years ended Déee 31, 2008 and 2007 was $1,272 and
$42,766, respectively.

The fair value of stock-based awards to employgesalculated using the Black-Scholes option pricimagel, even though this model was
developed to estimate the fair value of freely atad, fully transferable options without vestingtristions, which differ significantly from our
stock options. The Black-Scholes model also regustjective assumptions, including future stodé&epvolatility and expected time to
exercise, which greatly affect the calculated vellée expected term and forfeiture rate of optgmasited is derived from historical data on
employee exercises and post-vesting employmenination behavior, as well as expected behavioruatanding options. The ridkee rate i
based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect dulirgbrresponding period of grant. The expectedtiiblaés based on the historical volatility of
our stock price. These factors could change irfuhee, which would affect fair values of stock igpis granted in such future periods, and
could cause volatility in the total amount of theck-based compensation expense reported in fptnieds.

16. Warranty Obligations and Other Guarantees

The following is a summary of our agreements thatave determined are within the scope of FASBrpné&ation (FIN) No. 45,
Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requiremémt$suarantees, including Indirect Guarantees afdbtedness of Others.

Our mobile phone products were generally warraagginst defects for 12 months following the sale. hWdd a 12 month warranty from 1
manufacturer of the mobile phones. Reserves famntiatl warranty claims not covered by the manufastare provided at the time of revenue
recognition and are based on several factors, dintducurrent sales levels and our estimate of requats. Shipping and handling charges are
expensed as incurred. We accrue the estimatedtodsésincurred in performing warranty serviceghattime of revenue recognition and
shipment of the products to our customers. Oumesd# of costs to service our warranty obligatienisdsed on our expectation of future
conditions. To the extent we experience increasauamty claim activity or increased costs assodiatith servicing those claims, the warranty
accrual will increase, resulting in decreased gmaggin. On December 9, 2008, Neonode AB filedifpridation under the Swedish
bankruptcy laws and we have no further obligati@iated to product warranties effective with thaekraptcy filing.

The following table sets forth an analysis of o@rmanty reserve (in thousands):

Year ende Year ende
December { December !

2008 2007
Warranty reserve at beginning of per $ 95 $ =
Less: Cost to service warranty obligatic — -
Obligation of Neonode Al (95) —
Plus: Increases to reserves — 95
Total warranty reserve included in other accrugueases $ — $ 95

We have agreed to indemnify each of our executffieass and directors for certain events or ocauees arising as a result of the officer
or director serving in such capacity. The termhaf indemnification period is for the officer's aretttor's lifetime. The maximum potential
amount of future payments we could be required agerunder these indemnification agreements is utelinHowever, we have directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance policy that should enable usdoover a portion of future amounts paid. As alltesf our insurance policy coveray
we believe the estimated fair value of these indécation agreements is minimal and have no lidgiei recorded for these agreements as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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We enter into indemnification provisions under agreements with other companies in the ordinatysmof business, typically with
business partners, contractors, customers-mdllords. Under these provisions we generallynmoiéy and hold harmless the indemnified
party for losses suffered or incurred by the indifiech party as a result of our activities or, ims®cases, as a result of the indemnified party's
activities under the agreement. These indemnibiogpirovisions often include indemnifications relatito representations made by us with
regard to intellectual property rights. These indéimation provisions generally survive terminatiohthe underlying agreement. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we ddd required to make under these indemnificatioripions is unlimited. We have not
incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or eetthims related to these indemnification agreemekg a result, we believe the estimated fair
value of these agreements is minimal. Accordingly,have no liabilities recorded for these agreemastof December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

On September 4, 2008, we received a summons t@appthe United States District Court for the $muih District of New York because one
of our investors in previous private placementadeztions, Alpha Capital Anstalt (Alpha) allegedttive failed to issue certain stock
certificates pursuant to the terms and conditidrth® September 2007 investment subscription ageatsnAlpha was asking the court to av
them $734,650 in damages plus attorneys fees. édthove believed the claim had no merit, we signddfaitive settlement agreement on
January 21, 2009 and issued Alpha 1,096,997 sbims common stock as settlement in full. On Fabyu.3, 2009 a notice was sent to the
Court by Alpha’s legal counsel requesting dismisgahe action.

On December 9, 2008, Empire Asset Management (E@irbroker dealer that acted as the Companyasifial advisor and exclusive
placement agent in previous private placement &etians, initiated a law suit against the Companthe Supreme Court of the State of New
York alleging that the Corporation misrepresentesiduccess of its business to induce Empire’s m&toto invest in the Company. Empire is
seeking compensatory damages in an unspecifiedrrfunthe harm allegedly suffered. The Comparliebes that the action has no merit
and intends to defend vigorously against the acfitle Company’s Directors and Officer (D&O) insucarprovider has extended coverage and
will provide us with legal representation. Our D&@urance policy has a $150,000 retention provisioth we accrued a legal expense and
accounts payable totaling $150,000 at Decembe?@®18 related to the potential payment of the ré@eninder our D&O insurance policy.

On March 24, 2009, the Company as informed thatnaptaint had been filed against the Company byhaastor, Mr. David Berman, wt
$600,000.00 in the Company on March 4, 2008 and M»y2008. The Company was informed that Mr. Berimaasted in the Company thr
Empire. To date the Company has not received a obtlye complaint, but the Company believes thatabtion has no merit and intends to
vigorously against the action.

We are the secondary guarantor on the subleasg girevious headquarters until March 2010. We belige will have no liabilities on
this guarantee and have not recorded a liabilietember 31, 2008.

17. Income Taxes
Loss before income taxes was distributed geograpias follows (in thousands):

Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Dec. 31, Ended Dec. 31,

2008 2007
Domestic $ 1,97¢ $ (39,609
Foreign (7,910 (8,837
Total $ (5939 % (48,44)
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We had no provision (benefit) for income taxestfa year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.
The effective income tax rate differs from the gtaty federal income tax rate for the following seas:

Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Dec. 31, Ended Dec. 31,

2008 2007
Amount at standard tax rat (34) % (35 %
Non-deductible loss on revaluation of embedded coneergatures and extinguishment
convertible deb — 30%
Increase in valuation allowance for deferred teset — 5%
Other permanent differences due to Neonode AB hgiky 34% —
Effective tax rate 0% 0%
Significant components of the deferred tax balameesas follows (in thousands):
December 31
2008 2007
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ — $ 5,70
Amortization — 1,30¢
Other 30t 21C
Total deferred tax assets $ 308 $ 7,21¢
Valuation allowance (305) (7,218

Total net deferred tax asst $ — % —

Valuation allowances are recorded to offset centigferred tax assets due to management’s uncert#inéalizing the benefits of these
items. Management applies a full valuation alloweafar the accumulated losses of Neonode Inc, amslibsidiary Cypressen, since it is not
determinable using the “more likely than not” arigethat there will be any future benefit of oufaeteed tax assets. This is mainly due to our
history of operating losses and due to the conipettharacter of the hand-held media device/mdbllephone market. The main components
of our deferred tax benefits at December 31, 208#he accumulated net operating loss carry-foraasthich are almost entirely related to the
operations of Neonode AB in Sweden. The main coraptaof our deferred tax benefits at December GQ8 2re related to accrued employee
benefits and stock compensation. On December B,2080onode AB filed for liquidation under the Swadbankruptcy laws and effective w
the filing we are no longer responsible for théiliies and no longer have any ownership inteireshe assets of Neonode AB, including any
tax net operating loss carryforwards. On DecemhtefB08, effective with our corporate reorganizatiwe no longer have any tax operating
loss carryforwards.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisifi-IN 48 which includes a two-step approactetmgnizing, de-recognizing and
measuring uncertain tax positions accounted factordance with SFAS 109. As a result of the imgletation of FIN 48, we recognized no
increase in the liability for unrecognized tax bise Therefore upon implementation of FIN 48, veeagnized no material adjustment to the
January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. én@liation of the unrecognized tax benefits fog fear ended December 31, 2008 is as
follows:
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Balance at January 1, 200! $ 0
Additions for tax positions of prior yea —
Reductions for tax position of prior yet —
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal —
Decrease- Settlement: —
Reductions - Settlements —

Balance at December 31, 20C $ 0

We adopted a policy to classify accrued interedt@emalties as part of the accrued FIN 48 liabitityhe provision for income taxes. For
the year ended December 31, 2008, we did not reo@gmy interest or penalties related to unrecaghtax benefits.

Our continuing practice is to recognize interest/anpenalties related to income tax matters ioine tax expense. As of December 31,
2008, we had no accrued interest and penaltieedeta uncertain tax matters.

By the end of 2008, we had no uncertain tax passtitat would be reduced as a result of a lapteeddpplicable statute of limitations.
do not anticipate the adjustments would resultimagerial change to our financial position.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdiction, California and Sweden. The 1995 througb&tax years are open and may be
subject to potential examination in one or morésjlictions. We are not currently under federalesta foreign income tax examination.

18. Employee Benefit Plans

We patrticipate in a number of individual definedhrdoution pension plans for our employees in Swed@ontributions relating to these
defined contribution plans for the years ended Ddass 31, 2008 and 2007 were $363,000 and $237g@Q@ctively. A part of the
restructuring, we no longer participate in any pemglans for our employees in Sweden.

19. Commitments and Contingencies

On December 9, 2008, Empire Asset Management (Ep@irbroker dealer that acted as the Comgsdfityancial advisor and exclusive |
agent in previous private placement transactionisaied a law suit against the Company in the 8oer Court of the State of New York alle:
Corporation misrepresented the success of its bssito induce Empirg’customers to invest in the Company. Empireé&isg compensatol
in an unspecified amount for the harm allegedlyesefl. The Company believes that the action haserit and intends to defend vigorousl'
action. The Compang’Directors and Officer (D&QO) insurance provideslextended coverage and will provide us with legptesentation. C
insurance policy has a $150,000 retention provisiath we accrued a legal expense and accounts payadling $150,000 at December 31,
to the potential payment of the retention under@&©O insurance policy.

On March 24, 2009, the Company as informed thatnaptaint had been filed against the Company byhaastor, Mr. David Berman, wt
$600,000.00 in the Company on March 4, 2008 and M»y2008. The Company was informed that Mr. Berimaasted in the Company thr
Empire. To date the Company has not received a obtlye complaint, but the Company believes thatabtion has no merit and intends to
vigorously against the action.

Operating Leases
On January 12, 2009, our subsidiary, Cypressemazhisto a 12 month lease with Vasakronan Fastegh®&B for approximately 2,000

square feet of office space located at Linnega®ars&®ckholm, Sweden for approximately $5,000 penttn. The annual payment for this sg
equates to approximately $60,000.
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The future minimum lease payments under this nowaiéable operating lease are as follows as of Bees 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Future
minimum
payments on
operating leases

Year Ending December 3
2009 $ 60

Total rent expense under the leases for officeespimated in Sweden and the US under leases thatide®en cancelled was $378,000and
$343,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002@@id, respectively.

20. Concentration of Credit and Business Risks

Our trade accounts receivable for Neonode AB d3aaember 31, 2007 are concentrated among a srmaberof customers, principally
located in Europe and India. Two customers accaline68% of our outstanding accounts receivableestember 31, 2007.

Sales to individual customers in excess of 15%etfsales for the year ended December 31, 2007dedlgales to My Phone located in
Greece of $992,000, or 32% of net sales and Brajhtpocated in Sweden and Norway of $749,000,4% 2f net sales. All sales were
executed in Euros or U.S. dollars.

We depend on a limited number of customers fortautislly all revenue to date. Failure to anticgpat respond adequately to
technological developments in our industry, chanigesistomer or supplier requirements or changeedulatory requirements or industry
standards, or any significant delays in the devakapt or introduction of products or services, cchdste a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and cash flows.

21. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share for the year ebededmber 31, 2008 and 2007 was computed by dividlieget loss for the relevant
period by the weighted average number of sharesminon stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per comshare is computed by dividing |
loss by the weighted average number of sharesroframn stock and common stock equivalents outstanding

Common stock equivalents of approximately 26,133%0w 000 stock options and 2.1 million and 7.7 ioillwarrants to purchase
common stock are excluded from the diluted earnpegsshare calculation for the year ended Dece@ibe2008 and 2007, respectively, due to
their anti-dilutive effect.

Year ende(

(in thousands, except per share amot December 31

2008 2007
BASIC AND DILUTED
Weighted average number
common shares outstanding (a) 28,16¢ 15,40(
Number of shares for computation
net loss per share 28,16¢ 15,40(
Net loss $ (5,939 $  (48,44)
Net loss per share basic and dilu $ (0.21) $ (3.15)
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€) In loss periods, common share equivalents woule lavanti-dilutive effect on net loss per share thedefore have been
excluded

22. Segment Information

We have one reportable segment, as defined in IBADisclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt&eInformation Prior to
December 9, 2008, the date Neonode AB filed fokhastcy, we operated in one industry segment: thestbhpment of intellectual property
related to optical infrared touchscreen and the shhssociated products and licenses that encantipiggechnology. In December 2008, prior
to our subsidiary, Neonode AB, filing for bankruptee transferred the patents, copyrights and elrielogy intellectual property to Neonode
Inc pursuant to an intercompany debt pledge agretaral continue to develop and license our touglesctechnology. We have carried out
substantially all of our operations through oursidiary Neonode AB located in Sweden, although idecdrry out some development activi
together with our manufacturing partner in Malay3iae majority of the sales of our mobile phonesen@mncentrated in Europe.

In addition to phone sales, revenues included $eeavenue from an Asian manufacturer amountir$i 3,000 for 2007.
23. Related Party Transactions
Refinancing and Capital Raising Transactions

Per Bystedt, our Chairman of the Board and Chiefdtxive Officer is personally involved in our redimcing and capital raising
activities. Mr. Bystedt, the beneficial holder gipgoximately 8.42% of the Compamsydutstanding shares of stock as of January 38,29the
beneficial owner of Iwo Jima SARL. Iwo Jima SARLtered into a Subscription Agreement on DecembeRB08 and invested $100,000 in
the Company in exchange for the issuance of 10s6@@es of Series A Preferred Stock, and is onkeoftiree Cypressen Stockholders who
participated in the share exchange transactiontivéfCompany pursuant to the Share Exchange AgrgesneDecember 29, 2008. Iwo Jima
SARL also surrendered warrants in exchange forstheance of Series B Preferred Stock. Iwo Jima SABts 161,788.17 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and 7,210.96 shares of Series f8riRed Stock. Mr. Bystedt holds 84,149 employeelstaptions to purchase our common
stock. Assuming the conversion of the outstandirgddPred stock into common stock at the increasewersion rates, Mr. Bystedt will
beneficially own approximately 17.41% of our outsteng common stock.

Mr. Magnus Goertz, the beneficial holder of appneeiely 5.15% of the Company’s outstanding sharesaak as of January 31,
2009, is the beneficial owner of Athemis Ltd., whimompany is one of the three Cypressen Stockieldko participated in the share exche
transaction with the Company pursuant to the SEaohange Agreement. Athemis Ltd. holds 151,788tBfes of Series A Preferred Stock. .
Mr. Goertz holds 132,446 employee stock optionsuichase our common stock. Assuming conversiohevbtitstanding Preferred stock into
common stock at the increased conversion ratesGidertz will beneficially own approximately 15.938f6our outstanding common stock.

Mr. Thomas Eriksson, the beneficial holder of apprately 3.14% of the Company’s outstanding shafestock as of January 31,
2009, is the beneficial owner of Wirelesstoys ABiieth company is one of the three Cypressen Stodin®who participated in the share
exchange transaction with the Company pursuarite®hare Exchange Agreement. Wirelesstoys AB Hdds788.17 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock. . Mr. Eriksson holds 97,127 emgéogtock options to purchase our common stock Asguoonversion of the outstanding
Preferred stock into common stock at the increasedersion rates, Mr. Eriksson will beneficially mwapproximately 15.76% of our
outstanding common stock.
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Mr. David W. Brunton, our Chief Financial Officqrurchased 4,854.74 shares of Series A Preferrezk 8tmm each of the Cypressen
Stockholders (Iwo Jima SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, arttiéknis Ltd.) for a total purchase of 14,564.22 ebarf Series A Preferred Stock. As of
January 31, 2009, Mr. Brunton holds approximatelfd of the Company’s outstanding shares of stoak.Bvuinton holds 245,000 employee
stock options to purchase our common stock. Assgittie conversion of the outstanding Preferred stiottkcommon stock at the increased
conversion rates, Mr. Brunton will beneficially ovapproximately 1.58% of our outstanding commonlstoc

Ms. Susan Major, a member of our Board of Directaral the beneficial holder of 0.84% of the Compsoytstanding shares of
stock as of January 31, 2009, was the beneficialowf warrants that were converted into 149.14eshaf Preferred B Stock. . Ms. Major
holds 216,595 employee stock options to purchasea@umon stock Assuming conversion of the outstagnéireferred stock into common
stock at the increased conversion rates, Ms. Mailbbeneficially own approximately 0.08% of ourtstanding common stock.

24. Subsequent Events

On January 21, 2009, we signed a definitive setldgragreement and issued Alpha Capital Anstalti{a)d,096,997 shares of our com
as settlement in full of the lawsuit Alpha filedadigst us on September 4, 2008. On February 13, 20@Rice was sent to the Court by Alphg’
counsel requesting dismissal of the action. On Bréeeg 31, 2008, we accrued $55,000 as legal expemisé is the fair market value of the ¢
common stock issued to Alpha as settlement ofaheit.

In January and February 2009 we received the castegds related to the December 2008 private pleseaffering of $1.1 million of oL
Preferred stock.

In January 2009, we converted approximately $53@¥@flr outstanding accounts payable at Decemhge2(18 to approximately 763,0!
shares of our common stock.

On March 31, 2009, our shareholders approved pedpds amend our Certificate of Incorporation

« to effect an increase in the number of authorizedes of our stock from 77,000,000 to 700,000,0@Dam increase in the number of
shares of our common stock from 75,000,000 to G¥80DO;

« toincrease the conversion rate of the Series feRBrl Stock such that each share of Series A Peef&tock, which has be:
convertible into 1 share of common stock, is nowvestible into 480.63 shares of common stock:

- toincrease the conversion rate of the Series BeResl Stock such that each share of Series B feeefStock, which had bet
convertible into 1 share of common stock, is nowvestible into 132.07 shares of common stc

The above increases in the conversion rate of ¢éhieSA and B Preferred Stock will give such haddeibeneficial conversion feature, and

we will account for the increase in conversion itéhat time. Such increase in the conversionisatet yet reflected in these consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2008.
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Neonode Inc.
Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(amounts in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance a Additions Balance
Beginning  charged to cos End of
Description of Period and expense Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 2C
Allowance for Warranty Resen $ 95 $ - $ 95 $ -
Allowance for Doubtful account $ 426 $ - % (4,260 $ -
Year ended December 31, 2C
Allowance for Warranty Resen $ - $ 9% % - 3% 95
Allowance for Doubtful account $ - $ 426¢ $ - $ 4,26¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.

| TEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of and with the participatidrour management, including the Company’s Chieddtitive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveneissur disclosure controls and procedures (as serch is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the Decembge?@18. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief EtteeOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls pratedures were not effective for the reasons de=stbelow.

During the audit of our consolidated financial staents for the year ended December 31, 2008, mareageletermined that we had
certain material weaknesses relating to our acoogifior certain financing transactions, includirgngertible debt and derivative financial
instruments. A material weakness is a deficiency combination of deficiencies, in internal cohweer financial reporting, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatgroba Company’s annual or interim financial staémts will not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. In addition, we entered into selepanplex financing transactions (including convensof convertible debt, derivatives,
conversion of warrants, bankruptcy of Neonode AB eomplex valuation and measurement activities) ibsulted in accounting adjustments
during our year-end audit. Because these matedaknesses as to internal control over financiadnéyy also bear upon our disclosure
controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Offared Chief Financial Officer were unable to codéwur disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.

Despite the conclusion that disclosure controls@odedures were not effective as of the end dbgdarovered by this report, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer belgethat the financial statements and other infolwnatontained in this annual report present
fairly, in all material respects, our businessafinial condition and results of operations.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Report of Management on Internal Control over Finarcial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchangte @ar internal control system has been designguideide reasonable, not absolute,
assurance to our management and Board of Diretttatshe objectives of our control system with exggo the integrity, reliability and fair
presentation of published financial statementsw@et A control system, no matter how well desigard operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the tepstem’s objectives will be met. Further, theigef a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints. Because afileeent limitations in all control systems, nakation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instancaud, if any, within our company have been detécténder the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Clirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, \assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of [@etber 31, 2008. In making this assessment, wethsettiteria established in the framework
on Internal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizat{og80S0O”) of the Treadway Commission.
Based on our assessment, which was conducted augdodthe COSO criteria, we have concluded thatimernal control over financial
reporting was not effective in achieving its objees as of December 31, 2008 due to a material meszkthat existed in our internal controls
relating to our accounting for certain financingrsactions, including convertible debt and denxatinancial instruments.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finariaieporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstaternéttie companys annual or interim financial statements will netgrevented or detected o
timely basis. Based on managemsrassessment of our internal control over finanmejpbrting as of December 31, 2008, the followirgtenia
weakness existed as of that date:

The Company’s controls over accounting for cerfaiancing transactions did not operate effectivasyof December 31, 2008. In
addition, we entered into several complex finan¢magsactions (including conversion of convertithbt, derivatives, conversion of warrants,
bankruptcy of Neonode AB and complex valuation arehsurement activities) that resulted in accourdifjgstments during our year-end
audit.

This annual report is not required to include aorepf the Company independent registered public accounting firm wutemporar
rules of the Commission that would permit us tovide only management’s assessment in this annpalte

This annual report is not required to include arepf the Company’s independent registered pudadizounting firm due to temporary
rules of the Commission that would permit us tovde only management’s assessment in this annpalte

As discussed elsewhere in this report, the bankyuph December 9, 2008 of our previous operatirggsisiiary Neonode AB and the
recent acquisition of Cypressen on December 308 2&0resented a significant change in our busiaeddinancial operations. Having
occurred in the final quarter of the fiscal yelig bankruptcy and acquisition left management imghifficient time to finalize integration and
consolidate operations to fully assess the effengs of internal control over financial reporting.

As we move towards complete integration and codatibn of business and financial operations of €gpen and Neonode, we expe:!
take steps to both remedy the material weaknegsesided above and facilitate our management’'ssassmt of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxleyaict Commission rules. Our planned steps include:

« adding personnel to our financial department, ctiasts, or other resources (including those withljgpuicompany reportin
experience) to enhance our policies and procedurasding those related to revenue recognit

« exploring the suitability of further upgrades ta @gcounting system to complement the new managemgarting system softwa
described above; ar

- engaging a qualified consultant in 2009 to perfamassessment of the effectiveness of our inteordlol over financial reporting
and assist us in implementing appropriate intecnatrols on weaknesses determined, if any,documgrdind then testing the
effectiveness of those contro

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The following individuals serve as the Directorsl@axecutive officers of our company. There arearuifial relationships between our direct
or our executive officers and any other directoexecutive officer.

NAME AGE POSITION

Per Bysted 44 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief ExaeuOfficer

John Reardo 48 Director

Susan Majo 57 Director

Kenneth Olsot 72 Director

David W. Bruntor 58 Vice President, Finance, Chief Financial Officeedsurer and Secrete
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Board of Directors

The Board is divided into three classes. Each dassists, as nearly as possible, of tried of the total number of directors, and eaasslha
a three-year term. Vacancies on the Board maylled finly by persons elected by a majority of temaining directors. A director elected by
the Board to fill a vacancy in a class shall sdorghe remainder of the full term of that classdaintil the director’s successor is elected and
qualified. This includes vacancies created by are@mse in the number of directors.

The Board presently has four members. The folloviéng brief biography of each director

Per Bystedt- Mr. Bystedt, age 44, has served as the Chairmh#medBoard of Directors and the Chief Executivdi€afr of the Company since
May 2008 and served as the interim Chief Execu@ifficer of Old Neonode from October 2005 througly 2006. Since 1997, Mr. Bystedt
been the Chief Executive Officer of Spray AB, ateinet investment company. From 1991 through 1887Bystedt was a Senior Vice
President of various television production and rekncompanies including Trash Television, ZTV AB/3 Broadcasting Group Ltd and M1
AB. From 2000 through the present, Mr. Bystedt$exrved as a member of the board of directors of dodenson AB. From 2000 to 2008, he
was a member of the board of directors of Eniroakigl, from 2005 to 2008, was a member of the bobditectors of Servera AB. From 2005
to 2008, Mr. Bystedt has been the chairman of tded of directors of AIK Fotboll AB from 2005 todlpresent. From 1997 through 2005 he
served as a member of the board of directors oé#AB, and from 1998 through 2000 he was the wtairof the board of directors of
Razorfish, Inc. Mr. Bystedt holds an MBA degreenfrthe Stockholm School of Economics.

John Reardon- Mr. Reardon, age 48, has served as a directSB&, Inc. since February 2004 and of Old Neonodeeskebruary 2007.

Mr. Reardon is the chairman of the Audit Commit@el member of the Compensation and Nominating and@ance Committees of the
Company. Mr. Reardon has served as President amberef the board of directors of The RTC Groutgdannical publishing company since
1990. In 1994, Mr. Reardon founded a Dutch corponatAEE, to expand the activities of The RTC Granip Europe. Mr. Reardon also
serves on the board of directors of One Stop Systém., a computing systems and manufacturing eompMr. Reardon holds a BA degree
from National University.

Susan Major - Ms. Major, age 57, has served as a director @igdde Inc. since 1997. She is the co-founder ang 22002 has been the
Managing Partner of DavenportMajor Executive Seaktyr Major is Chairman of the Compensation Comesithtnd a member of the Audit
and Nominating and Governance Committees. Her &gpawrorking in the technology industry spans mben 18 years with global high
growth companies coupled with 10 additional yedrsearch experience, including C-level executiaepments for public and emerging, pre-
IPO corporations. Ms. Major specializes in the Veisg, telecom, software and semiconductor sectmrserves Fortune 500 clients such as
Motorola and Qualcomm. While at Motorola, Ms. Maietroduced numerous technology products, includingrway radios, cellular handsets
and a first generation PDA. While at Ameritech, Mkajor led the marketing efforts that expandedrthaging and wireless data services. In
addition, Ms. Major has been awarded two patentgiieless messaging. Ms. Major holds a BA and a Mi&gree from Northeastern
University in Boston

Kenneth Olson- Mr. Olson, age 72, has served as a director ohdée Inc. since June 2008. Mr. Olson is the chemirof the Nominating and

Governance Committee and is a member of the AuditGompensation Committees of the Company. Mr. ©is@n electrical engineer and
holds an MBA from Pepperdine University.
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Mr. Olson currently serves as a director on thiwfahg boards:

. Digirad Corporation, (NASDAQ - DRAD), (solid-statadionuclide camera systems for detection of caroagery disease; nuclear
medicine imaging services); director since 4/9@mfer Audit Committee chair, currently Governanaerinittee chair and Audit
Committee membe

« Troxel Helmets (equestrian helmet design, marketng distribution); advisory director since 1996

« Santrio, Inc. (Web-based systems software); director since 2005

« Ecolayers, Inc. (environmental software), director and chairmarei2007

David W Brunton - Mr. Brunton joined SBE, the predecessor to Neenod, in November 2001 as Vice President, FinaBbéf Financial
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer. From 2000 to 2@®®vas the Chief Financial Officer for NetStredne,, a telephony broadband network
service provider. Mr. Brunton is a certified pubdiccountant and holds a BA degree from Californé&eSUniversity.

Independence of the Board of Directo

A majority of the members of the board of a comyplisied on a national exchange must qualify adépendent,” as affirmatively
determined by the board of directors. The Boardsatia with the Company’s counsel to ensure thaBiberd’s determinations are consistent
with all relevant securities laws and regulatioegarding the definition of “independent.”

Although the Company is not required to comply wviftese “independentéquirements, the Company has determined thaigsdBshouli
continue to qualify as “independenCbnsistent with these considerations, after rexdéall relevant transactions or relationships betweact
director, or any of his or her family members, #mel Company, its senior management and its indegmgmdgistered public accounting firm,
the Board affirmatively has determined that altred Company’s directors, other than Per Bystedtjradependent directors.

Meetings of the Board of Director

The Board met four times during the Company’s 208l year. Each then-serving director attende 05 more of the aggregate of the
meetings of the Board and of the committees on lwh&served, held during the period for which he walirector or committee member,
respectively. In addition, the Company’s independirectors met in regularly scheduled executivesims at which only independent
directors are present.

All of the board members attended last year's annual meetitinger in person or telephonically.
Board Committee:

The Board has three committees: an Audit Committg@pmpensation Committee, and a Nominating anceance Committee. John
Reardon, Kenneth Olson and Susan Major constiti¢ertembers of each committee. During the Comp&808 fiscal year, the Audit
Committee met four times, the Compensation Committet two times, and the Nominating and Govern&uaramittee met two times. All
then-serving directors attended at least 75% ofrthetings of each committee.Below is a descriptioemach committee of the Board. Each of
the committees has authority to engage legal counseher experts or consultants, as it deemsapfate to carry out its responsibilities. The
Board has determined that each member of each dbeemieets the applicable rules and regulatiorardétg “independence” and that each
member is free of any relationship that would ifees with his or her individual exercise of indegent judgment with regard to the Company.

Audit CommitteeJohn Reardon is Chairman of the Audit Committdes Tnembers of the Audit Committee are John ReaiSlosan Majo
and Kenneth Olson. The Audit Committee of the Boaigich was established in accordance with Se@{@a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act,
oversees the Compamytorporate accounting and financial reporting gssc For this purpose, the Audit Committee perfaseweral function:
including the following:

« evaluates the performance of and assesses théapiahs of the independent registered public aatiog firm;
« determines and approves the engagement of thedndept registered public accounting firm;
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« determines whether to retain or terminate the iexjshdependent registered public accounting fimtooappoint and engage a new
independent registered public accounting fi

« reviews and approves the retention of the indepe@gistered public accounting firm to perform gmgposed permissible n-audit
services

« monitors the rotation of partners of the independegistered public accounting firm on the Comy's audit engagement team
required by law

« confers with management and the independent regispaublic accounting firm regarding the effectigss of internal controls over
financial reporting

- establishes procedures, as required under appitabl for the receipt, retention and treatmertarhplaints received by the
Company regarding accounting, internal accountogrols or auditing matters and the confidential anonymous submission by
employees of concerns regarding questionable atioguor auditing matters

« reviews the financial statements to be includethénCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K; and

« discusses with management and the independenteregipublic accounting firm the results of theuwalraudit and the results of the
Compan'’s quarterly financial statemen

The Board has adopted a written Audit Committeertehahat is available on the Company’s website at

http://www.neonode.com/Documents/investor/audit_euttee_charter.pdf.

The Board annually reviews the SEC standards afidlititen of independence for Audit Committee mengand has determined that all
members of the Company’s Audit Committee are inddpat. The Company does not have an “audit comeiitb@ncial expert” as defined in
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissoving on the Audit Committee because the Boalié\es that the background and
financial sophistication of its members are suéfittito fulfill the duties of the Audit Committee.

Compensation Committee

Susan Major is Chairman of the Compensation Coremiffthe members of the Compensation CommitteechreReardon, Susan Major
and Kenneth Olson. The Compensation CommitteeeoBthard reviews and approves the overall compeansatrategy and policies for the
Company. The Compensation Committee duties indedollowing:

« reviews and approves corporate performance godlshbjectives relevant to the compensation of then@any' s executive
officers and other senior managemt

- reviews and approves the compensation and othestef employment of the Company’s Chief Executiéoer;

« reviews and approves the compensation and othestef employment of the other executive officers] a

- administers and reviews the Company'’s stock ogdimh purchase plans, pension and profit sharingspktock bonus plans,
deferred compensation plans and other similar arogt

The Committee has the authority to obtain advicassistance from consultants, legal counsel, a¢tmuar other advisors as appropriate
to perform its duties, and to determine the temosis and fees for such engagements. All membaredompanys Compensation Committ
are independent. The Board has adopted a writtemp€nsation Committee Charter that is availablehenGompany’s website at
http://www.neonode.com/Documents/investor/compémsatommittee charter.pdf

The Compensation Committee conducts an annuadipeaihce and compensation review for each of ourwgike officers and determines
salary adjustments and bonus and equity awardseapiomore meetings generally held during thedastter of the year. In addition, the
Compensation Committee considers matters relatewiteidual compensation, such as compensationéar executive hires, as well as
various compensation policy issues throughout tee.yFFor executives other than the Chief Execu@iffeeer, the Compensation Committee
receives and considers performance evaluations@mgensation recommendations submitted to the Cterby the Chief Executive Offic
In the case of the Chief Executive Officer, theleation of his performance is conducted by the Censation Committee, which determines
any adjustments to his compensation as well asdstarbe granted. The agenda for meetings of tmep@osation Committee is usually
determined by its Chairman with the assistancé®@fQompany’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Ficial Officer. Compensation
Committee meetings are regularly attended by thefExecutive and Chief Financial Officer.
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The Committee approves routine on-hire option rémemployees of the Company, subject to spelaifitations. For these grants, the
exercise price must be equal to the closing pricthe OTC BB of the Company’s Common Stock on thdihg on the date of grant.

Nominating and Governance Commit.

Kenneth Olson is Chairman of the Nominating and &oance Committee. The members of the Nominatidg@&awvernance Committee
are John Reardon, Susan Major and Kenneth Ols@NbDminating and Governance Committee of the Baardsponsible for identifying,
reviewing and evaluating candidates to serve &iirs of the Company, consistent with criteriaraped by the Board. The Nominating and
Governance duties include the following:

« reviewing and evaluating incumbent directors;
« recommending candidates to the Board for electiche Board; and
« making recommendations to the Board regarding tembership of the committees of the Board.

All members of the Nominating and Governance Coremitire independent. The Board has adopted amhiteninating and Governan
Committee Charter that is available on the Compamgbsite at
http://www.neonode.com/Documents/investor/nomirgatand_governance_committee_charter.pdf

The Nominating and Governance Committee believasdandidates for director should have certain mimh qualifications, including
being able to read and understand basic finanzitdraents, being over 21 years of age and havimbighest personal integrity and ethics.
Nominating and Governance Committee also intendetsider such factors as possessing relevanttéesgpapon which to be able to off
advice and guidance to management, having suffitie to devote to the affairs of the Company, destrated excellence in his or her field,
having the ability to exercise sound business jugigrand having the commitment to rigorously repmetige long-term interests of the
Company’s stockholders. However, the Nominating @oglernance Committee retains the right to modifse qualifications from time to
time. Candidates for director nominees are revieiwmate context of the current composition of theaBl, the operating requirements of the
Company and the long-term interests of stockholdarsonducting this assessment, the committeeidersdiversity, age, skills, and such
other factors as it deems appropriate given theeatineeds of the Board and the Company, to maiatéialance of knowledge, experience and
capability.

In the case of incumbent directors whose termdfafeoare set to expire, the Nominating and GoveceaCommittee reviews such
directors’ overall service to the Company duringithierm, including the number of meetings attendeetl of participation, quality of
performance, and any other relationships and tcdioses that might impair such directors’ indepengien

In the case of new director candidates, the Normigatnd Governance Committee also determines whéteenominee must be
independent pursuant to applicable SEC rules analatons and the advice of counsel, if necessimg. Nominating and Governance
Committee then uses its network of contacts to dlenaplist of potential candidates, but may alsgaage, if it deems appropriate, a professi
search firm. The Nominating and Governance Committnducts any appropriate and necessary inquiteshe backgrounds and
qualifications of possible candidates after condidethe function and needs of the Board. The Natiiig and Governance Committee meets
to discuss and consider such candidates’ qualiificatand then selects a nominee for recommendettitire Board by majority vote. To date,
the Nominating and Governance Committee has ndtgégée to any third party to assist in the proaésdentifying or evaluating director
candidates. To date, the Nominating and Govern@ocemittee has not received any director nominatfaore stockholders of the Company.

The Nominating and Governance Committee will coasitirector candidates recommended by stockholdées Nominating and
Governance Committee does not intend to alter tlwen@r in which it evaluates candidates, includirgrhinimum criteria set forth above,
based on whether the candidate was recommendedtbgldolder or not. Stockholders who wish to reg@nd individuals for consideration
by the Nominating and Governance Committee to becoominees for election to the Board may do sodliyering a written recommendati
to the Nominating and Governance Committee atdheviing address: Neonode Inc., Linnegatan 89 115@@&kholm, Sweden, at least six
months prior to any meeting at which directorstarbe elected. Submissions must include the fuliemaf the proposed nominee, a description
of the proposed nominee’s business experience feast the previous five years, complete biogreghinformation, a description of the
proposed nominee’s qualifications as a directorangpresentation that the nominating stockhoklarbeneficial or record owner of the
Company’s stock. Any such submission must be aceoiep by the written consent of the proposed noentoebe named as a nominee and to
serve as a director if elected.
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Stockholder Communications with the Board of Direcs

The Company adopted a policy for stockholder comations with the Board. Persons interested in camigating with any particular
director, the independent directors or the Board a$ole may address correspondence to the intenedguient, in care of Neonode Inc. at
Linnegatan 89, 11523 Stockholm, Sweden. If no paldrr director is named, letters will be forwardddpending on the subject matter, to the
respective Chair of the Audit, Compensation, or Nating and Governance Committee.

Code of Ethics

The Company adopted the Neonode Inc. Code of Bssi@enduct that applies to all officers, directamd employees. All of the
Company’s employees must carry out their dutiezcitordance with the policies set forth in the CofilBusiness Conduct and with applicable
laws and regulations. The Code of Business Conthutthins a separate Code of Ethics that appliesfggadly to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and senior financial officers.eT@ode of Business Conduct and Code of Ethicsd#adle on our website at
http://www.neonode.com/Documents/investor/businesde of conduct.pdflf the Company makes any substantive amendmertketCode
of Business Conduct or grants any waiver from aigion of the Code to any executive officer or dige, the Company will promptly disclose
the nature of the amendment or waiver on its websit

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL O WNERSHIP REPORTING
COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctlins and executive officers, and persons who owrerthan ten percent of a registered
class of our equity securities, to file with theGHitial reports of ownership and reports of ches\gh ownership of our common stock and
other equity securities. Officers, directors aneager than ten percent stockholders are require®Hgy regulation to furnish us with copies of
all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on a review of th@es of such reports furnished to us and writegresentations that no other reports

were required, during the fiscal year ended Dece@be2008, all Section 16(a) filing requirementglécable to our officers, directors and
greater than ten percent beneficial owners wereptiechwith.
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ITEM 11 .
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The table below summarizes the total compensatiiohtp or earned by each of the named executiveenf for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008:

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Stock Option All Other

Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation

Position Year %) (%) %) (%) %) Total ($)

(b) @ ©

Per Bystedt Chief
Executive Officer (f) 2008 $ 91,17 - - - - 8 91,17+
Mikael Hagman, (d) (e)
(g) President and Chief 2008 $ 96,14° - - - - $ 96,147
Executive Officel 2007 $ 190,16° $ 73,68( - $ 53,78: $ 23,46¢ $ 341,09:
David W. Brunton, Chie’ 2008 $ 165,00( - % 17,891 144,12(  $ 1,04C $ 328,05°
Financial Officer 2007 $ 185,000 $ 30,62t $ 22,75 % 86,96¢ $ 1632 $ 326,97"

(@) Amounts are calculated as of the grant date obghi®n award in accordance with the provisions t@t&nent of Financial Accountir
Standards (SFAS) No. 123R “Share-based PaymemrtdsBIsee Notel4. “Stock Based Compensaitiotiie Notes to the Consolidal
Financial Statements as filed on Neonode Inc.’siahreport Form 10K for the valuation assumptiorelmin the Black-Scholes
option pricing used to calculate fair value of tpion awards

(b) Amounts are the market value of common stock issoédr. Brunton under the g-merger SBE, Inc. stock-lieu of cash payroll pla
that was implemented in 2007 as a cash preservatgasure and the market value of common stockdssuklr. Brunton in 2008 for
payment of accrued vacation liabilit

(c) Includes $23,464 attributable in fiscal 2007 to Magman to payments to the Swedish defined conioibuetirement plan and $1,C
and $1,632 attributable in fiscal 2008 and 2003peetively, to Mr. Brunton for premiums paid by tBempany for group term li
insurance.(d)Mr. Hagman became President and Ekiedutive Officer effective March 2007 and left thempany in March 200t

(e) Mr. Hagman is a citizen of Sweden and is employe8weden and all payments to him are in Swedism&(SEK). The amounts

this table are displayed in U.S. Dollars (USD) ane converted from the SEK to USD using the aveeaghange rate for fiscal 2C
year 6.58 SEK to the USD and of 2007 year of 6. #08FEthe USD.
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() Mr. Bystedt was appointed Chief Executive OfficerMay 2008. He is a citizen of Sweden and is engdoin Sweden and
payments to him are in Swedish Krona (SEK). The am®in this table are displayed in U.S. Dollar$SQ) and are converted frc
the SEK to USD using the average exchange ratéisical 2008 year 6.58 SEK to the USD. The Compargrued but did not pi
300,000 Krona ($45,587 USD) salary for the firstethmonths that Mr. Bystedt was employed as the .Q#0O Bystedt was pa
300,000 Krona ($45,587) of the amount owed to himthe next three months by the Swedish governmarguant to Swedi:
reconstruction laws. The accrued but unpaid balaf&5,587 has not been paid and has been forgivire Neonode bankrupt
Mr. Bystedt will not receive any salary for 200%iusuch time that the Board of Directors deterrsitieat the Company has suffici
cash flow from operations to pay his sale

(g) Mr. Hagman was awarded 250,000 stock options imualgn2008 and the compensation expense for 20@8eceko option grar
reflects the fair value of these options calculaiadhe date of the option award in accordance thighprovisions of SFAS No. 12t
All 250,000 stock options were unvested and foefibs in March 2008 when he left the compi

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-end

OPTION AWARDS

Equity Incentive

Plan Awards:
Number of Number of Number of
Securities Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option
Name & Principal Options (#)  Options(#) UnearnedOptions Exercise Expiration
Position Grant Date Exercisable Unexercisabl (#) price ($) Date
Mikael Hagman 1/18/2007 88,29¢ - - % 2.12 1/17/200¢
President & Chie
Executive Office (2
David W. Brunton 10/22/200z 20,00( - - % 4.5C 10/22/200¢
Chief Financial Office 4/12/2004 5,00( - - $ 22.2¢ 4/12/2011
3/31/200& 20,00( - - $ 14.7¢ 8/8/2012
3/21/200€ 5,00( - - % 5.0C 3/21/2013
5/30/2007 15,00( - - % 2.3 5/30/2014
8/10/2007 59,99¢ 120,001(1) - $ 4.9C 8/10/2014

(1) Stock Option Grants vest 25% on first anniversatgeaf grant and monthly thereafter for the nextr2ghths.

(2) Mr. Hagman left the Company in March 2008 and vegdaced by Mr. Bystedt our Chairman of the Boar®wéctors. Mr. Bystedt
has waived all fees for his services as Chief EtreeDfficer and as Chairman of the Board of Diogstuntil such time that we can
afford to pay the fees and compensation. For stption information for Mr. Bystedt see the tabléovetitled Director Compensatio
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Employment Agreements and Change of Control Arrangents.

David W. Brunton

Change in Control Termination. If Mr. Brunton’s eloypment terminates due to a Change in Control Teation, Mr. Brunton will be

entitled to receive the following benefits:

1.

Salary Continuation. Mr. Brunton shall continue¢ceive an amount equal to six (6) months of Badar$. Such amount shall be p
in equal monthly installments over the six (6) nimtollowing Change in Control Termination and shal subject to all required tax
withholding.

Bonus Payment. Within fifteen (15) days followirgetlast day of the fiscal quarter during which Gf&im Control Termination
occurs. Mr. Brunton shall receive the pro-rata stadrany bonus to which he would have been entithtihis employment with the
Company continued. The bonus amount paid withieeproduct of the bonus percentage of Base Sdkiyed per his bonus plan
multiplied by his Base Salary from the beginning of the Fiscal Ybasugh the date of his Involuntary Termination With Cause.
Such payment shall be subject to all required tahelding.

Acceleration of Option Vesting. Effective as of tiiete of Change in Control Termination, Mr. Brungdrall be credited with fu
vesting under all options to purchase the Com’s Common Stock that he holds on such ¢
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Compensation of Directors

Effective January 1, 2008, each non-employee diragtthe Company receives an annual retainer 4fGEID, payable monthly in
arrears. The Chairman of the Board receives anamatainer of $30,000, payable monthly in arrebigdirector is entitled to receive a per-
meeting fee. The members of the Board are alst®ifpr reimbursement for their expenses incuiredttending Board meetings in
accordance with Company policy. The Directors haebeen paid their fees for the months of Auglusiigh December 2008.

Effective January 2, 2008, on January 2 of each (grahe next business day if that date is a lbgétlay), each non-employee
director is automatically granted an additionali@pto purchase 40,000 shares of common stockeo€ttmpany. However, the Company did
not grant the non-employee directors any stocloogton January 2, 2009. The exercise price of nptipanted is 100% of the fair market
value of the common stock subject to the optiothendate of the option grant. Options granted t@@ors may not be exercised until the date
upon which the optionee (or the affiliate of thaiopee) has provided one year of continuous sedca non-employee director following the
date of grant of such option, at which point 100Rthe option becomes exercisable. The optionsfuliy vest upon a change of control, unless
the acquiring company assumes the options or sutestisimilar options. The term of options grarigetlO years.

Prior to January 2, 2008, the directors were corsgien primarily with grants of stock options. Dgrihe year ended December 31,
2007, the Company granted options covering 493sb@Bes to non-employee directors of the Comparan aixercise price per share ranging
from $1.84 to $4.50. The fair market value of saolmmon stock on the date of each grant was equhétolosing sales price reported on the
Nasdaq National Market for the date of grant. Athefdate of this Form 10K, no options grantediteators had been exercist

The table below summaries the compensation patiddompany to our Directors for the fiscal yeadezhDecember 31, 2008:

Director Compensation

Fees
Earned or Non-Equity Nonqualified
Paid in Stock Option Incentive Pla Deferred All Other
Cash Awards Awards Compensatic Compensatio Compensatio Total
Name (%) (%) ($) (%) Earnings (%) ($)
@)

Per Bystedt (b $ 12,50( - 9% 97,93:. - - - $ 110,43:
Susan Major (c $ 24,00( - 9 274,88( - - - $ 298,88(
John Reardon (c $ 24,00( - 9 299,70: - - - $ 323,70:
Kenneth Olson (c) (¢ $ 14,00( - 9% 11,36¢ - - - $ 25,36¢

(@) Amounts are calculated as of the grant date obfitimns award in accordance with the provisionStatement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R “Share-based Paymé&ieése see Noteld. “Stock Based Compensaitioifie Notes to the Consolidat
Financial Statements as filed on Neonode Inc.’siahreport Form 10K for the valuation assumptioralemin the Black-Scholes option
pricing used to calculate fair value of the optamards

(b) Mr. Bystedt was appointed CEO in May 2008 and sgbset to his appoint ceased to earn fees as thén@ira of the Board «
Directors.

() Ms. Major and Messrs, Reardon and Olson are p&ée &qual to $2,000 per month as a member of tle@dBof Directors. $10,000
the amounts earned by each during 2008 was acdmuedot paid until such time that the Company eauf§icient cash flow fror
operations to make such payme

(d)  Mr. Olson was appointed to the Board of Directorgune 200¢
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OPTION AWARDS

Equity Incentive

Plan Awards:

Number of Number of Number of

Securities Securities Securities

Underlying Underlying Underlying

Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option
Options (#) Options(#) UnearnedOptions Exercise Expiration
Name Grant Date Exercisable Unexercisabl (#) price ($) Date

Per Bysted 1/18/2007 44,14¢ - - $ 2.12 1/17/200¢
1/2/2008 - 40,00( - $ 3.4¢ 1/2/2015
Susan Majo 1/18/2007 176,59! - - $ 1.4z 1/17/2012
1/2/2008 - 40,00( - $ 3.4t 1/2/2015
John Reardo 3/17/2004 3,00( - - $ 27.5C 3/17/2011
4/1/2004 2,00(¢ - - $ 23.3( 4/1/2011
4/1/2005 2,00(¢ - - $ 13.9¢ 4/1/2010
4/1/2006 2,00(C - - $ 5.4C 4/1/2011
4/2/2007 2,00(¢ - - $ 4.0 4/2/2012
5/3/2007 176,59! - - $ 1.4z 1/17/2012
5/30/2007 4.50( - - $ 2.3¢ 5/30/2012
1/2/2008 - 40,00( - $ 3.4¢ 1/2/2015
Kenneth Olsot 6/19/2008 - 40,00( - $ 0.6C 6/19/2012

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEF ICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth, as of March 23, 20€ertain information regarding the estimated aship of our common stock
assuming conversion of all issued and outstandar@S A and Series B Preferred Stock by: (i) eaddctbr; (ii) each of our “named executive
officers,” as defined in Item 402 under Regulat8# promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Gesiaom; (i) all executive officers and
directors of Neonode as a group; and (iv) all tHos@wvn by us to be beneficial owners of more thae percent of our common stock. Unless
otherwise indicated, the address for each of thegos and entities set forth below is c/o Neonode 4 Stockholder address.

Percentage ownership is based on 469,374,109 shlaeesstimated number of shares of common stotstanding after the
conversion of the Series A and B Preferred Stotketincreased conversion rates.

Beneficial Ownership (1)

Number of Percent o
Beneficial Owner Shares Total
Ramin Remo Behdas 5.95%
58 Carters Road
Dural NSW 158 Australia (= 27,929,87
Per Bystedt (2)(4) 17.4%
CEO and Directo 81,739,62
Magnus Goertz (£ 74,756,65 15.9%%
Foundel
Thomas Eriksson (€ 73,993,85 15.7¢%
CEO Cypressen & Found
David Brunton (2)(7) 1.58%
CFO 7,404,45:
Susan Major (2)(8) 0.0&%
Director 376,80:
John Reardon (2) 0.07%
Director 309,81°
Kenneth Olson (2 0.01%
Director 40,00(
All executive officers and directors as a group€ssons) (2 89,870,69 19.1%%
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(1) This table is based upon information supplied Hicefs, directors and principal stockholders. Usletherwise indicated in the footno
to this table and subject to community propertydavhe re applicable, we believe that each of thekstolders named in this table has sole
voting and investment power with respect to theehandicated as beneficially owne

(2) Includes, 40,000, 70,000, 232,095, 40,000, ands®B6shares of common stock that Messrs. BystedijtBn, Reardon, Olson and Ms.
Major, respectively, have the right to acquire WwitG0 days after the date of this table under antiing stock option:

(3) Includes, 27,590,244 shares of common stock retatéte conversion of 57,404.29 shares of Seri€sefferred Stock, and 338,633 shares
of common stock related to the conversion of SeBi€seferred Stock that Mr. Behdasht received wirigaconverted his debt and warre
under the December 2008 Refinanci

(4) Includes 2,987,384 shares of common stock anddheecsion of 161,788.17 shares of Series A Prafe®teck and 7,210.96 shares
Series B Preferred Stock to common stock thatld iwe lwo Jima SARL. Iwo Jima SARL may be deemedafitiate of Mr. Bystedt

(5) Includes 1,805,704 shares of common stock anddheecsion 151,788.17 shares of Series A Preferteck$0 common stock that is he
by Athemis Limited, which may be deemed an affdiaf Mr. Goertz

(6) Includes 1,039,905 shares of common stock anddheecsion of 151,788.17 shares of Series A Prafe®teck to common stock that
held by Wirelesstoys AB, which may be deemed aitiatff of Mr. Eriksson

(7) Includes 334,450 shares of common stock and theetcsion of 14,564.22 shares of Series A Prefertedkdo common stock that is he
by Mr. Brunton.

(8) Includes 140,510 shares of common stock and theetcsion of 149.14 shares of Series B Preferredk3tocommon stock that is held by
Ms. Major.

The following table includes information regardiagr equity incentive plans as of the end of fi208:
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available for future

Number of securities to | Weightec-average exercis issuance under equity
issued upon exercise of price of outstanding optior compensation plans (excludi
outstanding options, warrants securities
Plan categor warrants and right and rights reflected in column (¢
@) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved
security holder: 1,262,38 $ 2.8t 94,80
Equity compensation plans not appro
by security holders 2,184,991 $ 1.32 —
Total 3,447,38. $ 1.8¢ 94,80

The following table details the outstanding optitmpurchase shares of our common stock pursua#db plan at December 31, 2008:

Outstandin

Options  Available  Options

Plan Qutstandin for Issue  Vested
1996 Plar 46,00( — 46,00(
1998 Plar 66,39¢ — 29,90(
Neonode Plai 880,33( — 880,33
2006 Plar 287,75: 94,80: 71,24°
Director Plan 42,50( — 15,50(
Total 1,322,97: 94,80: 1,042,97

W The 1998 Plan has not been approved by our shaerisol
@ The 2007 Neonode Plan was assumed by Neonode bp@onsummation of the August 2007 SBE Merger Witbnode.

Summary of 1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan

The purpose of the 1998 Non-officer Stock OptioanHk to provide a means by which eligible recitgesf options may be given an
opportunity to benefit from increases in value of oommon stock through the granting of nonstajustock options. The plan permits the
grant of nonstatutory stock options. Nonstatutdogls options may be granted under the 1998 Plamt@mployees or consultants who are
at the time of such grants, directors or offic@itse administrator, in its discretion, selects thespns to whom options are granted, the time or
times at which such options are granted, and tleecese price and number of shares subject to aathgrant. We do not expect to issue any
further options under the 1998 Plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED T RANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Refinancing and Capital Raising Transactions

Per Bystedt, our Chairman of the Board and Chiefdttive Officer is personally involved in our redimcing and capital raising
activities. Mr. Bystedt, the beneficial holder giproximately 8.42% of the Compasydutstanding shares of stock as of January 3B,29he
beneficial owner of lwo Jima SARL. lwo Jima SARLergd into a Subscription Agreement on DecembeB08 and invested $100,000 in
Company in exchange for the issuance of 10,00G:sl&rSeries A Preferred Stock, and is one oftiteetCypressen Stockholders who
participated in the share exchange transaction tw@élfCompany pursuant to the Share Exchange AgrgemmeDecember 29, 2008. lwo Jima
SARL also surrendered warrants in exchange forsthigance of Series B Preferred Stock. lwo Jima SABHs 161,788.17 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and 7,210.96 shares of Series riRed Stock. Mr. Bystedt holds 84,149 employeelstuptions to purchase our common
stock. Assuming the conversion of the outstandirefePred stock into common stock at the increasewersion rates, Mr. Bystedt will
beneficially own approximately 17.41% of our outsteng common stock.
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Mr. Magnus Goertz, the beneficial holder of appnedely 5.15% of the Company’s outstanding sharesauk as of January 31,
2009, is the beneficial owner of Athemis Ltd., whimtompany is one of the three Cypressen Stocki®ldko participated in the share exche
transaction with the Company pursuant to the SEaolhange Agreement. Athemis Ltd. holds 151,788tEfes of Series A Preferred Stock. .
Mr. Goertz holds 132,446 employee stock optionsuichase our common stock. Assuming conversiohevbtitstanding Preferred stock into
common stock at the increased conversion ratesGidertz will beneficially own approximately 15.938%6our outstanding common stock.

Mr. Thomas Eriksson, the beneficial holder of apprately 3.14% of the Company’s outstanding shafestock as of January 31,
20009, is the beneficial owner of Wirelesstoys ABijielh company is one of the three Cypressen Stodinelwho participated in the share
exchange transaction with the Company pursuarie&@hare Exchange Agreement. Wirelesstoys AB Hdlds788.17 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock. . Mr. Eriksson holds 97,127 emgéogtock options to purchase our common stock Asguoonversion of the outstanding
Preferred stock into common stock at the increasedersion rates, Mr. Eriksson will beneficially owpproximately 15.76% of our
outstanding common stock.

Mr. David W. Brunton, our Chief Financial Officqrurchased 4,854.74 shares of Series A Preferrezk 8tmm each of the Cypressen
Stockholders (Iwo Jima SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, antiéknis Ltd.) for a total purchase of 14,564.22 eharf Series A Preferred Stock. As of
January 31, 2009, Mr. Brunton holds approximatelfd of the Company’s outstanding shares of stoak.Bvunton holds 245,000 employee
stock options to purchase our common stock. Assgittie conversion of the outstanding Preferred stiottkcommon stock at the increased
conversion rates, Mr. Brunton will beneficially ovapproximately 1.58% of our outstanding commonlstoc

Ms. Susan Major, a member of our Board of Directargl the beneficial holder of 0.84% of the Compsoytstanding shares of
stock as of January 31, 2009, was the beneficialkowf warrants that were converted into 149.14eshaf Preferred B Stock. Ms. Major ho
216,595 employee stock options to purchase our aamstock Assuming conversion of the outstandindePred stock into common stock at
the increased conversion rates, Ms. Major will iieradly own approximately 0.08% of our outstandicgmmon stock.

The independent board members review and approtramsactions that may be deemed to be with re¢lpseties of the Company.
The board members have the authority to obtaincaedwi assistance from consultants, legal counsedunting or other advisors as appropriate
to perform its duties in relationship to the reviand approval of related party transactions, artktermine the terms, costs and fees for such
engagements.

Independence of the Board of Directo

As required under the NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ¥sting standards, a majority of the members béted company’s board of
directors must qualify as “independent,” as affitingly determined by the board of directors. TheRbconsults with the Company’s counsel
to ensure that the Board’s determinations are sterdi with all relevant securities laws and regotet regarding the definition of
“independent,” including those set forth in the lagable listing standards of NASDAQ.

Consistent with these considerations, after re\aéall relevant transactions or relationships betveach director, or any of his or her
family members, and the Company, its senior managéand its independent registered public accogritim, the Board affirmatively has
determined that all of the Compasydirectors, other than Per Bystedt, are indeperaisgctors within the meaning of the applicable BI2AQ
listing standards.

The Board affirmatively determined that all of disectors, other than Per Bystedt were independieattors within the meaning of the
applicable NASDAQ listing standards. The Board theise committees: an Audit Committee, a Compens&@iommittee, and a Nominating
and Governance Committee. John Reardon, Kennetin@isd Susan Major, each independent directorstitate the members of each
committee.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVI CES

The Audit Committee of the Board has selected B2i$tein International AB as our independent auslitor the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2008. BDO Feinstein International AB audited our financial statements since 2006.

Independent Auditor’ Fees

The following table represents aggregate feesditbeus for fiscal years ended December 31, 2008807, by BDO Feinstein
International AB, our principal accountant, and afithe member firms in the BDO International netivo

Fiscal Year Ended
(in thousands)

2008 2007
Audit Fees $ 528§ 47¢
Audit-related Fees(1 66 59
Tax Fees (2 24 18
All Other Fees 0 0

Total Fees $ 61E $ 552
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@ Fees paid for registration, proxy and review ofeotfegulatory filings
(2) Fees paid for preparation and filing of our federad state income tax retur

All fees described above were pre-approved by theéit*"Committee. The Audit Committee has determined that the rendeot the
foregoing services separate from the audit senbgeBDO Feinstein International AB is compatibletwmaintaining the principal accountant’
independence.

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee has not approved any formaicgatoncerning pre-approval of the auditors to perf both audit and non-audit
services (services other than audit, review arebbfiervices). Instead, on a case by case bagiaudit or non-audit services proposed to be
performed are considered by and, if deemed ap@teprapproved by the Audit Committee in advanciefperformance of such services. All
of the fees earned by BDO Feinstein InternatiorBld&scribed above were attributable to servicesapproved by the Audit Committee.

PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Financial Statements

The financial statements of the registrant aredish the index to the financial statements aratifiinder Item 8 of this report.
Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accountdigted in the index to the financial statements filed under Item 8 of this report.
Schedules not listed have been omitted becaudaftirenation required therein is not applicable ®shown in the financial statements and the
notes thereto.

Exhibits

Exhibit # Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizat&wden SBE, Inc. and Neonode Inc., dated JanuargQD¥ (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our Current Report arid 8-K filed on January 22, 2007 In accordance with Commission rules,
we supplementally will furnish a copy of any ondittehedule to the Commission upon req)

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Meamnd Reorganization between SBE, Inc. and Neohadedated May 18,
2007, effective May 25, 2007irfcorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our €&nt Report on Form 8-K filed on May 29,
2007)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatitated December 20, 2007, effective December 217

3.2 Bylaws, as amended through December 5, :

4.1 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righthe Series A and Series B Preferred Stock d2®@eldecember 2008
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.1 of our reat Report on Form 8-K filed on December 31, 2P08

4.2 Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieBBferred Stock dated 2 January 2009

4.3 Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieBrBferred Stock dated 28 January 2009

10.1 Senior Secured Note, dated August 8, 20D¢drporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22(a) of Gurrent Report on Form 8-K
filed on October 2, 200)

10.2 Amendment to Senior Secured Note, dated Septenth@0D7 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22(b) of Qurrent

Report on Form -K filed on October 2, 200)
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10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.8

10.9

10.10
10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19
10.20
10.21

21
23.1
311
31.2
32

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued potrsagAmendment to Senior Secured Notes, datedeSdpr 10, 2007
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22(c) of Qurrent Report on Form-K filed on October 2, 200)

Subscription Agreement, dated September 10, 2@@3b¢porated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of owr@nt Report on

Form &K filed on October 2, 200)

Convertible Promissory Noteincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of owr@nt Report on Form-K filed on October 2
2007)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warraincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of owr@nt Report on Form-K filed
on October 2, 200)

Form of Unit Purchase Warranincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of owr@nt Report on Form 8-K filed on October
2,2007)

Subscription Agreement, dated March 4, 20@&¢rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our@uat Report on Form 8-K
filed on March 3, 200/

Asset Purchase Agreement with One Stop Systemsdated January 11, 200incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of «
Current Report on Form-K filed on January 12, 200)

Asset Purchase Agreement with Rising Tide Softwadaéed August 15, 2007incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of «
Current Report on Form-K filed on August 24, 200)

Lease for 4000 Executive Parkway, Suite 200 daigd2)7, 2005 with Alexander Properties Compi

1998 Noi-Officer Stock Option Plan, as amendeincorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of ougR&ation Statement ¢
Form &8 (33:-63228) filed on June 18, 20()+

2001 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Planaasended {ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of oundal Report
on Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2002, ksifon January 27, 200)+

Director and Officer Bonus Plan, dated Septembef@Q@6 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our@at Report on
Form &K filed on September 26, 20)+

Executive Severance Benefits Agreement with DavidBWinton, dated April 12, 2004incorporated by reference

Exhibit 10.13 of our Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the period ended January 31, 2005, as filedvarch 2, 2005+

Note Conversion Agreement, dated December 31, Rincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our@at Report or
Form &K filed on December 31, 20()

Share Exchange Agreement, dated December 30, 2668rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our@uat Report on
Form &K filed on December 31, 20()

Series A Stock Subscription Agreement, dated Deee&il 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our@uat
Report on Form -K filed on December 31, 20()

Warrant Conversion Agreement, dated December 318 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our@at Report or
Form &K filed on December 31, 2008

Employment Agreement with Per Byst¢
Employment Agreement with Thomas Eriks¢
Employment Agreement with Magnus Goe

Subsidiaries of the registra

Consent of BDO Feinstein International AB, IndepemdRegistered Public Accounting Fil

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursut@o Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 200z

Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 200z

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or ger@ent
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

NEONODE INC.
(Registrant)

Date: April 14, 200¢ By: /s/ David W. Bruntor
David W. Brunton
Chief Financial Officer,
Vice President, Finance
andSecretary

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each eftindersigned officers and directors of the regigtconstitutes and
appoints, jointly and severally, Per Bystedt andiD&V. Brunton, and each of them, as lawful attgmm-fact and agents for the undersigned
and for each of them, each with full power of sitbsbn and resubstitution, for and in the namegcpland stead of each of the undersigned
officers and directors, in any and all capacitiessign any and all amendments to this report,tarfile the same, with all exhibits thereto and
all other documents in connection therewith, with Securities and Exchange Commission, granting saitl attorneys-in-fact and agents, and
each of them, full power and authority to do andqgren each and every act and thing necessary aopgpte to be done in and about the
premises, as fully to all intents and purposeseasiight or could do in person, hereby ratifying andfirming all that each of said attorneys-in-
fact or any of them, or any of their substitutesyrtawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements for the Securitieh&mnge Act of 1934, this report has been signedhéydllowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacity and dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Per Bystec Chief Executive Officer, April 14 , 2009
Per Bysted and Director, Chairman of the Boe

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ David W. Brunton Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finar April 14, 2009
and Secretar

David W. Bruntor (Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ John Reardao Director April 14, 2009

John Reardo

/s/ Susan Majo Director April 14, 2009

Susan Majo

/ s/ Kenneth Olso Director April 14, 2009

Kenneth Olsor
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AB Cypressen nr 968: Sweden




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Neonode Inc
Stockholm, Sweden

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢le Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B32713, 333-63228, 33Bt4161,
333-150346) and Form S-3 (No. 333-147425, 333-182383-153634) of Neonode Inc. of our report dapdl 14, 2009, relating to the
consolidated financial statements and financiaestent schedule, which appears in this Form 104.r@®port contains an explanatory
paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to cargias a going concern.

April 14, 2009
BDO Feinstein International A BDO Feinstein International A
/s/Johan Pharmans: /sITommy Bergendal

Authorized Public Accountar Authorized Public Accountal




CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Per Bystedt, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKi@-Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaio any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemjeatd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal are responsible for establishing and maintgirdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdorte designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtfae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thamnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comiwger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisg@mtifole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 14, 2009

/s/ Per Bysted

Per Bysted
Chief Executive




CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David W. Brunton certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKl@-Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaio any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeatd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)cal are responsible for establishing and maintgirdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdorte designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtfae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comiwger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisa@mtifole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 14, 2009

/s/ David W. Bruntor

David W. Bruntor
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Financel aBecretan




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Neonode (tiee “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal yearded December 31, 2008 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “report”), the undersigned, Pest8gt, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, and David W. Brunton, Chief Financial &dfi of the Company, each certify, pursuant to 18.0. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that tolowwledge:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements Séction 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the SecuritieshHange Act of 1934, |
amended; an

2. The information contained in the report fairly pepts, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operation of
Company.

Dated: April 14, 2009

/sl Per Bystec /s/ David W. Bruntor
Per Bysted David W. Bruntor
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Office

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with Becurities and Exchange Commission and is n
be incorporated by reference to any filing of Nedadénc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as an@nalethe Securities Exchange Act of 1¢
as amended (whether made before or after the dateed-orm 10-K), irrespective of any general irporation language contained in such
filing.




